Camden Core Strategy 2010-2025

Local Development Framework







Local Development Framework

Camden Core Strategy 2010-2025

Camden Core Strategy

Contents

		page
Introduction	on	
What	is the Camden Core Strategy?	4
How	we have prepared the Core Strategy	5
What makes Camden unique?		8
The c	hallenges we face	10
Vision and objectives		12
Strate	egic objectives	14
Struct	ture of the Core Strategy	16
Section 1	Location and management of Camden's growth	
CS1	Distribution of growth	20
CS2	Growth areas	26
C63	Other highly accessible areas	38

CS3	Other highly accessible areas	38
CS4	Areas of more limited change	40
CS5	Managing the impact of growth and development	43

Section 2 Meeting Camden's needs – Providing homes, jobs and facilities

CS6	Providing quality homes	48
CS7	Promoting Camden's centres and shops	62
CS8	Promoting a successful and inclusive Camden economy	81
CS9	Achieving a successful Central London	88
CS10	Supporting community facilities and services	92
CS11	Promoting sustainable and efficient travel	99
CS12	Sites for gypsies and travellers	107



page

Section 3 A sustainable and attractive Camden – Tackling climate change and improving and protecting Camden's environment and quality of life

CS13	Tackling climate change through promoting higher environmental standards	112
CS14	Promoting high quality places and conserving our heritage	121
CS15	Protecting and improving our parks and open spaces & encouraging biodiversity	131
CS16	Improving Camden's health and well-being	141
CS17	Making Camden a safer place	146
CS18	Dealing with our waste and encouraging recycling	149

Section 4 Delivering and monitoring the Core Strategy

CS19	Delivering and monitoring the Core Strategy	154
Appendic	es	
1 Key	n infrastructure programmes and projects	162
2 Sav	ed UDP policies replaced	180

Camden Core Strategy ©London Borough of Camden



Introduction

What is the Camden Core Strategy?

- 1. Camden's **Core Strategy** sets out the key elements of the Council's planning vision and strategy for the borough. It is the central part of our **Local Development Framework (LDF)**, a group of documents setting out our planning strategy and policies. All other Local Development Framework documents must be consistent with the Core Strategy.
- 2. The Core Strategy contributes to achieving the vision and objectives of Camden's **Community Strategy** and helps the Council's partners and other organisations deliver relevant parts of their programmes. It covers the physical aspects of location and land use but also addresses other factors that make places attractive, sustainable and successful, such as social and economic matters. It plays a key part in shaping the kind of place Camden will be in the future, balancing the needs of residents, businesses and future generations.
- 3. The Core Strategy will, along with other Local Development Framework documents, replace our current Unitary Development Plan (2006). These will, with the Mayor's London Plan, then form the statutory 'development plan' for Camden, the basis for planning decisions in the borough.

Our other Local Development Framework documents

- 4. Camden's Local Development Framework will contain a number of documents which will help to achieve the vision and objectives set out in this Core Strategy. These are:
 - **Development Policies** which will support the Core Strategy by setting out additional planning policies that the Council will use when making decisions on applications for planning permission. It goes into more detail on a number of the issues covered in the Core Strategy.
 - Site Allocations which will set out the Council's proposals for places that are expected to experience significant development.
 - North London Waste Plan which will identify sites for major recycling and other waste handling facilities in North London and set out policies relating to waste. It is being be prepared jointly by Camden and the six other boroughs in the North London Waste Authority area.
 - Area Action Plans these provide a detailed planning framework for areas of significant development pressure or change. They give further detail on how the vision and objectives set out in the Core Strategy will be delivered in the area covered. They will take into account the current and future needs of local residential communities and include detailed programmed strategies for meeting them. They will also take into account the area's specific characteristics, sensitivities and pressures and seek to resolve any conflicting objectives.
 - **Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD)** these will give detailed guidance on how the Council's planning strategy and policies will be implemented for specific topics, areas or sites (see the LDF diagram below). Although they will not form part of the statutory development plan for Camden, and will therefore not have the same weight in decision making, they will be important considerations in the Council's planning decisions.
- 5. The diagram overleaf shows the documents that make up Camden's Local Development Framework and the relationship between them.





How we have prepared the Core Strategy

- 6. The main stages in the preparation of the Core Strategy have been as follows:
 - gathering background information and consulting on **key issues and options** for the future of Camden;
 - developing the Council's Core Strategy preferred approach and consulting on it;
 - preparing and publishing the final Core Strategy ('proposed submission').
 - submitting the Core Strategy to the government ('**submission**') for a **public examination** where the document is assessed by a Planning Inspector;
 - publication of the Inspector's report;
 - adoption of the Core Strategy by the Council.
- 7. The Core Strategy has been developed taking into account many sources of information and consultation exercises, in particular:
 - responses to consultation on key issues and options for the Core Strategy and on our Core Strategy preferred approach;
 - the supporting evidence and information we have collected and commissioned;
 - Camden's Community Strategy and other relevant plans and strategies;
 - the policies and plans of the government and the Mayor of London;
 - a sustainability appraisal of the Core Strategy.

Further information on these is set out overleaf.

Public consultation

- 8. The preparation of the Core Strategy involved two main stages of public involvement and consultation. Firstly, we gathered views on the key issues facing the borough and the options for tackling them, through a series of meetings and the publication of consultation material. This began in the autumn of 2007 and ran into 2008. The results of the consultation helped to inform the development of our Core Strategy Preferred Approach.
- 9. Consultation on our preferred approach ran from October 2008 and included public and youth workshops; meetings and presentations to many groups and stakeholders, including Camden's Area Forums; a supplement leaflet in the Council's Your Camden magazine, distributed to all households; articles in business publications; and use of the press, mailings and Camden's website. Involvement of key stakeholders, for example infrastructure providers and neighbouring councils, took place throughout the preparation of the Core Strategy. The comments and input we received from consultation and involvement were taken into consideration in the drafting of this version of the Core Strategy. For each stage of preparation we published a Consultation Report that gives detail of the consultation carried out, summarises the comments received and sets out the Council's response to them.

Supporting evidence

- 10. The Core Strategy will have a major effect on the future development of the borough. It therefore needs to be based on a thorough understanding of the issues and challenges we face and its policies need to be supported by robust evidence. We have collected and commissioned a wide range of information and studies to inform the preparation of the Core Strategy (sometimes known as the "evidence base"). This includes, but is not limited to, the following -
 - a sustainability appraisal (see below);
 - Camden Annual Monitoring Report;
 - Camden Retail Study 2008;
 - Camden Housing Needs Survey Update 2008;
 - Camden Affordable Housing Viability Study 2009;
 - Camden Employment Land Review 2008;
 - Camden Open Space, Sport and Recreation Study Update 2008;
 - Camden Infrastructure Study 2009;
 - Delivering a Low Carbon Camden Carbon Reduction Scenarios to 2050, SEA-Renue, 2007;
 - North London Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 2008;
 - census information.

Camden's Community Strategy and other strategies

- 11. As noted above, the Core Strategy needs to take into account other plans and strategies that influence the borough. It contributes to achieving the vision in Camden Together, Camden's Community Strategy and other relevant strategies of the Council and its main partners such as NHS Camden. The Community Strategy sets out the shared vision and strategy for the borough of the Council and its partners. The Core Strategy aims to translate the Community Strategy's vision into a set of priorities and policies to shape the sort of place we want Camden to be in the future and create a framework for delivery. For more on the Core Strategy's vision, see the section on Vision and objectives below.
- 12. Other strategies relevant to the Local Development Framework include Camden's Housing Strategy; Camden Safe – the Camden Community Safety Partnership Strategy; our Air Quality Action Plan; Camden's Children and Young People's Plan; and our Local Implementation Plan (LIP), which sets out Camden's transport objectives, schemes and programmes.



The London Plan and national planning policy

13. The Mayor of London's London Plan (2008) sets a social, economic and environmental framework for the future development of the capital, providing the London-wide context for borough planning policies. Our Local Development Framework documents must be in general conformity with the London Plan. Our planning documents must also be consistent with national policy prepared by the government in Planning Policy Statements / Guidance (PPS/PPG), unless we have strong evidence that an alternative approach is more appropriate in Camden.

Sustainability Appraisal and other assessments

- 14. The preparation work for this Core Strategy included a sustainability appraisal to assess its environmental, social and economic impacts. This has helped to make sure that our strategy and policies are sustainable by identifying any potential harmful impacts and suggesting ways to minimise them. It also helped to identify how to maximise beneficial impacts.
- 15. We carried out a sustainability appraisal and consulted on it at each of the stages in the production of the Core Strategy issues and options, preferred options and submission (see above for more on these stages). The Sustainability Appraisal Report for the Core Strategy will be published alongside this document.
- 16. We also carried out an assessment to assess whether the Core Strategy's emerging approach and policies were likely to have any significant effect on sites of European importance for habitats or species, or an adverse impact on the integrity of those sites. The screening assessment found that no significant effects were likely and therefore it was not necessary to carry out Task 2 (Appropriate Assessment) and Task 3 (mitigation and alternative solutions) of the Habitats Regulations Appropriate Assessment process. In addition, we have carried out an Equalities Impact Assessment. This assessed the likely impact of the Core Strategy and its policies on specific groups and in terms of race, gender, disability, age, sexual orientation and religion/beliefs. The Equalities Impact Assessment found that the Core Strategy does not create any adverse impacts for any of the identified groups or create any illegal discrimination.

What makes Camden unique?

17. It is important that our strategy for the future development of the borough is based on an understanding of the characteristics that make Camden what it is and a knowledge of how it is likely to change. The profile below describes some of the features that give the borough its unique character.

Camden's places

- Camden covers approximately 22 square kilometres (11 square miles) in inner London;
- the southern part of the borough forms part of Central London with its dynamic mix of uses, activities and facilities of London-wide, national and international significance. It is also home to a significant resident population;
- Camden has a rich architectural heritage, with many buildings and places of architectural or historic importance, from Hampstead village to Georgian Bloomsbury and more recent public housing estates;
- Camden has many residential areas and neighbourhoods, each with their own distinctive identity and characteristics;
- the borough has numerous parks and open spaces, ranging from Hampstead Heath, Primrose Hill and the Regent's Canal to historic squares and local parks and playgrounds;
- Camden has a range of centres providing shopping and services and local employment. These include town centres such as Camden Town, West Hampstead and Finchley Road, areas that contribute to the retail attraction of the West End like Tottenham Court Road and Seven Dials, and a variety of neighbourhood centres, street markets and local shops;
- Camden is home to many renowned institutions such as the British Museum, the British Library, the Inns of Court, the University of London and other educational establishments and teaching hospitals.

Camden's people

- almost 210,000 people currently live in the borough and it is estimated that Camden's population will grow by 18% between 2006 and 2026;¹
- the increase in population will largely be due to more births and fewer deaths in future years, although migration will also play a part;²
- Camden has a relatively young population, with a concentration of people (over 70%) in the working ages (16- 59/64);³
- child numbers are growing but at a slower rate than the total population, although emerging evidence on fertility and births suggests the rate of growth may increase;⁴
- older people (60/65+) form a relatively small proportion (12%) of Camden's population. Younger pensionable ages (60/65-74) are forecast to grow by 40%, while the older pensionable ages (75+) are eventually forecast to grow by 19% after first seeing a decline to 2016;⁵
- Camden has the largest proportion of students in London;⁶
- our population is ethnically diverse, with around 30% of residents from black or minority ethnic groups (compared to the England average of 9%);⁷
- almost half of Camden residents have qualifications⁸ of at least degree level while a quarter have few, if any, qualifications and many lack basic skills in literacy and numeracy;
- overall recorded crime levels have been falling in recent years but are still above the average for London;⁹
- There are wide differences in the life expectancy of Camden's residents. For men, the gap in life expectancy is as much as 11 years in Hampstead Town ward the average is 81 years whereas in St Pancras and Somers Town ward the average is 70 years; ¹⁰
- Camden is a borough of diversity and contrasts. It contains wide inequalities in household income, health and other characteristics and every part of the borough has areas of relative affluence alongside areas of relative poverty.¹¹ Camden is one of the most polarised boroughs in London with some of the wealthiest areas in England as well as some of the most deprived.

Camden's economy

- although Camden is a small borough in terms of size, it is the third largest contributor to London's economy and provides around 1% of Britain's economy;¹²
- Camden has over 24,000 businesses, ranging from international organisations to small businesses, and it is estimated that over a quarter of a million people work in the borough;¹³
- over half of the businesses in Camden are in 'knowledge economy' industries such as the media, finance, law and other professional services, and the borough is also a centre for 'creative industries'. Leisure, entertainment and tourism are also important for the borough's economy, with particular concentrations in Central London and Camden Town.¹⁴

Camden's homes

- Camden is a very popular place to live but this means that the average house price in the borough is the third highest in London;¹⁵
- demand for affordable housing far outstrips supply and continues to increase;
- Camden has a small average household size (2.06 persons per household) compared to England and Wales as a whole (2.36) and the number of single person households is growing among both younger and older people; ¹⁶
- up to a third of Camden's households are overcrowded, so there is also a high demand for larger properties, particularly for social housing;¹⁷
- Camden has a high proportion of flats and a high proportion of people live in rented accommodation.¹⁸

Camden's environment

- Camden has a unique architectural heritage, with many high quality areas and spaces, and thousands of buildings recognised for their special architectural or historic interest;
- Camden collects over 112,000 tonnes of waste each year ("municipal waste"), which includes around 56,000 tonnes of waste from households; ¹⁹
- recycling in the borough is increasing with over 25% of household waste now being recycled; ²⁰
- parts of Camden have some of the poorest air quality levels in London.²¹

Camden's transport

- the number of people cycling in Camden increased dramatically over the last decade, while walking accounts for nearly half of the journeys taken by Camden residents, almost twice the national average;²²
- the borough has extensive coverage by bus, tube and suburban rail;
- Camden also has three major mainline railway stations (King's Cross, Euston and St Pancras) and a gateway to/from mainland Europe in the Eurostar terminal at St Pancras;
- 56% of Camden households have no access to a car or van.²³

REFERENCES

- ¹⁻⁵GLA 2006 Round-based Population Projections RLP High
- 6, 8 16,17, 22, 23 Census, 2001
- ⁷ GLA 2006 Round-based Ethnic Group Projections RLP High
- ⁹ Metropolitan Police Crime Statistics, 2006/7
- ¹⁰ NHS Camden Annual Public Health Report 2007/8
- ¹¹ Index of Multiple Deprivation 2007; CLG
- ¹² Annual Business Inquiry; Office of National Statistics; 2007
- ¹³ ONS Total Jobs Estimate, 2006 / ONS Business Demography – active businesses 2007

- ¹⁴ Annual Business Inquiry, Office of National Statistics, 2007
- ¹⁵ Land Registry House Price Index, 2008
- ¹⁶ Census 2001 / Camden Housing Investment Programme 2007
- ¹⁷ Best Value Indicators 82 (a) and (b) LB Camden, 2006/7
- ¹⁸ Best Value Indicators 82 (a) and (b) LB Camden, 2006/7
- ¹⁹ Camden Air Quality Action Plan Progress Report 2007

Camden's setting

Camden does not sit in isolation. Therefore, when we developed our strategy for the borough it was important for us to take account of Camden's relationship with neighbouring boroughs, other parts of London and wider areas linked to us by transport routes. Some of the key relationships and links are described below:

- the southern part of the borough is within London's Central Activities Zone (CAZ), the area that contains many of the activities that define London's role as the UK's capital and a major international city, and the south-west corner of Camden forms the eastern edge of the West End;
- some of Camden's growth areas are on our border, or straddle our boundary, with other boroughs. For example, King's Cross sits on the border between Camden and Islington and the Tottenham Court Road area extends across parts of Camden and Westminster;
- there are major redevelopment proposals for the Cricklewood/Brent Cross area, north west of Camden, involving over 7,000 homes and a substantial amount of new shops and offices;
- part of the Farringdon / Smithfield Area for Intensification identified in the London Plan lies within Camden, with the remainder in Islington and the City of London;
- Camden is at the southern end of the North-West London to Luton corridor which is planned to experience substantial levels of growth alongside future transport improvements;
- Kilburn town centre straddles the border of Camden and Brent.

Camden's culture

- Camden is a thriving location for culture and the arts. It is the home to many of the UK's leading cultural institutions, such as the British Museum and the British Library, and many smaller museums and institutions, ranging from Kenwood House to the Foundling Museum and the Freud and Dickens Museums. The borough is home to numerous theatres and, in the southern part of the borough, part of London's renowned 'Theatreland';
- there are many mid- and small-scale creative organisations operating in the borough, such as Camden Arts Centre and the Roundhouse;
- Camden is also famous for its music venues, including Koko, the Roundhouse, the Forum and many smaller venues, notably in and around Camden Town.

Camden's mix and variety

18. Other local authority areas will share some of the features outlined above but what really makes Camden unique is the combination of these characteristics and issues. Camden is a largely residential borough with many historic places but it is also a key part of a world city, a major contributor to London's economy and a focus of culture, entertainment and education. These elements give Camden its unique character but also bring a number of challenges.

The challenges we face

19. Camden's planning strategy is being prepared in the context of social, economic and environmental changes. Some of the key issues that we need to consider are outlined below.

Adapting to Camden's growing population and to social changes

20. The number of people living in Camden is increasing and the make up of the population is changing (for example, households are getting smaller and people are living longer). In addition, advances in technology are changing the way we work, shop and spend our leisure time. The challenges we face are adapting to population growth and our changing world while improving the quality of life of residents and the provision of services, and accommodating new and expanded buildings while preserving our valued places and promoting high quality design.

Climate change and sustainability

21. It is increasingly recognised that climate change will affect all our lives and those of future generations, with global changes having local impacts. We need to respond to this by greatly reducing Camden's impact on the environment and taking measures to deal with the effects of climate change in the borough. Our response to these issues must be sensitive to the borough's many areas of high environmental quality and heritage importance.

The quality of Camden's environment

22. Camden has many attractive and historic neighbourhoods (such as Hampstead, Highgate, Primrose Hill and Bloomsbury) and numerous parks and open spaces (ranging from local playgrounds to Hampstead Heath). These are a significant reason that the borough is such a popular place to live, work in and visit. We need to manage change and growth so that they take place in a way that respects the character, heritage and distinctiveness of Camden's valued and special places. We also need to continue to try to enhance our local environment, for example by reducing air pollution and improving our streets and public spaces.

The supply and cost of housing in the borough

23. Many people want to live in Camden but there is a limited supply of homes and prices are high. Also the demand for affordable homes is greater than the number available. We face the challenge of providing a diverse range of housing, in terms of price and type, and securing mixed areas with both private and social housing.

Maintaining a successful economy

24. Camden has a very successful and diverse economy. It makes a significant contribution to the UK economy and is a key part of Central London, with its concentration of businesses and retail and tourism uses. The Council wants to maintain and strengthen Camden's economy and competitiveness, nationally and internationally, while keeping the borough's special identity in the face of standardisation and globalisation. Promoting a successful and inclusive economy is particularly challenging given the current economic situation. The Council will take into account these circumstances and take measures to support our residents and businesses during difficult economic times.

Inequalities

25. The success of Camden's economy is not shared by all and the borough has some of London's most deprived neighbourhoods as well as some of the most prosperous. The Council wants to make sure that members of our community have access to good housing, jobs, skills and training, education, public transport and health and community facilities to help to promote equality, inclusion and opportunity.

Crime and safety

26. Camden experiences the crime and disorder common in inner city areas. Consultation on Camden's Community Strategy found that anti-social behaviour, crime and drugs were a major concern to local residents, with many people feeling that these harmed the quality of life in some parts of the borough. The challenge we face is to make the borough a safer place while ensuring it maintains the vibrancy that makes it such a popular place to live, work in and visit.

Improving transport

27. Camden benefits from some of the best transport accessibility in the country, being well served by bus, tube and rail, providing links within London and to other parts of the country and Europe. However, with projected rises in the number of people living in, working in and visiting the borough, public transport needs to be improved, particularly to deal with potential capacity problems. Road traffic can harm local air quality and, through this, the health of those living in the borough, although in recent years, the amount of road traffic in Camden has been reducing. The Council wants to promote travel is that easy, safe, healthy and does not harm our local environment or contribute to climate change.

Vision and objectives

Core Strategy vision

- 28. In 2007, the Council and its partners agreed Camden's Community Strategy, Camden Together, which sets out a shared vision and strategy for the borough. We are using the vision from the Community Strategy as the overarching vision for the Core Strategy and other related planning policy documents.
- 29. The overall vision of the Community Strategy and the Core Strategy is that:

Camden will be a borough of opportunity

30. The Community Strategy also identified four themes within the vision:

1 A sustainable Camden that adapts to a growing population

2 A strong Camden economy that includes everyone

3 A connected Camden community where people lead active, healthy lives

4 A safe Camden that is a vibrant part of our world city.

31. Flowing from the overall vision of the Community Strategy and in response to the challenges identified above and responses to consultation and wider involvement on the emerging document, we have produced a more detailed vision statement for the Core Strategy. This gives more detail on how we want Camden to be in 2025 at the end of the period covered by the Core Strategy, and is set out below.



Vision statement

Camden will be a borough of opportunity – a vibrant and diverse part of inner London that will develop its position as a key part of the capital's success, while improving the quality of life that makes it such a popular place to live, work and visit. A borough with the homes, jobs, shops, community facilities and infrastructure needed to support its growing population, businesses and visitors.

Camden will be a low carbon, low waste borough that is an exemplar in terms of sustainable design and transport and will have taken the significant opportunities to expand the use of local heating and power systems. It will continue to be an attractive place to live with strong, distinctive residential communities, a significant increase in the supply of homes and a wide range of facilities available for local residents. Camden will be a borough in which our valued, historic and high quality places, from Hampstead and Highgate in the north to Bloomsbury and Covent Garden in the south, and the other places and features that give it its unique identity are preserved and, where possible, improved, and where all development is of the highest possible standard.

Camden's growth will be focused at King's Cross, Euston, Tottenham Court Road, Holborn and West Hampstead Interchange and the opportunities and benefits this brings – for local people, the economy and regeneration, and our environment – will be maximised. We will build on our existing economic success, while reducing polarisation by increasing access to education and training opportunities. We will reinforce Camden's valuable contribution to London, in terms of business, employment, research, retail, culture, entertainment, tourism, education and medicine, while supporting housing and our residential communities. Our town centres, neighbourhood centres and Central London Frontages will be successful, safe and attractive, each with their own character and role.

Camden will have a safe and healthy population. Crime and the fear of crime will be reduced and health inequalities across the borough significantly lessened. Walking and cycling will be easier and safer; our already excellent public transport system will be improved; and congestion and high levels of pollution will continue to be reduced.

Strategic objectives

32. We have developed a series of objectives for the Core Strategy which operate together to guide the delivery of the vision above. These are set below arranged by Community Strategy theme (see paragraph 30). The Core Strategy policies that contribute towards delivering each objective are shown alongside.

Objectives	Core Strategy Policy			
1 A sustainable Camden that adapts to a growing population				
• to sustainably manage growth so that it takes place in the most appropriate locations, meets our needs for homes, jobs and services and properly takes into account Camden's character as a highly developed, inner London borough with many valued and high quality places.	CS1, CS2, CS3, CS4, CS5, CS6, CS7, CS8, CS9, CS10, CS11, CS12, CS13, CS14, CS15, CS16, CS17, CS18, CS19			
 to shape the future of Camden to create a unique, successful and vibrant place to live, work and visit. 	CS1, CS2, CS3, CS4, CS5, CS6, CS7, CS8, CS9, CS10, CS14, CS15, CS17			
 to make sure that development in Camden achieves high environmental standards and is designed to adapt to, and reduce the effect of, climate change. 	CS13			
 to support the successful development of the growth areas of King's Cross, Euston, Tottenham Court Road, Holborn and West Hampstead, and ensure that development, both there and elsewhere, is supported by necessary infrastructure and maximises the opportunities and benefits for the local community and the borough as a whole. 	CS1, CS2, CS3, CS4, CS5, CS7, CS8, CS9, CS10, CS11, CS19			
• to promote high quality, sustainable design and physical works to improve our places and streets and preserve and enhance the unique character of Camden and the distinctiveness of our many conservation areas and our other historic and valued buildings, spaces and places.	CS13, CS14, CS17			
• to provide homes to meet Camden's housing needs as far as possible in terms of affordability, the type of properties built and the mix of sizes, and promote their sustainable design and construction. Housing will be the priority land use of this Core Strategy.	CS1, CS2, CS6, CS12, CS13, CS16			
 to improve and protect Camden's Metropolitan Open Land, parks and open spaces, and promote and enhance the diversity of plant and animal species in the borough. 	CS15, CS16			
• to reduce the environmental impact of transport in the borough and make Camden a better place to walk and cycle.	CS11, CS16			
• to reduce, and better plan for and manage, Camden's waste, including by working with our partner boroughs in the North London Waste Authority area.	CS18			
 To identify the needs of individual local communities and develop detailed programmed strategies for meeting them 	CS5, CS9, CS10, CS19			

Objectives	Core Strategy Policy
2 A strong Camden economy that includes everyone	
 to strengthen Camden's nationally-important economy while seeking to reduce inequalities within the borough, with increased access to jobs, skills, training and education opportunities. 	CS1, CS2, CS8
 to promote the successful redevelopment and regeneration of King's Cross, Euston and other areas of significant change in a way that also delivers economic, social and physical benefits to surrounding communities. 	CS1 CS2, CS3, CS4, CS5, CS19
 to support the success of Camden Town, Finchley Road / Swiss Cottage, Kentish Town, Kilburn, Hampstead and West Hampstead town centres, the retail areas in Central London and our neighbourhood centres while adapting to changes in the economy and shopping habits. 	CS1, CS3, CS7, CS9
3 A connected Camden community where people lead a	ctive, healthy lives
• to promote and protect the high levels of amenity and quality of life that make Camden such a popular place to live.	CS5, CS14, CS15, CS17
 to secure mixed, balanced areas with a sense of community, reduce polarisation in the borough and promote equality of opportunity. 	CS1, CS2, CS5, CS6 CS7, CS8, CS16, CS17
 to support and encourage the provision of the facilities and services needed to meet the needs of Camden's communities. 	CS1, CS2, CS5, CS7, CS10, CS11, CS14, CS16, CS18, CS19
 to support improvements to the health and well-being of Camden's population and tackle the borough's existing health inequalities. 	CS10, CS14, CS16
• to reduce congestion and pollution in the borough by encouraging more walking and cycling and less motor traffic, and to support and promote new and improved transport links, at King's Cross, St Pancras, Euston, Tottenham Court Road, West Hampstead and elsewhere.	CS2, CS3, CS11, CS16
4 A safe Camden that is a vibrant part of our world city	
 to support Camden's valuable contribution to London's regional, national and international role, in terms of business and employment; research, education and medicine; shopping and entertainment; culture and tourism, and make sure that this meets the needs of, and bring benefits to, residential communities (in particular those adjacent to growth areas) as well as those who work in and visit the borough. 	CS1, CS2, CS3, CS4, CS5, CS7, CS8, CS9, CS19
 to promote the safety and security of those who live in, work in and visit Camden, while maintaining the borough's vibrancy. 	CS7, CS16, CS17

Structure of the Core Strategy

33. The main body of the Core Strategy sets out our strategy and policies for the future development of Camden to meet the vision and objectives set out above and respond to the challenges we face. We have grouped the matters covered into four sections:

Section 1 Location and management of Camden's growth
 Section 2 Meeting Camden's needs – Providing homes, jobs and facilities
 Section 3 A sustainable and attractive Camden – Tackling climate change and improving and protecting our environment and quality of life
 Section 4 Delivery and monitoring

- 34. Section 1 sets out our overall approach to the distribution of future growth in the borough and its management. Section 2 contains our approach to providing the homes, jobs, shops, community facilities and transport infrastructure needed to support Camden's growing population. Section 3 explains how we intend to make Camden a more sustainable place, consider climate change, improve and protect our environment and make sure the quality of life in Camden is maintained and enhanced. Section 4 looks at the ways in which we will implement the Core Strategy through providing necessary infrastructure and working with our partners, and outlines how we will monitor the effectiveness of the Core Strategy in delivering its objectives.
- 35. Each of these sections contributes to delivering the vision and aims of Camden's Community Strategy. The table below shows how the sections in the Core Strategy relate to the themes in Community Strategy.

Community Strategy theme	Section in the Core Strategy that relates to that theme	
1 A sustainable Camden that adapts to a growing population	Section 1Section 3Section 2Section 4	
2 A strong Camden economy that includes everyone	Section 1 Section 4 Section 2	
3 A connected Camden community where people lead active, healthy lives	Section 3 Section 4	
A safe Camden that is a vibrant part of our world city.	Section 1 Section 4 Section 3	





Location and management of Camden's growth

- 1.1 Camden is growing and changing. It is estimated that our population will increase by around 36,000 people (about 18% of total population) between 2006 and 2026, while London will grow by over a million people over the same period (15%). Future growth in Camden will be largely due to there being more births than deaths in the borough, although in-migration will also be a factor. In addition, our population is growing older with increases in the proportion of working age people over 45 and those of pensionable age between 60/65 and 74. (GLA Round 2006 Demographic Projections).
- 1.2 The forecast growth in population will be accompanied by an increase in the number of homes, offices and other land uses. The Mayor of London's London Plan contains a target of 5,950 additional homes in Camden from 2007/8 to 2016/17, which we are expected to exceed (see paragraph 1.7). National planning policy also promotes increasing the supply of homes. The Core Strategy must be consistent with national policies and in general conformity with the London Plan.
- 1.3 *A sustainable Camden that adapts to a growing population* is one of the four themes within the vision of *Camden Together*, Camden's Community Strategy. The Community Strategy says that we will find ways to adapt to Camden's growing population while protecting, promoting and enhancing our environment for us and for future generations. The Core Strategy is one of the main mechanisms for achieving this aim.
- 1.4 This section sets out the Council's overall spatial strategy for the borough. It explains where Camden's future growth and development will be focussed, gives more detail on our approach to growth areas, other highly accessible areas and areas which will experience more limited change. It also sets out our overarching approach, further developed in sections 2 and 3, to managing growth in a way that provides necessary homes, jobs and facilities and protects and improves Camden's environment, heritage and quality of life.



CS1. Distribution of growth

1.5 Many parts of the country are facing the challenge of where and how to accommodate a growing and changing population and the facilities and infrastructure needed to support it. Camden's character – as an already highly built up, inner London area, with limited land available for development, many established residential areas, often mixed with other uses, and many places of heritage, environmental and community value – mean that we face particular challenges in adapting to our growing population while improving and protecting our environment and quality of life. Policy CS1 sets out our overarching approach to the location of future growth and development in the borough.

CS1 – Distribution of growth

Overall approach to growth and development:

The Council will focus Camden's growth in the most suitable locations, and manage it to make sure that we deliver its opportunities and benefits and achieve sustainable development, while continuing to preserve and enhance the features that make Camden such an attractive place to live, work and visit.

We will promote:

- a concentration of development in the growth areas of King's Cross, Euston, Tottenham Court Road, Holborn and West Hampstead Interchange;
- appropriate development at other highly accessible locations, in particular Central London and the town centres of Camden Town, Finchley Road / Swiss Cottage, Kentish Town, Kilburn High Road and West Hampstead; and
- c) more limited change elsewhere.

Following this approach, the Council expects that in the order of 12,250 additional homes will be provided in Camden between 2010/11 and 2024/25. We will identify, and provide guidance on, the main development opportunity sites in the borough through our Camden Site Allocations Local Development Framework document.

Making the best use of Camden's limited land

The Council will promote the most efficient use of land and buildings in Camden by:

- seeking development that makes full use of its site, taking into account quality of design, its surroundings, sustainability, amenity, heritage, transport accessibility and any other considerations relevant to the site;
- e) resisting development that makes inefficient use of Camden's limited land;
- f) expecting development that will significantly increase the demand of travel to be located in growth areas and other highly accessible parts of the borough;
- expecting high density development in Central London, town centres and other locations well served by public transport; and
- expecting the provision of a mix of uses in suitable schemes, in particular in the most accessible parts of the borough, including an element of housing where possible.

Overall approach to growth and development

- 1.6 The Council's overall strategy for managing future growth in Camden is to promote the provision of homes, jobs and other facilities in areas with significant redevelopment opportunities at, or near, transport hubs, and support appropriate development at other accessible locations, with more limited change elsewhere. This approach will:
 - focus growth on places that can support higher density development, reducing pressure for substantial development in predominantly residential areas (although some development will take place throughout the borough);
 - allow us to better 'shape' places by promoting high quality design of buildings and places, securing necessary infrastructure, providing an appropriate mix of uses, including community facilities, and securing regeneration benefits; and
 - through promoting larger schemes increase our ability to provide more sustainable places, for example by maximising opportunities for local power and heating.
- 1.7 We expect our strategy to provide approximately 12,250 additional homes (including 9,850 new self-contained homes) between 2010/11 and 2024/25. This provision is expected to include around 7,250 homes from sites of 10 homes of more. The diagram below shows how these homes will be distributed around the borough. Just over 60% will be on sites in the growth areas, just over 20% will be in other highly accessible areas, and around 15% will be in areas of more limited change. In addition c2,600 homes will be provided from smaller sites and c2,400 from non-self contained dwellings and vacancies being returned into use. On the basis of past trends, we expect these homes to follow broadly the same distribution around the borough. This gives a total of around 815 homes per year between 2010/11-2024/25, which comfortably exceeds Camden's current London Plan target of 595 homes per year between 2007 and 2017. This means that we can meet our housing targets even if some identified sites do not come forward for development as envisaged.

Distribution of new homes by area 2010-2025 (based on identified sites for 10 or more homes)



1.8 Housing will be considered the priority land use of this Core Strategy and the Council's other Local Development Framework documents. Please see *policy CS6 – Providing quality homes* for our detailed approach to housing, and paragraphs 6.8 to 6.18 for more detailed information on our housing targets and the type of housing that will be provided.



- 1.9 The Council's overall spatial strategy is illustrated on Map 1 Key Diagram. This shows the broad location of Camden's growth areas, other highly accessible locations / town centres, major transport schemes and the borough's main open spaces.
- 1.10 A key part of our strategy is to ensure that our growing population is supported by necessary infrastructure and services. The Camden Infrastructure Study 2009, commissioned by the Council, identified the borough's infrastructure needs over the fifteen year period covered by this Core Strategy, taking into account expected growth. This forms the basis of Appendix 1 which sets out key infrastructure programmes and projects needed to deliver the Core Strategy. Section 4 sets out more detail on our approach to the provision of infrastructure. Developments will be expected to make appropriate contributions towards the infrastructure needs they generate.

Growth areas

- 1.11 King's Cross, Euston, Tottenham Court Road, Holborn and West Hampstead Interchange will be the locations for the largest amount of Camden's future growth. These areas are identified in the London Plan as suitable for large scale redevelopment or significant increases in jobs and homes, and are based around transport interchanges where increased capacity is planned. The majority of these areas are within Central London and therefore their redevelopment will contribute towards the continued success of Central London and to London's national and international role, as well as providing opportunities to bring benefits to the borough and the local area. Please see policy CS9 *Achieving a successful Central London* for our overall approach to Central London.
- 1.12 King's Cross will be the focus of the most growth in Camden up to 2025, with large-scale redevelopment transforming the area and creating a new quarter for Camden and London. Redevelopment at Euston and around Tottenham Court Road will also provide substantial numbers of jobs and homes, as well as other uses and facilities. Development at West Hampstead Interchange is expected to be predominantly housing. Policy CS2 *Growth areas* gives more detail on our approach to Camden's main growth areas. The boundaries of the growth areas are shown on Maps 11-15 in Appendix 6.
- 1.13 King's Cross, Euston and Tottenham Court Road (part in Westminster) are included in the London Plan as Opportunity Areas, that is, places able to accommodate substantial new jobs and homes, in association with public transport improvements. Holborn, West Hampstead Interchange and Farringdon/Smithfield (much of which lies in the City of London and Islington) are designated as Areas for Intensification, places with significant potential for redevelopment for housing, employment and other uses, although at a scale less than that for Opportunity Areas, again in association with public transport improvements.
- 1.14 Known development sites in the growth areas and at other locations throughout the borough, and the Council's expectations for them, are identified in the *Camden Site Allocations* document, which also forms part of our Local Development Framework.

Map 1: Key Diagram



Other highly accessible locations

- 1.15 Beyond the growth areas there are a number of other parts of the borough which are considered suitable locations for significant development as they are highly accessible by a range of means of transport. These highly accessible areas are the Central London area outside of the growth areas, and the town centres of Camden Town, Finchley Road/Swiss Cottage, Kilburn High Road, Kentish Town and West Hampstead. These areas are considered to be particularly suitable locations for uses that are likely to lead to a significant increase in travel demand (for example, retail, offices, leisure and tourism), although the scale of development at these locations is expected to be less than that in the growth areas. Public transport accessibility to Hampstead is not considered to be sufficient for it to be a suitable location for uses that generate significant travel demand.
- 1.16 Policy CS3 gives more detail on our approach to Camden's other highly accessible locations. Policy CS9 sets out our overarching approach to Central London, with its unique character and challenges, where we seek to achieve a balance between its important contribution to London and the UK and local communities and facilities. Policy CS7 sets out our approach to Camden's town centres.

1.17 We will expect activities that are that are likely to lead to a significant increase in travel demand to be located in these parts of the borough or the growth areas. The Council will require applicants to demonstrate that all potential options for development in these areas have been thoroughly assessed before edge-of-centre and, finally, sites outside these areas are considered for development, taking into account their accessibility by a choice of means of transport; their likely effect on travel patterns and car use. This approach will help to reduce the need for car journeys, help promote walking, cycling and public transport and allow a single journey to serve more than one purpose. For more information on the level of development we consider creates significant travel demand please see Appendix 1 in Camden Development Policies.

Areas of more limited change

1.18 Other parts of the borough are generally expected to experience more limited development and change than will occur in the growth areas and other highly accessible locations. The scale of this will vary, from areas adjacent to growth areas, such as Somers Town, where the Council will seek to spread the redevelopment benefits of nearby schemes, to predominantly residential areas, where smaller scale and more incremental change is expected take place. Policy CS4 gives more detail on these areas and the Council's approach to them.

Managing growth

- 1.19 Central to the Council's overall approach to adapting to Camden's growing population is managing future growth to make sure that it is sustainable, that it provides opportunity and benefits to the borough and its local area, and that it protects and enhances our environment, heritage and quality of life.
- 1.20 Our overall approach to managing the impact of growth is set out in policy CS5, while more detail on aspects of our approach to managing growth is given in many other policies in this Core Strategy, particularly those in section 3 *A sustainable and attractive Camden*, for example policy CS13 on tackling climate change and CS14 on promoting high quality places and conserving our heritage. Camden Development Policies contains detailed planning policies to support our strategy of managing growth, for example on high quality design (DP24), sustainable design and construction (DP22), and the impact of development on occupiers and neighbours (DP26).

Making the best use of Camden's limited land

1.21 If we are going to adapt successfully to Camden's growing population, we need to make the best use of the borough's limited land. The Council will promote the most efficient use of Camden's land and buildings while also seeking to improve the quality of our environment, protect the amenity of occupiers and neighbours and meet its other planning objectives.

Density

- 1.22 One way of making the most efficient use of our land and buildings is to encourage higher densities (that is, have more buildings or rooms in a given area). The Council wants to encourage developments with high densities in the most accessible parts of the borough (generally, Central London and the town centres of Camden Town, Finchley Road/Swiss Cottage, Kilburn High Road, Kentish Town and West Hampstead) and other appropriate locations. Such schemes should be of excellent design quality and sensitively consider the amenity of occupiers and neighbours and the character and built form of their surroundings, particularly in conservation areas. Good design can increase density while protecting and enhancing the character of an area. (Please see policy CS14 and Development Policies DP24 and D25 for more detail on our approach to design.)
- 1.23 The Council will expect the density of housing development to take account of the density matrix in the London Plan (Table 3A.2). As Camden is generally well served by public transport, the Council will expect densities towards the higher end of the appropriate density range in the matrix unless it can be demonstrated that the specific circumstances of a development mean this is not appropriate. Densities below the relevant range in the density matrix will not be permitted. In addition, development schemes with a density below that of the surrounding area will normally be resisted. Please also see paragraphs 2.9 to 2.10 in Camden Development Policies for more on our approach to density.

Mixed use developments

- 1.24 The provision of an appropriate mix of uses, both within areas and in individual buildings, can also contribute to successfully managing future growth in Camden and making efficient use of its limited land. A mix of uses can also:
 - reduce commuting and the need for some other journeys, helping to cut congestion in the borough and improve air quality;
 - increase the provision of much-needed housing;
 - promote successful places that have a range of activities and are used throughout the day, increasing safety and security.
- 1.25 The Council will encourage the provision of a mix of uses in suitable locations and expect development proposals of an appropriate size in Central London and the town centres of Camden Town, Swiss Cottage and Kilburn High Road to contribute towards the supply of housing. This reflects the designation of housing as the priority land use of the Core Strategy (see policy CS6). Camden Development Policies policy DP1 contains further detail on the Council's approach to mixed use development. The Council's Site Allocations document will identify future development sites and provide guidance for their future development, including where mixed use development is appropriate.

Key evidence and references

- Camden Housing Needs Study Update 2008
- Camden Annual Monitoring Report 2007/08
- The London Plan (consolidated with Alterations since 2004); Mayor of London; 2008
- Planning Policy Statement (PPS) 1: Delivering Sustainable Development; ODPM; 2005
- Planning Policy Statement 3: Housing; ODPM; 2006
- Camden Together Camden's Sustainable Community Strategy; 2007-2012
- GLA Round 2006 Demographic Projections



CS2. Growth areas

2.1 Policy CS1 sets out the Council's strategy for the distribution of Camden's future growth, focussing development on five growth areas – King's Cross, Euston, Tottenham Court Road, Holborn and West Hampstead – which have opportunities for significant development of homes, jobs and other facilities (see Map 1 – Key Diagram). This section gives more detail on our approach to these areas, the level of development expected and our aspirations for each. The boundaries of the growth areas are shown on Maps 11 – 15 in Appendix 6.

cs POLICY

CS2 – Growth areas

Development in Camden to 2025 will be concentrated in the growth areas of:

- a) King's Cross, where large-scale redevelopment is underway;
- Euston, where major redevelopment is expected to occur in association with improvements to the station;
- c) Tottenham Court Road, Holborn and West Hampstead Interchange, where the mixed use redevelopment of a number of sites is expected to take place.

These areas are expected to provide in the range of 4,700 new homes and a substantial majority of new business floorspace in the period to 2024/25.

The Council will expect development in the growth areas to:

- d) maximise site opportunities;
- e) provide appropriate links to, and benefits for, surrounding areas and communities; and
- be in accordance with the Council's aspirations and objectives for that area, as set out below.

- 2.2 The level of development opportunities and transport accessibility in the areas of King's Cross, Euston, Tottenham Court Road, Holborn and West Hampstead make them the most appropriate locations to focus the provision of additional homes, jobs and facilities in Camden to 2025. The growth areas will make the most significant contribution towards meeting the borough's housing needs.
- 2.3 From 2010/11 to 2024/25 we expect just over 60% of the 12,250 additional homes in the borough to be provided in the growth areas (see policy CS1 for more details of how growth will be distributed around the borough and policy CS6 for more detailed information on our housing targets and the type of housing that will be provided). The growth areas are also expected to be the location for over 80% of the new business floorspace, and consequently the majority of jobs created, in the borough over the period covered by the Core Strategy, based on London Plan expectations (see table below) and the assessment of demand in the Camden Employment Land Review 2008 (see *policy CS8 Promoting a successful and inclusive Camden economy*). In addition, these areas are expected to be the location for over two-thirds of retail growth, in particular through provision at King's Cross and Euston (see *policy CS7 Promoting Camden's centres and shops*).
- 2.4 Each of Camden's growth areas has been identified in the London Plan as having potential for significant increases in jobs and homes:

Objectives	Minimum homes 2001-2026	Indicative jobs 2001-2026
Opportunity areas		
King's Cross	2,250	25,000
• Euston	1,000	5,000
Tottenham Court Road (part in Westminster)	1,000	5,000
Areas for intensification		
• Holborn	200	2,000
West Hampstead Interchange	2,000	500

London Plan targets for Camden's growth areas (Source: London Plan; 2008)

- 2.5 The Council will expect development in the growth areas to maximise site opportunities and the opportunities and benefits for the borough and the local area within the context of the full range of Camden's planning policies and objectives, including those relating to amenity, sustainability, heritage/built environment, open space, community safety and encouraging walking and permeability. The Council's expectations on the scale of development at each location is set out in the area-specific section below.
- 2.6 It is important to note that the growth areas are next to, and sometimes even include, existing residential communities and heritage assets such as conservation areas. Development must therefore take account of its sensitive context. In addition, not every site within these areas is considered suitable for redevelopment or intensification. The location of an individual site within a growth area should not be interpreted as implying that the Council considers it is necessarily suitable for redevelopment. Our Camden Site Allocations Local Development Framework document will identify significant development opportunities within the growth areas and these sites will be expected to deliver the majority of the increase in homes and jobs in that area. Camden Site Allocations will also set frameworks for development in each of the growth areas, as well as setting out the Council's aspirations for the individual opportunity sites within it.
- 2.7 The Council's overall approach to each of the growth areas is set out below. Developments in these areas will be expected to meet the stated aspirations and objectives.



King's Cross

King's Cross is the borough's largest development area providing the opportunity to create a vibrant and successful new quarter for London. An outline planning permission and associated legal agreement for 'King's Cross Central' were approved in 2006 for a high density mixed use development site which will include:

- 1700 homes, of which 750 will be affordable, plus up to 650 units of student housing;
- commercial employment space, including offices, retail and hotels;
- the creation of up to 25,000 jobs;
- a combined heat and power district heating system.

The area will be the major focus for new homes, offices and retail development in the borough (see CS6, CS8 and CS7 for further details on our overall approach to these uses.) The development of the site is likely to take 10 to 15 years, depending on market conditions.

The scheme also incorporates infrastructure provision to support the large numbers of residents, workers and visitors who will be using the area in the future. The planning permission provides for:

- educational facilities, including a primary school;
- other community facilities, including a primary care health centre and a walk-in health centre;
- a Construction Training Centre and Skills and Recruitment Centre;
- leisure facilities, including a sports hall, swimming pool and fitness centre and a multi-use games area;
- new public spaces, including parks.

Further details on education, healthcare, leisure and other community infrastructure schemes at King's Cross are set out in Appendix 1 (see items 4, 11, 21, 22 and 24).

In addition, transport measures, which will further improve the best public transport accessibility in London, and the provision of public spaces will also support the redevelopment of the area. These include:

- continuing improvements to King's Cross St Pancras underground station;
- King's Cross mainline station improvements;
- Thameslink improvements including new services;
- increased capacity on many Underground lines;
- a new public square at the front of King's Cross station;
- improved walking routes.

Further detail on transport schemes is set out in the key infrastructure programmes and projects in Appendix 1 (see item numbers 40-43 and 46).









Immediately adjoining the King's Cross Central site is the 'Triangle' site, which lies within both Camden and Islington. An outline planning permission and associated legal agreement were granted in 2008 for a mixed use development including:

- 246 residential units, 84 being affordable
- retail, food, drink, financial & health facilities
- community facilities (health and fitness and crèche)
- environmental improvements (i.e. highway improvements, amenity and open space, and habitat areas).

The King's Cross growth area is surrounded by the residential communities of Somers Town and Elm Village to the west, Maiden Lane to the north, King's Cross to the south and Thornhill (within Islington) to the east.

Some of these communities are among the most deprived in the country. It is therefore vital that the growth area is redeveloped in a way that brings benefits to, and links to, its surrounding communities.

The Council will work with its key partners, including King's Cross Central Limited Partnership, Islington Council, NHS Camden, Transport for London, Network Rail, British Waterways and the Police to achieve a successful development that maximises its many opportunities for housing, jobs and the local community.

The Council's aspiration for King's Cross is to secure a vibrant, attractive, safe destination with a mix of uses, in particular offices, homes, retail, leisure and community facilities, which:

- supports and increases the borough's contribution to London's role as a world business, commercial and cultural centre;
- integrates with surrounding areas and communities, economically, socially and physically;
- creates job and training opportunities for local people and contributes significantly to the regeneration of neighbouring communities;
- helps to meet the full range of housing, education, social and healthcare needs in Camden and beyond;
- maximises opportunities for walking, cycling and the use of public transport, to and through the area;
- improves community safety and reduces opportunities for crime and anti-social behaviour;
- protects and enhances features of historic and conservation importance;
- meets the highest feasible environmental standards.

Euston

Euston is one of London's major transport hubs, served by rail, the Underground and many bus routes, and is also a significant area of housing and employment. The wider Euston area contains the headquarters of a number of major companies and public bodies (mainly along Euston Road) and is home to established residential communities, for example Somers Town to the east and Drummond Street and Regents Park Estate to the west, and a significant Bengali community. Many of the communities in the area are relatively deprived. Euston Station and Euston Road provide the location's dominant characteristics but they create substantial barriers to movement through the area.



Network Rail has plans to remodel Euston Station to tackle overcrowding, to meet future growth in passenger numbers and improve its poor quality environment. The scope of development will depend on operational rail requirements, how station improvements are financed, the degree of station renewal, transport capacity, use of space over the station, strategic viewing corridors and other considerations. There are also a number of other potential development sites in the vicinity including the BHS depot site and the National Temperance Hospital, both on

Hampstead Road. The London Plan expects a minimum of 1,000 new homes and 5,000 new jobs to be provided in the area between 2001 and 2026. The draft replacement London Plan (2009) expects a minimum of 1,000 new homes and 5,000 new jobs to be provided in the area between 2006 and 2031. The Council envisages that redevelopment at Euston could include around 1,500 homes and in the region of 70,000 square metres of business floorspace, with the development likely to take place in the second half the Core Strategy period. Development at Euston is also likely to provide a significant amount of retail floorspace. Please see policy CS7 for more detail on our approach to retail growth.

The Council is working with partners (such as Transport for London, Network Rail and British Land) to seek to make sure that change in the area brings significant improvements to the opportunities and quality of life of local people, as well as improving the area's wider contribution to London. The Council has produced supplementary guidance for the Euston area. *Euston: A Framework for Change – Planning Guidance for the Euston Area and Key Sites* provides more detailed information on the area and the Council's approach to its development.

The Council's aspirations for the area include:

- securing a high quality, sustainable mixed use development with a significant amount of offices and homes, including affordable housing, retail and facilities that meet local community needs;
- creating a new station of the highest possible quality with increased passenger capacity as a fundamental element of a phased, integrated public transport interchange that improves connection between travel modes and provides easy and convenient movement for users of rail, underground (Euston and Euston Square), buses and taxis;
- substantially improving walking links and connections through the area and to neighbouring areas where operationally and physically possible, in particular to Somers Town and King's Cross in the east, to west Euston and across Euston Road (see Appendix 1, item 55);
- improving the safety and attractiveness of public spaces and the local environment, including the provision of open space where practicable, and providing high quality design which preserves and enhances the area's heritage;
- improving community safety, including reducing opportunities for crime and anti-social behaviour;
- making sure that change in the area brings benefits to local communities as well as London as a whole and to those travelling to and through Euston;
- supporting a comprehensive and integrated approach to development in the Euston Station area.





Tottenham Court Road

This area is centred on Tottenham Court Road Underground station and includes parts of Camden and Westminster. It is well served by public transport and contains a mix of office, housing and retail uses, with a significant residential population in and around the area. Much of the location is designated as conservation area and it contains a number of listed buildings. Tottenham Court Road and part of New Oxford Street are within the West End Retail Special Policy Area designated in the London Plan.

Although the area is already well developed, it contains a number of development sites which give an opportunity to improve and enhance the local environment, the mix of uses and links to neighbouring areas to create an attractive, safe and vibrant place. The London Plan expects a minimum of 1,000 new homes and 5,000 new jobs to be provided in the area between 2001 and 2026, with elements of this provision taking place in both boroughs. The draft replacement London Plan (2009) expects a minimum of 600 new homes and 5,000 new jobs to be provided in the area between 2006 and 2031. Based on development since 2006 and identified opportunity sites, the Council expects around 60% of homes and more than half of the jobs expected in the emerging London Plan to be provided in private sector-led schemes in Camden's part of the Tottenham Court Road area, with provision spread across the period of this Core Strategy.

Growth at Tottenham Court Road will be supported by transport enhancements as part of the development of Crossrail. Planned improvements include a new Crossrail station linked to Tottenham Court Road underground station and an enlarged Underground station ticket hall. Increased capacity on Northern Line tube services using the station are also planned. Further detail on relevant transport schemes is set out in Appendix 1 (items 39, 43 and 45).





All development within the area should contribute to the Council's wider vision and objectives for this part of the borough. Our aspiration includes:

- a balanced mix of uses, including housing and affordable housing, significant provision of offices and other employment opportunities, community facilities, and retail to support the Central London Frontages of Charing Cross Road, Tottenham Court Road and the western end of New Oxford Street;
- an excellent public realm, with an improved network of safe and attractive places and routes for pedestrians and cyclists, that successfully links to neighbouring areas (particularly the growth area at Holborn (see below), Covent Garden, Bloomsbury and Oxford Street) and reduces the dominance of traffic in the area (see Appendix 1, item 55 on improvements for pedestrians in the St Giles area);
- maximising densities compatible with local context, sustainable design principles and public transport capacity;
- development of the highest quality and sustainable design as befits a historic area in the heart of London, which preserves local amenity and seeks to preserve and enhance the character and appearance of conservation areas;
- remedying the lack of open space in the area through on-site provision or contributions to assist in the provision of new spaces.

The Council has prepared an Area Planning Framework for the Tottenham Court Road and St Giles High Street Area (2004) and planning briefs for three major development sites within it. Westminster has also produced planning briefs for sites within their part of the area. We will work with Westminster to achieve our vision and objectives for this area.

West Hampstead Interchange

This area is a significant public transport interchange with three stations (served by London Underground, Thameslink and London Overground) and a number of bus routes. However, links between these are poor and need to be improved. Transport for London have been developing proposals to improve the interchange between the three stations and bus services along West End Lane, including remodelled station entrances and street improvements (see Appendix 1 Key infrastructure programmes and projects - item 49). There are also opportunities for redevelopment of under-utilised sites, particularly along the railway lines.



The London Plan expects a minimum of 2,000 new homes and 500 new jobs to be provided in the area between 2001 and 2026. The draft replacement London Plan (2009) expects a minimum of 800 new homes and 100 new jobs to be provided in the area between 2006 and 2031. However, the Council recognises that it now appears unlikely that a large scale redevelopment scheme incorporating major interchange works as originally envisaged will take place. More incremental development and interchange improvements appear a more realistic and deliverable prospect, and the Council is working with partners (including Transport for London and

Network Rail) and local stakeholders to investigate a range of solutions. Individual development schemes in the growth area will be expected to contribute to interchange improvements. The Council anticipates that the scale of growth at West Hampstead Interchange is more likely to be in the region of 1,000 homes and 7,000sq m of business floorspace (along with some other uses), with most development coming forward towards the latter part of the period of this Core Strategy.

Part of the Interchange area falls within West Hampstead town centre. The town centre is considered to be a highly accessible area and a suitable location for uses that are likely to significantly increase the demand for travel. Please see policy CS3 for further information on the Council's approach to Camden's highly accessible areas and policy CS7 for more detail on our town centres.


The Council expects improvements at West Hampstead Interchange and supporting infrastructure to include:

- a mix of uses, including substantial new housing, town centre, employment and community uses, and open space;
- improved transport interchange accessibility and capacity and improved pedestrian and bicycle movement and routes;
- a substantially improved street environment around transport facilities, including improved crossing and wider pavements;
- sustainable and safe design of the highest quality that respects the character and heritage value of West Hampstead.

Holborn

Holborn is a predominately commercial area, with a small residential community, focussed around Holborn underground station. High Holborn, from New Oxford Street to Holborn Circus, and most of Kingsway are designated as Central London Frontages, recognising their role as a shopping and service centre for workers and residents. Some of the area and much of its immediate surroundings are designated as conservation area. The area lies close to the growth



area at Tottenham Court Road (see above).

The London Plan expects a minimum of 2,000 new jobs and 200 new homes to be provided in the area between 2001 and 2026. The draft replacement London Plan (2009) expects a minimum of 2,000 new jobs and 200 new homes to be provided in the area between 2006 and 2031. The Council expects that the London Plan targets will be met through relatively small scale, private sector-led schemes, reflecting that the area's potential for intensification is largely from the redevelopment of existing properties, particularly offices, at higher densities.

The Council's aspirations for the area include:

- provision of a mix of land uses, with offices and housing as the predominate uses;
- provision of appropriate retail and service uses in the area's Central London Frontage and taking opportunities to introduce ground floor retail uses where the continuity of the frontage is currently broken;
- improvements to the street environment, in particular pedestrian environment to and around Holborn Underground station (see Appendix 1 - Key infrastructure programmes and projects – item 50);
- improved connections with the City of London, the Tottenham Court Road area and other neighbouring areas, in particular, making walking and 'way-finding' easier (see Appendix 1 item 56);
- appropriate contributions to open space, community facilities, regeneration initiatives and employment and training schemes;
- high quality, sustainable design that respects its surroundings and preserves and enhances the area's historic environment;
- improving community safety, including reducing opportunities for crime and anti-social behaviour.

Key evidence and references

- Camden Infrastructure Study 2009; URS
- Central London Infrastructure Study 2009; URS
- Camden Employment Land Review 2008; Roger Tym and Partners
- Camden Retail Study 2008; Roger Tym and Partners
- Camden Annual Monitoring Report
- The London Plan (consolidated with Alterations since 2004); Mayor of London; 2008





CS3. Other highly accessible areas

3.1 Policy CS1 sets out the Council's strategy for the distribution of Camden's future growth, focussing the development of homes, jobs and facilities on five growth areas, with other highly accessible locations being considered suitable for significant development. Policy CS3 gives more detail on the Council's approach to these other highly accessible areas.

CS3 – Other highly accessible areas

The Council will promote appropriate development in the highly accessible areas of:

- a) Central London (outside the growth areas of King's Cross, Euston, Tottenham Court Road and Holborn); and
- b) the town centres of Camden Town, Finchley Road / Swiss Cottage, Kentish Town, Kilburn High Road and West Hampstead, including appropriate edge of centre locations.

These areas are considered to be suitable locations for the provision of homes, shops,

food, drink and entertainment uses, offices, community facilities and are particularly suitable for uses that are likely to significantly increase the demand for travel.

The Council will ensure that development in these locations is of suitable scale and character for the area in which it is situated, contributes to other Council aspirations including providing appropriate community and environmental benefits, and takes into account amenity and community safety.

- 3.2 Camden's Central London area and the town centres of Camden Town, Finchley Road/Swiss Cottage, Kentish Town, Kilburn High Road and West Hampstead, and locations on the edge of these centres, are highly accessible by public transport. They are therefore considered to be generally suitable for a range of land uses, including those that will attract a large number of journeys, and for higher density development. These areas are considered to be the most suitable locations in the borough, outside of the growth areas identified in policies CS1 and CS2, for larger scale growth and development, although they are expected to experience development of a smaller scale of that expected in the growth areas.
- 3.3 The boundaries of the borough's town centres are drawn fairly tightly around their main retail areas and, with the exception of Camden Town, there are generally limited development opportunities within the designated centres themselves. Given this, it is possible that much future development at these locations will take place on edge of centre sites. Camden Town is expected to be the location of a significant amount of additional shop floorspace over the lifetime of the Core Strategy. Please see policy CS7 for the Council's strategy for Camden's town centres and shops, including the provision of additional retail floorspace. This describes the specific character and roles of each centre, setting the context for development and change within them.
- 3.4 The attractions of Camden's Central London area mean that development here is expected to take place both in the growth areas identified in policy CS1 and on other Central London sites outside them (see Map 1 Key Diagram). The Council recognises that Central London experiences specific issues and challenges, in particular in balancing its economic, social and cultural role and the interests of the local community. Policy CS9 *Achieving a successful Central London* sets out our approach to the specific issues faced in this part of the borough.



- 3.5 The Council will generally expect larger developments in the highly accessible areas to include a mix of uses. However, it is important that all development in these locations is of a size and nature compatible with its site and the character of its surroundings and the wider area. Please see policy CS1 and policy DP1 in Camden Development Policies for more detail on our approach to mixed use development.
- 3.6 Camden's highly accessible areas often include, or are adjacent to, residential communities and conservation areas and other heritage assets. Development in these locations must therefore take into account the full range of relevant Council policies and objectives, in particular those on amenity, design and heritage, sustainability, community safety, open space and transport.
- 3.7 The main development opportunities within the highly accessible areas are identified in the Camden Site Allocations document which also sets out guidance on their future development.

Farringdon/Smithfield

- 3.8 The Farringdon/Smithfield area, which covers parts of Islington, the City of London and the south east of Camden's Central London area at Hatton Garden, is included in the London Plan as an Area for Intensification. The London Plan expects a minimum of 100 homes and 2,000 jobs at this location between 2001 and 2026. Its ability to take additional development capacity will depend on operational rail requirements, the degree of station renewal, the level of transport and interchange capacity increase and other relevant factors.
- 3.9. Camden will continue to work with the City and Islington to co-ordinate the future of Farringdon/Smithfield. As much of the area lies in the City and Islington, and as there are environmental constraints in Hatton Garden due to its unique character and conservation area status, the amount of development taking place in the Camden part of Farringdon / Smithfield is expected to be relatively limited. Therefore, this location has not been included as one of Camden's main growth areas.

Key evidence and references

- The London Plan (consolidated with Alterations since 2004); Mayor of London; 2008
- Camden Retail Study 2008; Roger Tym and Partners
- Camden Infrastructure Study 2009

CS4. Areas of more limited change

4.1. Policy CS1 sets out the Council's strategy for the distribution of Camden's future growth, focussing larger development on five growth areas and other highly accessible locations (see Map 1- Key Diagram). This section gives more detail on our approach in the parts of the borough expected to experience more limited change.

CS4 – Areas of more limited change

Parts of the borough outside of the growth areas and other highly accessible areas set out in policy CS1 will experience more limited development and change, although some development is expected to take place in most parts of Camden over the timescale of the Core Strategy.

The Council will ensure that development in the areas of more limited change respects the character of its surroundings, conserves heritage and other important features and provides environmental improvements and other local benefits where appropriate. The Council will expect major developments taking place adjacent or near to areas of more limited change to bring benefits to these areas of an appropriate nature and scale. In particular, we will seek:

- a) improvements to walking routes and other links,
- b) contributions towards regeneration and training in deprived areas, and
- c) the provision of open space and other community facilities where there are local deficiencies.
- 4.2 The Council does not envisage that large scale development (in terms of the size of individual schemes) will take place in parts of the borough outside the growth areas (see policy CS2) and other highly accessible locations (see policy CS3), with the possible exception of estate regeneration programmes, which will be subject to consultation with the residents of each estate (see paragraphs 4.11, 4.12 and policy CS6). Development in the borough's areas of more limited change is generally expected to be smaller in scale, varying from household alterations to a small number of larger, more locally significant schemes.
- 4.3 Information on significant development sites within the areas of more limited change (generally those with an area above 1,000 square metres), and the Council's aspirations for them, are set out in the Camden Site Allocations document.
- 4.4 Camden's areas of more limited change can be broadly divided into the following:
 - areas adjacent to growth areas, such as Somers Town;
 - Hampstead town centre; and
 - other areas.

Areas adjacent to growth area, such as Somers Town

4.5 Places adjacent to Camden's growth areas will be affected by the changes taking place in those areas, although they are not expected to experience major development themselves. The Council will seek to ensure that major redevelopment schemes bring appropriate benefits to their neighbouring communities and take full account of their surroundings and links to them.

4.6 For example, the Somers Town area lies between the borough's main growth areas of King's Cross and Euston. It has a high proportion of Council tenants and significant Bangladeshi and African communities. It also is relatively deprived, with low levels of economic activity, poor health, low life expectancy and community safety issues. The redevelopment of Euston Station provides an opportunity to encourage local employment, which will benefit Somers Town and other local communities, and build on the initiatives developed as part of the King's Cross redevelopment, such as the Construction and Skills Centre, to provide training, job brokerage and apprenticeships related to the scheme's construction. The Council's aspirations for the Euston area also include improvements to walking links and connections through the area and to Somers Town and other neighbouring areas. Other projects, such as investments in local schools as part of the Building School for the Future programme, will bring benefits to their local areas, for example in the provision of facilities for young people and the wider community. Please see policy CS2 for more detail on the Council's aspirations for Camden's growth areas and how they can contribute to neighbouring communities.

Hampstead town centre

- 4.7 Our overall strategy for growth, set out in policy CS1, focuses the majority of development on growth areas and other highly accessible areas. All of Camden's centres are considered to be highly accessible with the exception of Hampstead town centre, where the level of public transport accessibility is not considered to be sufficient for it to be a suitable location for development that significantly increase the demand for travel. Therefore, Hampstead town centre is expected to experience less development than Camden's other centres and their immediate surroundings.
- 4.8 Although the Council does not envisage substantial development in Hampstead town centre, due to the dynamic nature of retailing and changes in the nature of the provision of services and facilities, changes will occur in the centre in the future and to the uses of individual premises within it, some of which will be beyond the controls of the Council. The Council's overall approach to our town centres is set out in policy CS7 *Protecting our town centres and shops*.
- 4.9 Hampstead town centre lies within the Hampstead conservation area. Any development here must be sensitive to the area's heritage and unique character. Please see policy CS14 and Camden Development Policies (DP24 and DP25) for more detail on our approach to promoting high quality places and conserving our heritage.





Other areas

- 4.10 Many parts of Camden, particularly in the northern part of the borough, are predominantly residential in character. Significant areas of these are designated as conservation areas, for example Belsize Park and Fitzjohns/Netherhall, where the Council will seek to preserve and enhance their valued character and heritage assets. It is expected that these parts of the borough will experience smaller scale development and more incremental change in future years. Please see policy CS14 and Camden Development Policies (DP24 and DP25) for more detail on our approach to promoting high quality places and conserving our heritage.
- 4.11 Other predominantly residential areas include large amounts of social rented housing, for example, Gospel Oak. Some of these areas are expected to benefit from estate regeneration during the plan period, while others are expected to experience relatively low levels of development (please see paragraph 6.23 for more on estate regeneration).
- 4.12 Gospel Oak is one of the Council's Place Shaping areas, where the Council is seeking to coordinate the use of resources to meet identified local needs (see Section 4 Delivering and monitoring the Core Strategy). The Council is working closely with the local community to improve the provision of youth and community facilities and to tackle such issues as poor health, deprivation and low levels of employment. The Gospel Oak area contains a very high proportion of social rented housing concentrated around Lismore Circus. The Council is consulting with residents on the opportunities for regeneration in the area which could see some existing housing replaced by new homes, improving the tenure mix and the refurbishment of most of the remaining social rented homes in the area. An expression of interest in private finance initiative (PFI) funding is under consideration by the Housing and Communities Agency and, if approved and supported by the community, this would assist in generating very significant investment in housing and major infrastructure projects. Delivery of a regeneration programme in this area could include a local combined heating and power (CHP) system and the remodelling and renewal of the public realm over a 15 hectare area, in addition to substantial investment in housing.
- 4.13 A number of places in Camden are characterised by a mix of homes and other land uses, such as industrial premises, hospitals, shops and offices. These include Central London (which is covered by policies CS3 Other highly accessible areas and CS9 Achieving a successful Central London) and Kentish Town. The Council will seek to retain the diverse character of mixed areas, for example by safeguarding the borough's main Industry Area and protecting other industrial sites and premises (see policy CS8 Promoting a successful and inclusive Camden economy).

Key evidence and references

- Camden Employment Land Review 2008
- Camden Retail Study 2008; Roger Tym and Partners

CS5. Managing the impact of growth and development

5.1 The overall approach of the Core Strategy, as set out in policy CS1, is to manage Camden's growth to make sure that its opportunities and benefits are delivered and sustainable development is achieved, while continuing to conserve and enhance the features that make Camden such an attractive place to live, work and visit. This flows from the Camden Community Strategy theme of a sustainable Camden that adapts to a growing population. Policy CS5 provides more information on our approach to managing the impact of growth in the borough.

CS5 – Managing the impact of growth and development

The Council will manage the impact of growth and development in Camden. We will ensure that development meets the full range of objectives of the Core Strategy and other Local Development Framework documents, with particular consideration given to:

- a) providing uses that meet the needs of Camden's population and contribute to the borough's London-wide role;
- b) providing the infrastructure and facilities needed to support Camden's population and those who work in and visit the borough;
- c) providing sustainable buildings and spaces of the highest quality; and
- d) protecting and enhancing our environment and heritage and the amenity and quality of life of local communities.

The Council will protect the amenity of Camden's residents and those working in and visiting the borough by:

- e) making sure that the impact of developments on their occupiers and neighbours is fully considered;
- f) seeking to ensure development contributes towards strong and successful communities by balancing the needs of development with the needs and characteristics of local areas and communities; and
- f) requiring mitigation measures where necessary.

Making sure development achieves the objectives of the Core Strategy

- 5.2 Central to managing Camden's future growth is the need to consider not just the scale and nature of that growth, but how it is provided and the effect on those who live in the area and the borough as a whole. All development in Camden, large or small, whether located in growth areas, highly accessible locations or in other parts of the borough, should take place in accordance with all relevant policies in the Core Strategy and the other documents that form part of Camden's Local Development Framework (see paragraph 4 in the Introduction) to ensure that the Council's vision for the borough is achieved. The Council will seek to ensure that the borough's growth brings benefits and opportunities to all.
- 5.3 The second section of this Core Strategy, *Meeting Camden's needs Providing homes, jobs and facilities*, sets out our approach to providing the land uses, infrastructure and facilities that are needed to support Camden's communities, workers and visitors. This includes places to live, work and shop, community facilities and provision for walking, cycling and public transport. The section also sets out our approach to the unique issues faced in Central London, the home to many of the uses that contribute to London's role as a capital and major international city, as well as long-established residential communities.

- 5.4 One of the key elements of managing Camden's growth is securing the infrastructure and services needed to support Camden's growing numbers of residents, workers and visitors. To identify the infrastructure need in the borough in future years we commissioned the Camden Infrastructure Study 2009. This work formed the basis of the schedule in Appendix 1, which set outs identified key infrastructure programmes and projects including transport, utilities, emergency services, education, health and other community facilities. It gives information on the nature of each infrastructure scheme, where it will be located, who will lead on its delivery and when it is expected to be provided. As the boundaries of the growth area are relatively tightly drawn, taking in the main development opportunities, the infrastructure to support a particular growth area may be provided outside its boundary. Please see section 19 *Delivering and monitoring the Core Strategy* for more detail on our approach to infrastructure provision. In addition, the individual sections in the Core Strategy also contain details of infrastructure requirements and provision that are relevant to that section (for example, policy CS15 on open space and policy CS11 on transport.)
- 5.5 The third section of the Core Strategy, *A sustainable and attractive Camden Tackling climate change and improving and protecting Camden's environment and quality of life*, focuses on making sure that growth is sustainable and properly takes into account the character of Camden and the aspects of the borough that make it such an attractive place to live, work and visit. It sets out how we intend to make Camden a low carbon, low waste borough; deal with climate change; and protect, and where possible enhance, our built environment, heritage and open spaces. It also sets out our approach to improving the safety and health of the community.
- 5.6 Our Camden Development Policies Local Development Framework document will be one of the main mechanisms by which we will seek to deliver to vision and objectives in the Core Strategy. It sets out planning policies that provide more detail of our approach to many of the matters covered in this Core Strategy. We will use Camden Development Policies alongside the Core Strategy when we determine applications for planning permission.

Protecting amenity

- 5.7 Camden's high level of amenity the features of a place that contribute to its attractiveness and comfort is a major factor in the quality of life of the borough's residents, workers and visitors and fundamental to Camden's attractiveness and success. However, Camden's inner London location, the close proximity of various uses and the presence of major roads and railways can mean that privacy, noise and light can be particular issues in the borough.
- 5.8 Protecting amenity is, therefore, a key part of successfully managing growth in Camden. We will expect development to avoid harmful effects on the amenity of existing and future occupiers and nearby properties or, where this is not possible, to take appropriate measures to minimise potential negative impacts. More detail and guidance on our approach to amenity is contained in Camden Development Policies policy DP26 and our Camden Planning Guidance supplementary document. Other policies in Camden Development Policies also contribute to protecting amenity in the borough by setting out our detailed approach to specific issues, such as the impact of food, drink and entertainment uses (policy DP12), noise and vibration (policy DP28) and air quality (policy DP32)

Promoting successful communities

5.9 A key element to our overall strategy of managing Camden's future growth is to ensure that the opportunities and benefits of this growth are delivered in a way that meets the needs of Camden's residents and promotes strong and successful communities. In assessing development proposals, the Council will take into account the needs and benefits of the development alongside the individual characteristics and needs of the local area and community, and will seek to strike a balance between them. Where relevant, we will take into account the cumulative impacts of developments, or particular types of development, on local areas and communities.

Key evidence and references

- Camden Together Camden's Sustainable Community Strategy; 2007-2012
- The London Plan (consolidated with alterations since 2004); Mayor of London; 2008





Meeting Camden's needs – Providing homes, jobs and facilities

- 6.1 Section 1 above sets out the Council's overall approach to the distribution and management of Camden's growth to 2025. Section 2 provides our approach to making sure we provide the homes, jobs, facilities and infrastructure needed to support the growth in the number of people living in, working in and visiting the borough. It focuses on:
 - providing homes to meet housing need and targets, securing affordable homes, and encouraging mixed communities;
 - providing for new shop floorspace to meet predicted demand and promoting our town centres, including by setting out our specific objectives for each centre;
 - securing a strong economy in Camden that includes everyone;
 - supporting the unique role of Central London;
 - providing the community facilities and services needed by Camden's communities and people who work in and visit the borough;
 - ensuring the transport needed to support Camden's growth is provided and promoting more sustainable travel.



CS6. Providing quality homes

- 6.2 One of the four themes of Camden's Community Strategy is A Sustainable Camden that adapts to a growing population. Following from this, the Core Strategy aims to manage growth so it works positively for Camden. One element of this is securing sufficient housing of the right type and quality.
- 6.3 The Council shares the government's goal of seeking to ensure that everyone has the opportunity to live in a decent home at a price they can afford in a community where they want to live. We will therefore seek to establish a plentiful supply and a broad range of homes. However, Camden is a relatively small area within a much larger housing market, and we cannot realistically expect to meet the needs of everyone that might wish to live in the borough. This part of the Core Strategy therefore sets out:
 - the overall numbers of additional homes we expect to be built in the borough;
 - the proportion of affordable housing that the Council will seek;
 - our priorities in terms of mix of sizes and types of homes that are needed for particular groups of people; and
 - the flexible implementation tools we will use to support continued delivery if economic conditions threaten the supply of homes.
- 6.4 To provide well-designed homes, proposals will need to address all the policies in the Core Strategy. In addition, Building for Life criteria set a national standard for well-designed homes and neighbourhoods. These have been prepared by a partnership of agencies led by the Commission for Architecture and the Built Environment (CABE) and the Home Builders Federation.
- 6.5 Policy CS6 relates to a number of different forms of housing which are suitable for different individuals and households. These forms of housing include:
 - self-contained houses and flats (Use Class C3) (the predominant form);
 - live/ work units, which are self-contained homes that include a dedicated work area (they are outside any planning use class, but we will treat them in the same way as Use Class C3 for the operation of our Local Development Framework policies);
 - bedsit rooms that share facilities such as toilets, bathrooms and kitchens often known as houses in multiple occupation or HMOs, some with 3 to 6 occupiers fall within Use Class C4, but most are outside any planning use class);
 - hostels where shared accommodation is managed for a particular group of people (e.g. students) and occupiers may stay for several months (also outside any planning use class);
 - those nursing homes, care homes and parts of hospitals where people live permanently, such as nurses' accommodation (parts of Use Class C2); and
 - residential accommodation that is ancillary to another use, such as living areas for managers, caretakers and other staff.
- 6.6 Policy CS6 does not deal with:
 - those hospitals and care facilities where patients and staff are only present on a temporary or working-hours basis;
 - hotels (Use Class C1); or
 - hostels aimed at tourists and backpackers.

Camden's health and well-being are considered in Policy CS16, which relates in part to hospitals and care facilities. Tourism is considered in Policy CS8, which relates in part to hotels and tourist hostels.

6.7 Policy CS6 is concerned with the quantity of housing that is needed and the types of homes that are needed. However, a wider range of considerations feed into housing quality, including sustainability and responsiveness to climate change; the standard of design, layout and construction; integration with the surrounding area; residential amenity; contribution to the character of the neighbourhood; community safety; and the availability of local facilities and public transport. These wider considerations are dealt with in other policies throughout the Core Strategy.

CS6 – Providing quality homes

The Council will aim to make full use of Camden's capacity for housing by:

- a) maximising the supply of additional housing to meet or exceed Camden's target of 5,950 homes from 2007-2017, including 4,370 additional self-contained homes;
- b) maximising the supply of additional housing over the entire plan period to meet or exceed a target of 8,925 homes from 2010-2025, including 6,550 additional self-contained homes;
- c) supporting the supply of additional student housing, bedsits and other housing with shared facilities providing this does not prejudice the Council's ability to meet the target for the supply of additional self-contained homes, the balance of uses in the area; and the quality of residential amenity or the character of the surrounding area;
- d) minimising the net loss of existing homes;
- e) regarding housing as the priority land-use of Camden's Local Development Framework.

The Council will aim to secure high quality affordable housing available for Camden households that are unable to access market housing by:

- f) seeking to ensure that 50% of the borough-wide target for additional selfcontained homes is provided as affordable housing;
- g) seeking to negotiate a contribution from specific proposals on the basis of:
 - the maximum reasonable amount of affordable housing under the specific circumstances of the site, including the financial viability of the development,
 - an affordable housing target of 50% of the total addition to housing floorspace, and
 - guidelines of 60% social rented housing and 40% intermediate affordable housing;

- minimising the net loss of affordable housing;
- regenerating Camden's housing estates and seeking to bring Council stock up to the Decent Homes standard by 2012.

The Council will aim to minimise social polarisation and create mixed and inclusive communities across Camden by:

- seeking a diverse range of housing products in the market and affordable sectors to provide a range of homes accessible across the spectrum of household incomes;
- k) seeking a range of self-contained homes of different sizes to meet the Council's identified dwelling-size priorities;
- seeking a variety of housing types suitable for different groups, including families, people with mobility difficulties, older people, homeless people and vulnerable people; and
- m) giving priority to development that provides affordable housing and housing for vulnerable people.

The Council will monitor the delivery of additional housing against the target for housing supply, and will seek to maintain supply at the rate necessary to meet or exceed the target. In seeking to maintain the housing supply, the Council will adjust the type and mix of housing sought, having regard to the financial viability of development, the sales or capital value of different house types and tenures, and the needs of different groups.

Making full use of Camden's capacity for housing

- 6.8 The Council has a target of 8,925 additional homes for the plan period of 2010-2025 (595 homes per year), including 6,550 additional self-contained homes (437 homes per year). This is based on the London Plan, related regional guidance, and our assessment of the supply of developable housing land. The London Plan gives a London-wide target of 305,000 additional homes from 2007 to 2017, and a Camden target of 5,950 additional dwellings (an annual monitoring target of 595 additional homes), which is consistent with the Council's 15 year target. As an advance indication for housing trajectories covering the period 2017 to 2027, annex 10 to the London Plan gives an annual range for Camden of 480 to 1,030 additional homes. The Government Office for London and the GLA produced a guidance statement in March 2008 which proposes that boroughs should roll forward the target for 2007 to 2017 as an 'indicative figure' prior to the adoption of new targets based on the London Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment and Housing Capacity Study 2009 (SHLAA). The Council accepts this approach, and considers that an indicative figure of 595 additional homes per year is a reasonable interim assessment for the period 2017-2025.
- 6.9 Our annual figure of 595 additional homes per year (just under 9,000 homes over 15 years) is made up of three elements. These elements are set out in Annex 10 of the London Plan, and based on the 2004 London Housing Capacity Study:
 - 437 additional self-contained homes each year (or just over 6,500 over 15 years). This covers flats and houses (in Use Class C3) that have been newly built, converted from another use, or formed from a net increase in homes in an existing building;
 - 100 additional homes per year that are not self-contained (or 1,500 over 15 years). These are homes that share common facilities or services, such as hostels, residential care homes and grouped bedsit rooms;
 - 59 homes per year for returning vacant stock into housing use (just under 900 homes over 15 years). This count is based on homes that have been unused for at least 6 months.
- 6.10 The Council produces and updates a housing trajectory as part of its Annual Monitoring Report (AMR). The housing trajectory shows how we are bringing forward sites to deliver self-contained homes over the next 15 years, and measures Camden's anticipated performance against our monitoring target for additional self-contained homes. The AMR also monitors the number of vacant dwellings returned to use and the net gain in non-self contained homes each year. For the entire plan period from 2010/11 to 2024/25, on the basis of the Annual Monitoring Report 2008/09, delivery of additional homes is expected to total 12,250 or around 815 per year. This is significantly above Camden's target of 8,925 additional homes over the entire 15 year plan period.
- 6.11 The housing trajectory shows how we are planning to meet our target for 6,550 additional selfcontained homes over the entire plan period. Our starting point is sites that have already been allocated in the UDP 2006 development plan, and sites that are emerging in the LDF Site Allocations document. For the first five years of the trajectory, the target for additional selfcontained homes can be met from an identified supply of deliverable land in the form of allocated sites, emerging sites and other sites where planning permission has already been granted. For the subsequent ten years, the target can be met from an identified supply of developable land in the form of allocated sites and emerging sites.
- 6.12 The final 10 years of the housing trajectory also includes a figure for 'windfall' sites, which are sites that do not yet have planning permission, and have not been individually identified in a development plan document. We do not rely on these windfalls to meet our target for delivery of self-contained homes, but windfall sites will make a significant contribution to our overall housing delivery, and we consider that they should be included in the trajectory to enable proper planning for infrastructure. This contribution from windfall reflects Camden's circumstances as an inner London Borough with a high turnover in the use of land and high proportion of small sites. The numbers included reflect Camden's history over the period since 2003/04 of completed developments on small-sites delivering fewer than 10 additional homes, and ongoing monitoring suggests that this trend is likely to continue.

- 6.13 Over the period 2010-25, we anticipate that student housing will make up most of Camden's supply of homes that are not self-contained. Our 15-year target is 1,500 non-self contained homes. From 2004 to 2008, the Council granted permission for additional accommodation to house over 1,200 students in blocks designated as student housing, most of which were either complete or under construction by mid 2009. Although many of these include studio flats with en suite bathroom and cooking facilities, each block generally has a common management regime, and some common areas for facilities such as recreation and laundry rooms. Student housing is therefore considered against the monitoring target for homes that are not self-contained. We will seek to manage the development of sites for student housing to ensure that it does not prejudice the availability of sites to meet other housing needs, and particularly the supply of self-contained housing.
- 6.14 The London Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment and Housing Capacity Study (SHLAA) has been prepared by the GLA with the London boroughs. This will provide a new London-wide housing target and new borough targets through a review of the London Plan. The SHLAA was published in October 2009, and proposes an annual monitoring target for Camden of 665 additional homes per year, including 500 self-contained homes. The sites and housing delivery figures that have been identified in Camden's housing trajectory are consistent with the figures proposed by the SHLAA, and indicate sufficient housing sites are available in Camden to meet future London Plan targets based on the SHLAA.
- 6.15 Of the 12,250 homes anticipated in the housing trajectory, we expect just over 60% to be provided in Camden's growth areas, split primarily between King's Cross, Euston, Tottenham Court Road, West Hampstead Interchange, with limited additional provision at Holborn. Please see policy CS1 *Distribution of growth* and paragraph 1.7 for more details of how new homes will be distributed around the borough and policy CS2 for our approach to growth areas.
- 6.16 There is potential for some housing development as part of the Council's estate regeneration programme, depending on separate consultation with residents of each estate, a number of these may provide additional homes alongside improved homes for existing occupiers. However, most of the remaining housing target is likely to be provided in small developments, widely spread across the borough, each adding fewer than 10 homes the 15-year housing trajectory anticipates that around 2,600 homes will be provided from this source.
- 6.17 The London Plan housing targets and Camden's trajectory are based on an assessment of the capacity of the borough in terms of sites that are available for housing. However, we expect the demand for additional homes to vastly exceed the anticipated supply. Household projections predict over 1,000 additional households in Camden each year from 2006 to 2026. This compares with a target for additional homes of only 595 per year, and the trajectory's estimated supply of 815 per year. Furthermore, almost 12,000 households in Camden currently live in unsuitable housing, and almost 6,000 will need to move to more suitable homes (Camden Housing Needs Survey Update 2008). Homes are assessed as unsuitable if households suffer from problems such as overcrowding, major disrepair, mobility difficulties and harassment. Homes that are lost through redevelopment or conversions further widen the gap between supply and demand (the London Plan target is monitored on the basis of net additions). In each year from April 2003 to March 2008, permission was granted in Camden for the loss of 80 or more dwellings.



- 6.18 The Council aims to close the gap between housing demand and supply by minimising the net loss of existing homes, and by regarding housing as the top priority when considering the future of unused and underused land and buildings. We recognise that there are situations where the loss of homes can be justified (such as where two homes are combined to resolve an overcrowding problem), and will take account of the specific circumstances of existing homes and proposed developments. Similarly, we recognise the need for jobs and services and facilities, acknowledge Camden's wider role within London, and respect the value of Camden's built and natural environments. The priority the Council gives to housing will not override, but will be considered alongside:
 - the need to protect some non-residential uses, such as industry, warehousing, community uses and shops across the borough;
 - the need to promote Central London as a national and international focus of business, shopping, culture, education, healthcare and research; and
 - the characteristics of specific areas, sites and properties.

Details of our approach to preventing the loss of existing homes and treating housing as our priority land-use are included in Camden Development Policies (see policies DP2 – *Making full use of Camden's capacity for housing*, and DP1 – *Mixed use development*).



Securing high quality affordable housing

- 6.19 Camden has a particularly large requirement for additional affordable homes. The Camden Housing Needs Survey Update 2008 indicated that an additional 4,800 affordable homes would be needed in the borough every year to provide for existing households (spread over 5 years) and provide for new households coming forward each year. The Survey Update also indicates that of the households in unsuitable homes, over 7,300 are in affordable housing, and the Update estimates that over 4,500 will need to move to more suitable homes. On the basis of all households in housing need and the supply of homes anticipated by the London Plan target, the Survey Update recommends a balance should be achieved by seeking 50% of additional self-contained homes in the form of affordable housing. The Council will therefore apply 50% of the target for additional self-contained homes as a borough-wide target for the proportion of additional homes that should be affordable, which is broadly consistent with the London Plan's strategic target of 50% across London.
- 6.20 The government defines two types of affordable homes, **social rented** housing and **intermediate affordable** housing. Social rented housing includes housing rented from the Council and other registered affordable housing providers such as Housing Associations and Housing Cooperatives. The government sets targets for social rents ensuring that they remain very much lower than market rents. Intermediate affordable housing costs more than social rented housing, but substantially less than market housing. It caters for occupiers who are unable to afford market housing, such as key-workers and first-time buyers. In Camden, most of the intermediate affordable housing developed up to 2009 has been provided by Housing Associations.
- 6.21 The Housing Needs Survey Update found that almost three-quarters of the Camden households needing affordable housing could afford costs that were higher than social rents. In some circumstances, those households would be able to benefit from intermediate affordable housing, however many of these households would be unlikely to choose intermediate housing in Camden. Some Camden households who can afford significantly more than social rents are likely to opt for cheaper market housing outside the borough (although a wider choice of intermediate housing might lead them to stay). Also, Camden households who can only afford to pay slightly more than social rents are unlikely to be able to afford the intermediate housing within the borough, which is relatively expensive due to high house prices and land costs. To balance these concerns, the Council has set guideline percentages for the split of affordable housing at 60% social rented and 40% intermediate affordable housing. We also support a range of different intermediate housing types to make this category more attractive to Camden households, as set out in paragraph 6.33 of this section.
- 6.22 Given the scale of affordable housing need in the borough, the Council will seek the maximum reasonable amount of affordable housing on development sites in accordance with the London Plan. For development proposals, Development Policy DP3 sets out site-specific considerations for assessing whether an affordable housing contribution is appropriate, and what form it should take. The financial viability of the development is a key consideration.
- 6.23 In Camden, a high proportion of homes are developed in small schemes which cannot practically contribute to the supply of affordable housing, and a small proportion are developed in schemes designated wholly as affordable housing (LB Camden Development Monitoring). The Camden Housing Needs Survey Update indicates that the greatest need for additional affordable homes (particularly social rented homes) is for homes with three bedrooms or more, and the greatest need for additional market housing is for homes with two bedrooms (although there is often a market demand for very large homes). Where negotiations for affordable housing take place on the basis of the number of homes to be provided, developers are reluctant to offer large affordable homes. Taking these factors into account, alongside the Camden Affordable Housing Viability Study 2009, the Council will also seek to negotiate an affordable housing contribution from specific development proposals of 50% of the total addition to housing *floorspace*, subject to site-specific considerations. Camden Development Policies give more guidance on how the 50% target will apply, and includes a sliding scale from 10% to 50% for the affordable housing percentage in developments with capacity for fewer than 50 dwellings, together with information regarding the 60% and 40% guideline percentages (see policy DP3). Further details of our approach are set out in our Camden Planning Guidance supplementary document.



- 6.24 On the basis of the annual affordable housing need figure taken from the Camden Housing Needs Survey Update, the annual target for 595 additional homes in the London Plan, and the 50% borough-wide affordable housing target, there is a gap of over 4,000 between the number of new affordable homes needed each year and the target for new supply. The loss of existing affordable housing would serve to widen that gap even further. However, Camden currently has a mismatch between the types and sizes of affordable housing that are most in need and the types of affordable housing that become available from the existing stock. The Council will support proposals that help to adjust the affordable housing stock to fit contemporary and future needs, through redevelopment and conversion (either combining homes to resolve overcrowding, or dividing homes to resolve under-occupation). To balance these factors, the Council will seek to minimise the net loss of affordable housing floorspace, but will not necessarily resist the loss of individual affordable housing (see policy DP4).
- 6.25 The government defines Decent Homes as homes that are warm, weatherproof and have reasonably modern facilities. It aims to ensure that all social rented housing reaches its Decent Homes standard by 2010. The Council has an ongoing programme of works in place to improve its housing stock, and aims to bring the majority of homes up to the Decent Homes standard by 2012.
- 6.26 To transform all Council housing into Decent Homes, we will need to generate significant funds for investment, including £100 million from an estate regeneration programme. Regeneration is a possibility for estates that have a substantial investment need, have development opportunities that could generate investment capital, and have the potential to create more sustainable communities. In many cases proposals are likely to be based on refurbishment, with redevelopment and infill in some cases. Where estates are identified for possible regeneration initiatives, we will apply 'place-shaping' principles, working with residents and communities to develop a vision for the area. The proposals will aim to address local housing needs directly, achieve high standards of sustainability and energy efficiency, and deliver wider social benefits such as helping people get into work and improving health.
- 6.27 The first group of estates identified are:
 - Chester Balmore;
 - Holly Lodge Estate;
 - Alexandra and Ainsworth/Abbey Area; and
 - Maiden Lane Estate.

Consultation on the first two of these is relatively advanced, and it is likely that firm proposals will be in place by 2010. The Chester – Balmore regeneration is expected to involve redevelopment and a small increase in the number of homes (there are 25 existing homes). The Holly Lodge Estate regeneration is expected to involve refurbishment, replacing un-modernised bedsit rooms (over 70% vacant) with modern self-contained flats, providing for existing residents and also returning 80 additional homes to use. Consultation with residents on regeneration options for the other two identified estates is continuing.

6.28 There are several other residential areas with a large number of social rented homes and housing estates, for example, Gospel Oak. Some of these areas are also expected to benefit from estate regeneration over the period of our Core Strategy, subject to consultation with residents and community support for the initiative.

Tackling social polarisation and creating mixed and inclusive communities

- 6.29 One of the objectives of the government's strategic housing policy is to create mixed and inclusive communities. The Council aims to achieve mixed communities by seeking a range of housing types suitable for households and individuals with different needs. The range of housing sought will include:
 - homes affordable for individuals and households across a range of incomes;
 - a mix of homes of different sizes to suit single people, couples, small families and large families;
 - homes suitable for people with mobility difficulties;
 - homes for older people;
 - provision for homeless people and vulnerable people;
 - homes for young adults and students in higher education; and
 - sites suitable for gypsies and travellers and travelling showpeople.
- 6.30 The needs of gypsies and travellers and travelling showpeople are considered in detail in policy CS12. The other listed needs are considered below.
- 6.31 It will not be feasible to include a full range of homes wide enough to meet all needs within every development. On individual sites, we will seek a mix that addresses needs identified at the borough-wide level and local needs, taking into account the characteristics and constraints of the site and area. To achieve inclusive communities, when considering the potential of each site, the Council will give priority to the provision of affordable housing and homes for vulnerable people. Paragraphs 6.46 to 6.48 identify the groups of vulnerable people that most commonly need some form of housing support in the borough.

Affordability across a range of incomes

6.32 The split between affordable housing and market housing will not necessarily secure housing suitable for households across the full range of incomes. The Camden Housing Needs Survey Update 2008 show a large gap between the cost of owner-occupation and market rents and a further large gap between the cost of market rents and the cost of social rents. These gaps are present for all sizes of home, but are particularly significant for homes with 4-or-more bedrooms. This could lead to middle-income households being excluded from Camden, creating social polarisation between low income households in social rented accommodation and high income households in owner-occupation.



- 6.33 Intermediate affordable housing is intended to bridge the gap between social rented housing and market housing. For intermediate housing to tackle social polarisation effectively, it needs to be attractive to a range of household types across a range of incomes, including those that aspire to own their own home and those that can only afford to rent. We will therefore support a variety of different types of intermediate housing, including rent, shared-ownership and models where occupiers can switch from rent to shared-ownership. Further guidance on how the Council will seek a variety of intermediate housing types is given our Camden Planning Guidance supplementary planning document.
- 6.34 The number of market rented homes in London grew by 25% from 2001 to 2006 (Greater London Strategic Housing Market Assessment 2008). The private rented sector is the largest source of housing for people who are not eligible for social rented housing and cannot afford to buy. Future growth may be constrained by the availability of buy-to-let mortgages and falling property values, but demand in Camden is expected to remain high. The turnover of occupiers of market rented housing tends to be rapid (particularly given its popularity amongst young adults and students), so localised concentrations of private renting can harm the stability of a community. However, private renting is thought to play a significant role in limiting the social polarisation in the borough, and the Council will seek to actively foster the sector and support private tenancies for people in housing need.
- 6.35 There is limited potential for the Council to mitigate the impact of high cost home ownership in the borough, but there are measures that can assist access to cheaper housing:
 - we will positively consider proposals to provide low-cost market housing through innovative funding arrangements, designs and methods of construction;
 - we seek a mix of homes of different sizes, which should include small homes as well as large ones;
 - we will resist development densities that are below the appropriate range given in the London Plan density matrix or below the density of the surrounding area, which will help to prevent a focus on very large luxury homes; and
 - the government offers low interest equity loans to help some households into owner occupation.





Homes of Different Sizes

- 6.36 In 2008, we estimate that there were 99,000 dwellings in Camden (Housing Strategy Statistical Appendix 2008). The dwellings are predominantly self-contained flats and houses, meeting the general needs of households of all ages and sizes. Existing homes, especially those rented from the Council, are generally smaller dwellings over 40% of Council homes have 1-bedroom or are studio flats, and almost 30% of the remaining stock has only 1 or 2 habitable rooms (Investing in Camden's Homes Executive Report 23-05-07). Camden Housing Needs Survey Update 2008 indicates that overcrowding is the biggest factor making households' existing homes unsuitable, affecting over 5,000 families in the borough (5.9% of all households).
- 6.37 The range of house sizes sought in Camden should reflect the household sizes we expect to live here. Based on the 2001 Census, we estimate that at least 38% of households need homes with 2-bedrooms or more, although one-person households were the most common type (46% of households). GLA population projections predict that the proportion of one-person households will rise to 51% by 2026, although they give limited information on future household composition. The Camden Housing Needs Survey Update 2008 is the main source of data available on the size of homes needed in Camden.
- 6.38 The Housing Needs Survey Update 2008 uses two models to predict future needs for homes of different sizes on the basis of past migration, past household changes, projected trends, existing overcrowding and households' stated intentions. We have taken into account these models, alongside other factors (such as the reluctance of 'downsizing 'households to take-up 1-bedroom accommodation and the limited stock of existing affordable housing with 4-or-more bedrooms), to identify dwelling size priorities.
- 6.39 The Council's dwelling size priorities are a follows:
 - for social rented housing homes with 4-bedroom or more are the highest priority, 3-bedroom homes have a high priority, 2-bedroom homes have a medium priority;
 - for intermediate affordable housing homes with 3-bedrooms or more are a high priority, but homes of all sizes are required;
 - for market housing homes with 2-bedrooms are the highest priority, homes with 3-bedrooms and 4-bedrooms or more each have a medium priority.

The dwelling size priorities will guide the mix of housing sought across the borough overall, but do not provide a prescriptive basis for determining the mix of homes on individual sites. Details of how the priorities will be used to guide development proposals are is set out in Camden Development Policies (see policy DP5).

People with mobility difficulties

- 6.40 Accessibility issues affect most households at some point (for example, illness, injury, age, using pushchairs). Lifetime Homes are dwellings specifically designed to address a wide-range of mobility difficulties without being tailored to the specific circumstances of a household. The Council expects all dwellings developed in the borough to meet Lifetime Homes standards. Guidance on application of the standards is included in Camden Development Policies (see policy DP6) and our Camden Planning Guidance supplementary document.
- 6.41 Many family households will include someone who needs to use a wheelchair in the home, and will require a home that meets more demanding design standards. The Camden Housing Needs Study Update 2008 estimates that 6.4% of Camden's households include one or more people with a physical disability and that 3.4% of Camden's households include one or more frail elderly people. The Council therefore expects that 10% of homes developed in the borough should either be designed to be wheelchair accessible, or easily adaptable for residents who are wheelchair users, in accordance with the London Plan. Guidance on the 10% policy is set out in Camden Development Policies (see policy DP6) and our Camden Planning Guidance supplementary document.



Older people

- 6.42 Camden currently has a stock of just under 1,800 sheltered homes, around half of which are Council owned. The Council also has slightly fewer than 200 places in residential care homes, and supports care for over 400 other people, split between residential and nursing homes. Approximately half of all care places are outside the borough. People of pensionable age represented around 12.5% of Camden's population in 2001. The number of elderly people is expected to increase up to 2026, although the proportion is only expected to increase marginally.
- 6.43 The Council's strategy for serving older people is aimed at enhancing the support available for people to remain in their own homes or to live as independently as possible in sheltered housing and care homes. We do not anticipate that more people will need to move into sheltered or care homes, but we do anticipate a need to change the character of care homes in the borough. New provision will seek to combine independent living and care on the same sites where possible. Some provision is expected to come from new developments and some from the redevelopment of existing homes for older people. We also expect some care homes to be decommissioned. More details of the changes that the Council expects to take place are set out in Camden Development Policies (see policy DP7). Core Strategy Appendix 1 *Key infrastructure programmes and projects* sets out the new and improved adult care facilities that will be delivered in Camden within the plan period (see items 21-24).

Homeless people and vulnerable people

- 6.44 The Council works to prevent homelessness, guide households into more settled accommodation, and operates a 'pathway' approach that gradually prepares single homeless people for independent living. Since 2005, this work has achieved a reduction of over 50% in the number of homeless households in temporary accommodation.
- 6.45 We anticipate a continued reduction in the need for temporary accommodation, accompanied by a need for fewer hostel places, and a change in the type of places and support that are needed.

- 6.46 The Council provides care for people with serious mental illnesses in partnership with the Camden and Islington Foundation Trust. In mid-2008, around 2,000 people were receiving support, including around 350 in residential or nursing care, or supported housing. During the period of the Core Strategy, we anticipate an increase of around 10% in the number of people with serious mental illnesses, the need remodel some existing residential accommodation to provide intensive supported housing, and the need to provide some additional intensive support places.
- 6.47 In 2007, the Council supported approximately 100 individual tenancies for people with learning disabilities, although some are in clusters and group living accommodation. We anticipate that most future needs for people with learning disabilities will be met by commissioning support rather than providing designated accommodation. However, during the period of the Core Strategy, there is likely a need for remodel or replace some accommodation and to provide cluster flats with high intensity support for people with complex physical and learning disabilities.
- 6.48 Other groups of vulnerable people who commonly need housing support in Camden include looked-after children/young people leaving care; people at risk of domestic violence; people with alcohol or drug dependencies; and ex-offenders. More details of the Council's approach to providing housing support for vulnerable people are set out in Camden Development Policies (see policy DP8).

Young adults and students in higher education

- 6.49 The young adult age group (16-24 year olds) represented around 14% of Camden's population at the 2001 Census, with almost half (8% of the population) being full-time students aged 19 and over. From 2006 to 2026, this age group is projected to grow much more slowly than the total population, to give an overall reduction in the proportion of young adults.
- 6.50 In 2001 over 15,000 full-time students aged 19 and over were normally resident in Camden during term-time. Many more living outside the borough were registered at higher education institutions with a Camden base. The Camden Housing Needs Survey Update 2008 indicated that almost 28,000 full-time students were registered in Camden based institutions in 2006/07, and continued growth is expected.
- 6.51 The Camden Housing Needs Survey Update 2008 indicates that flats and houses in the private rented sector accommodate over 26,000 Camden households. On the basis of the Camden Private Sector House Conditions Survey 2004, we estimate that almost 9,000 of these households either shared a house or flat, or rented a bedsit room in subdivided premises. Almost 4,000 additional households rented private accommodation in hostels, homes that take lodgers, B&Bs and care homes. The 2001 Census showed that the private rented sector housed a third of Camden's full-time students resident in term time. We consider that the private rented sector is the largest source of housing for young adults with a limited income.



- 6.52 Provided that the existing stock of cheap housing such as bedsit rooms can be protected, we anticipate that the private rented sector will be able to support the modest projected increase in young adults. However, it is apparent that the growth of student numbers could place severe strain on the stock of private rented housing. The Council acknowledges that purpose-built student housing has potential to mitigate pressure on the stock of private rented homes in Camden. Therefore, the Council anticipates that most of the figure for non self-contained homes (1,500 homes from 2010/15 to 2024/25) will be met by developments involving designated student accommodation although many of these may include studio flats with en suite bathroom and cooking facilities, see paragraph 6.13 of this section.
- 6.53 Although the housing trajectory indicates that there is sufficient housing land to enable Camden to exceed the target for self-contained housing, there is a high demand for student housing and for development sites. We are concerned that provision of student housing and other housing with bedsit rooms and shared facilities could prejudice the availability of sites to meet other housing needs, and particularly the supply of self-contained housing. Therefore, we will seek to manage the development of sites for these forms of housing with shared facilities to ensure that they do not prevent us from meeting other housing needs. When considering the appropriateness of particular proposals for student housing, bedsit rooms, or other housing with shared facilities, the Council will consider:
 - the supply of self-contained housing, and whether this is falling short of the Council's target of 437 additional dwellings per year;
 - the effect of the proposal on the supply of land for self-contained housing;
 - whether the site is particularly suitable for affordable housing, housing for older people or housing for vulnerable people (more details of the protection of sites particularly suitable for these groups are set out in Camden Development Policies see policy DP2); and
 - whether the proposal contributes to creating a mixed and inclusive community.

The Council's approach to student housing, bedsit rooms, and other housing with shared facilities is set out in detail in Camden Development Policies (see policy DP9).

Flexible implementation

- 6.54 London house prices peaked in January 2008, and Camden house prices peaked in May 2008 (Land Registry 2009 data). Between the start of 2008 and mid-2009, there was a reduction in the availability of credit available to land purchasers, developers and home buyers. This has caused large reductions in house prices, transactions, new mortgages, and the number of new developments starting on-site. These changes raise uncertainty over whether the rates of housing and affordable housing delivery achieved up to 2008 can be continued in the future.
- 6.55 There are other uncertainties that arise from these credit conditions. New mortgages for shared ownership and buy-to-let have been particularly affected, which potentially damages delivery of intermediate housing and market rented housing. In contrast, buyers of premium properties have continued to have access to capital, which has pushed market interest towards a small number of very large homes. These changes raise uncertainty about the ability to deliver a range of homes of different sizes that are available across a range of incomes.
- 6.56 Camden's 15-year housing trajectory suggests that the supply of housing will not fall short of the annual target of 595 additional homes (including 437 additional self-contained dwellings) unless completion rates drop significantly below expectations. Nevertheless, given current credit limitations and falling prices in 2009, there is a need to monitor the supply of housing very closely.



- 6.57 If overall housing supply appears to be threatened by economic conditions, there are a number of areas of flexibility in the Council's approach that will enable us to tailor our objectives to the particular circumstances of each proposal with a view to maximising delivery. These include:
 - varying the proportion of market and affordable housing;
 - varying the split between social rented housing and intermediate affordable housing;
 - positively considering different forms of intermediate affordable housing to take advantage of the funding and credit that is available;
 - varying the range of home sizes sought, particularly amongst market housing; and
 - reviewing the range of S106 requirements sought to maintain viability.

In negotiating the range of housing types and sizes on individual sites, including the proportion and range of affordable housing, the Council will have regard to the characteristics and constraints of the site and the area, progress towards meeting Camden's housing supply target, the financial viability of the development, the contribution the development makes to the creation of mixed communities, and the Council's other planning objectives.

6.58 In seeking to secure the future supply of additional housing, we will seek to work in partnership with many other organisations and agencies involved in the development and funding of housing and affordable housing. These will include our Local Strategic Partners, developers, landowners and private landlords, Housing Associations and other affordable housing providers, the Homes and Communities Agency, government departments and other government agencies, the Mayor/GLA and other local authorities – particularly councils in Central and North London.

Key evidence and references

- Camden Together Camden's Sustainable Community Strategy; 2007 2012
- Camden Private Sector House Condition Survey 2004
- Camden Housing Strategy 2005-2010 (updated 2007)
- Camden Housing Needs Study Update 2008
- Greater London Strategic Housing Market Assessment 2008
- Camden Affordable Housing Viability Study 2009
- Camden Annual Monitoring Report 2007/08
- GLA Round 2006 Demographic Projections
- The London Plan (consolidated with Alterations since 2004); Mayor of London; 2008
- Planning Policy Statement (PPS) 3 Housing

CS7. Promoting Camden's centres and shops

- 7.1 Camden benefits from a wide variety of town and neighbourhood centres with different characters and roles, from Camden Town and its famous markets to upmarket Hampstead, from the furniture and electronics shops of Tottenham Court Road to the ethnic restaurants on Drummond Street. Our centres are of great importance to the life of the borough and those that live in, work in and visit it. As well as providing shopping and services and places of work and leisure, they are a focus of activity and community life and provide character and identity to local areas and the borough as a whole.
- 7.2 This section provides a planning framework to ensure that the vibrancy and vitality of Camden's centres is protected and enhanced. It sets out how the Council will integrate land use measures with environmental improvements, infrastructure delivery, partnership working and investment to protect and enhance the character and function of Camden's centres.
- 7.3 Other policies in this Core Strategy are also relevant to the Council's approach to Camden's centres. Policy CS1 identifies most of the borough's town centres as highly accessible areas that are considered to be particularly suitable locations for uses that are likely to lead to a significant increase in travel demand. It also promotes higher densities in theses locations and encourages mixed use development in the most accessible centres in the borough, helping to promote mixed, vibrant centres. Policy CS3 provides more detail on these areas. Policy CS11 supports the provision of the transport infrastructure needed to support the continued viability of our centres.
- 7.4 Significant new development for a range of commercial uses is already in the pipeline in the King's Cross/St Pancras area, with a total of 20,000 square metres of additional A1 retail floorspace committed or provided through the development of the King's Cross growth area (outline planning permission granted for approximately 15,500 square metres) and the redevelopment of St Pancras Station (approximately 4,500 square metres). The Camden Retail Study 2008 indicates a need for around 27-31,000 square metres of new retail floorspace in the borough by 2026, in addition to that to be provided at King's Cross and St Pancras.



CS7 – Promoting Camden's centres and shops

Distribution of retail across Camden

The Council will promote the following distribution of retail growth across the borough:

- a) in the range of 20,000 square metres net retail floorspace at King's Cross/St Pancras;
- b) in the range of 20-30,000 square metres additional retail at Euston and Camden Town, with the majority expected to take place at Euston;
- c) additional provision as part of redevelopment schemes in the growth areas of Tottenham Court Road, Holborn and West Hampstead Interchange; and
- d) some provision in other town centres and Central London Frontages where opportunities emerge.

We will apply a sequential approach to retail and other town centre uses outside of these areas to support the following network of centres:

Town centres: Camden Town; Kilburn High Road; Finchley Road/Swiss Cottage; Kentish Town; West Hampstead; and Hampstead;

Central London Frontages: Tottenham Court Road/ Charing Cross Road/ New Oxford Street; High Holborn/ Kingsway and the main commercial area around King's Cross;

Neighbourhood centres: located across the borough;

We will also support:

- limited provision of small shops outside centres to meet local needs; and
- appropriate retail provision in Camden's
 Specialist Shopping Areas: Covent
 Garden; Hatton Garden, Museum Street,
 Drummond Street and Denmark Street.

Protecting and enhancing Camden's centres

The Council will promote successful and vibrant centres throughout the borough to serve the needs of residents, workers and visitors by:

- e) seeking to protect and enhance the role and unique character of each of Camden's centres, ensuring that new development is of an appropriate scale and character for the centre in which it is located;
- f) providing for, and maintaining, a range of shops, services, food, drink and entertainment and other suitable uses to provide variety, vibrancy and choice;
- g) protecting and promoting small and independent shops, and resisting the loss of shops where this would cause harm to the character and function of a centre;
- h) making sure that food, drink and entertainment uses do not have a harmful impact on residents and the local area, and focusing such uses in Camden's Central London Frontages, Town Centres and the King's Cross Opportunity Area;
- supporting and protecting Camden's local shops,markets and areas of specialist shopping; and
- j) pursuing the individual planning objectives for each centre, as set out below, including through the delivery of environmental, design, transport and public safety measures.

Distribution of retail growth

- 7.5 We will focus new shopping (and related uses) in Camden's designated growth areas and existing centres, having regard to the level of capacity available in these locations. The borough's growth areas and town centres are shown on maps 1 Key Diagram and 2 Town Centres.
- 7.6 The growth area of King's Cross will provide the major focus for new shop provision in Camden. The King's Cross Central redevelopment will include shops, services and facilities of a scale similar to a town centre to meet the needs of the large numbers of people who will be living in, working in, or visiting the area. Planning permission has been granted for 45,000 sq m of retail, food and drink floorspace (in A use classes). This will be spread throughout the site and will open in phases. It is currently expected that 65% of the floorspace will be operating by 2016. In addition, substantial new retail has already been approved and built at nearby St Pancras Station (see paragraph 7.4 of this section).

Map 2: Town Centres





- 7.7 The majority of retail growth above and beyond that at King's Cross and St Pancras will be delivered at Camden Town and Euston, which contain sites suitable for significant retail development. We consider that these locations have the capacity to accommodate in the order of 20-30,000 square metres of additional retail in total. However, the precise quantum and type of retail to be provided on these sites will be subject to detailed site specific assessments, and an assessment of any impacts on other centres. At Camden Town, Hawley Wharf provides an opportunity to deliver new retail floorspace, along with other mixed uses. There is also the opportunity to deliver a significant amount of additional retail floorspace as part of the redevelopment of Euston Station. This is expected to meet demand from people travelling through the station, as well as serving a local catchment, but should not cause harm to the vitality or viability of other nearby centres, including Drummond Street.
- 7.8 It is anticipated that much of the remaining retail requirement will be met through redevelopment in the growth areas of Tottenham Court Road, West Hampstead and Holborn. At Tottenham Court Road and Holborn the redevelopment of existing buildings will enable the provision of new retail, in particular at ground floor level. At West Hampstead, redevelopment should provide additional retail, which will be focused along West End Lane. Some new retail provision is also expected to be achieved in Camden's other town centres and Central London Frontages. Although the Camden Retail Study 2008 found that these other centres have limited opportunities for the provision of additional retail, redevelopment of existing buildings is likely to provide some increases in shop floorspace.
- 7.9 The Camden Site Allocations Local Development Framework document will identify sites that are expected to provide retail floorspace as part of redevelopment schemes.
- 7.10 In line with government Planning Policy Statement (PPS) 4, the Council will take a sequential approach when assessing proposals for new town centre uses (as defined in PPS4), ensuring that such development takes place in appropriate locations, having regard to the distribution of future retail growth established in Policy CS7 and the hierarchy of centres. Further guidance on the sequential approach is set out in Planning Policy Statement (PPS) 4 *Planning for Sustainable Economic Growth*.

- 7.11 Policy CS7 establishes the hierarchy of centres within the borough. The role and function of Camden's centres varies greatly, reflecting the varied nature of the borough itself:
 - Camden's Central London Frontages serve a similar function to town centres or have a Londonwide or even national retail role, for example Tottenham Court Road;
 - Camden's town centres vary in terms of their size and role, the kind of shops and services they provide and in the distance people travel to them. While with some centres predominantly serve local needs (for example at Kilburn and Kentish Town), others also attract people from a much wider catchment (for example, Hampstead). Camden Town is a major tourist destination, including for international visitors. In addition to Camden's six town centres, Cricklewood neighbourhood centre forms part of a larger District Centre, with the majority of the centre located to the north of Camden within the boroughs of Barnet and Brent;
 - Camden's 36 neighbourhood centres provide for the day-to-day needs of people living, working and staying nearby (see Map 2 – Town Centres). Due to their relative size, Camden's neighbourhood centres are considered to be equivalent to local centres, as defined in PPS4 (Annex B);
 - Camden's individual, and groups of, specialist shops (for example, Museum Street and Covent Garden) contribute greatly to the variety and character of the borough. Whilst our Specialist Shopping Areas do not form part of our network of centres for the purposes of the sequential approach to new town centre development, we will support the provision of new retail in these centres;
 - A number of smaller shopping parades and individual shops also meet local needs for shopping, services and facilities.

Protecting and enhancing Camden's centres

Protecting and enhancing the character and role of Camden's centres

- 7.12 The development of new shops or other town centre uses, particularly when they are large in scale, can have an impact on other centres. In line with government guidance in Planning Policy Statement (PPS) 4 *Planning for Sustainable Economic Growth*, the Council will seek to protect the vibrancy and vitality of its centres by assessing the impact of proposed town centre uses (as defined in paragraph 7 of PPS4) on Camden's centres. The Council will require an impact assessment for large retail development proposals that are not in accordance with the approach in this Core Strategy and
 - would be in an edge of centre or out of centre location, or
 - would be in an existing centre and have the potential to have a harmful impact on other centres.
- 7.13 Further guidance on assessing impact and information on relevant matters to be addressed in retail impact assessments is set out in PPS 4 and the accompanying *Practice guidance on need, impact and the sequential approach.*
- 7.14 The Council will ensure that development in its centres is appropriate to the character, size and role of the centre in which it is located (see below), and does not cause harm to neighbours, the local area or other centres. Shop and service uses (in use classes A1 and A2) and markets are considered suitable for all levels of centre.
- 7.15 The way centres look is an important factor in their character and the way they are perceived Policy CS14 and policies DP24 and DP25 in Camden Development Policies set out our approach to seeking high design standards and preserving and enhancing Camden's heritage. A number of our centres lie wholly or partly within conservation areas (for example, Camden Town, Hampstead, West Hampstead and many neighbourhood centres), recognising their architectural and/or historical importance. Further information on these areas and guidelines on the Council's approach to protecting them and managing change is set out in individual conservation area statements, appraisals and management strategies. The design of shopfronts can contribute greatly to the character of centres and their distinctiveness. Our approach to shopfronts is set out in Camden Development Policies (policy DP30) and the Council's Camden Planning Guidance supplementary planning document.

Ensuring a range of shops and other town centre uses

- 7.16 The success of a centre is strongly influenced by the variety and choice of shops, services and other uses within it. Policy DP12 in Camden Development Policies sets out more detail on our approach to protecting the character, function, vitality and viability of our centres through managing the mix of uses in them and ensuring that development does not cause harm to a centre, to its neighbours or to the local area. Camden has used a range of information sources, including the Camden Retail Study 2008 and comments from local residents and businesses to establish what our approach should be for each centre. The centre specific planning objectives set out below provide objectives for each of Camden's centres, and address the mix of retail and non-retail uses sought. Tourist uses such as hotels and employment generating uses such as offices can make an important contribution to the economic success of town centres - our approach to these uses is set out in policy CS8 and policies DP13 and DP14 of Camden Development Policies. Community and cultural uses add to the vitality and vibrancy of Camden's centres by adding to the diversity of uses in an area, and the variety of activities that take place at different times of the day. Camden's approach to these uses is set out in Core Strategy policy CS10 and Development Policy DP15.
- 7.17 Small and independent shops contribute to the character and diversity of Camden's centres by adding to the choice and variety of shopping facilities available, and avoiding centres being dominated by national multiple retailers. The contribution of small and independent shops to the character and attractiveness of many of Camden's centres is highlighted in the Camden Retail Study. The Council will seek to promote the provision of small units where appropriate and independent shops where possible. We will also seek to protect shops, including those on small shopping parades, where their loss would cause harm to a centre or local area. Our detailed approach to protecting shops and promoting small and independent businesses is set out in Camden Development Policies (policy DP10).

Minimising the impact of food, drink and entertainment uses

7.18 Food, drink and entertainment uses add to the diversity and vibrancy of Camden's centres and bring activity to them outside normal shopping hours. This includes the borough's rich culture of live music, dance and theatre, as well as restaurants and bars. These uses are important to the borough socially, culturally and economically, and contribute to Camden's image as a vibrant and attractive place. However, local residents can be affected by disturbance and anti-social behaviour associated with some of the people visiting such premises, particularly premises serving alcohol. The dense, mixed-use nature of much of the borough, means that it is particularly important that town centre uses such as food, drink and entertainment uses are managed so that they do not cause harm to surrounding communities and the local environment. The Council wants to see the borough continue to be a successful location for food, drink and entertainment uses while making sure that the quality of life of local people, workers and visitors is not harmed. Policy DP12 in Camden Development Policies sets out more detailed information regarding the Council's approach to managing the impact of food, drink, entertainment and other town centre uses.



- 7.19 Food, drink and entertainment uses, such as restaurants, pubs and bars, music venues, cafés and hot food take-aways, are most appropriately located in commercial areas to minimise their impact on the amenity of local residents. Town centres and Central London Frontages are considered the most suitable locations for such uses. Some food, drink and entertainment premises will also be provided in Camden's growth areas, in particular at King's Cross. The Council wishes to see a range of such uses for all age groups within its centres, not just those that primarily involve drinking.
- 7.20 The Council recognises that individual small-scale food and drink uses outside larger centres can be important local facilities, reducing the need to travel and providing community meeting places. It therefore considers that neighbourhood centres are suitable for small-scale food and drink uses (generally less than 100 square metres) which serve a local catchment, provided they do not cause harm to the surrounding area or residents.
- 7.21 The Council's responsibilities as a licensing authority, separate to its planning functions, gives it additional influence on premises that sell alcohol and/or provide regulated entertainment or latenight refreshment. The Council's approach to licensing is set out in Camden's Statement of Licensing Policy. See also Policy CS17 – *Making Camden a safer place*.
- 7.22 The Council has also produced a series of area planning documents (for Camden Town, Central London, West Hampstead and Finchley Road/Swiss Cottage) which give more detailed guidance on how the Council will treat planning applications for shops, food, drink and entertainment uses in particular centres, taking into account their specific circumstances.

Camden's markets and areas of specialist shopping

- 7.23 Camden is well served by markets, ranging from street markets such as Inverness Street, Chalton Street, Leather Lane and Queens Crescent to the world famous Camden Town markets (e.g. the Stables and Camden Lock markets). Markets add greatly to the variety, interest and attraction of shopping in the borough and are a source of local employment, often providing more flexible and casual work opportunities. Street markets can be an important source of fresh food, often grown more locally than food from supermarkets. They can also help to meet the specialist food needs of ethnic communities; black and minority ethnic groups tend to make significantly more use of local markets than the general population.
- 7.24 It is important that markets are carefully managed to prevent any potential negative impacts such as congestion and litter. The Camden Development Policies document sets out detail on the Council's approach to planning applications involving markets (see policy DP11).
- 7.25 Camden has a number of areas which provide specialist shopping, drawing people from beyond Camden and often from beyond London. These include the area around Museum Street for antiquarian books, prints and coins; Hatton Garden for jewellery; Denmark Street for music; Charing Cross Road for books; Tottenham Court Road for furniture and electronics; Drummond Street for ethnic Asian shops and restaurants; and parts of Covent Garden and Camden Town for fashion. Like markets, these specialist shopping areas help to provide variety and individuality that is in contrast to the more standard range of shops found in many centres.
- 7.26 The Council aims to support and protect these areas, which make a great contribution towards the attractiveness and diversity of the borough. Camden's specialist shopping areas fall within Central London and Camden Town, for which we have produced specific area guidance. These recognise the role of our specialist shopping areas and, although councils have limited powers to protect specific retail uses, use the influence available to support and encourage them; for example, by restricting changes from shops (in use class A1) to other uses to maintain a stock of suitable premises.

Centre-specific planning objectives

7.27 Each of Camden's centres has its own character and role. These are described below, alongside the Council's objectives for each centre. The Council will expect development in our centres to reflect the character and role of the centre in which it is located, and meet our stated objectives for that centre.

- 7.28 The Council and its partners undertake a range of work to improve and support our centres. This includes improvements to the street environment and transport provision and measures to improve public safety and prevent crime and anti-social behaviour. Policy CS11 Promoting sustainable and efficient travel and Appendix 1 Key infrastructure programmes and projects (items 39-50, 55 and 56) give details of the delivery of the transport infrastructure improvements and public space enhancements that will benefit and support our town centres and Central London. These improvements will play a crucial role in helping to deliver our centre-specific objectives.
- 7.29 The way that town centres are managed can have an important impact on the success of a centre. The Council is currently in the process of reviewing its Town Centre Management Strategy, and is setting up appropriate management structures in order to pursue continued improvements to its centres. Town centre management will play an important role in taking forward the Council's objectives for each of its centres.



Centre specific planning objectives

Camden Town

Camden Town is a vibrant centre, internationally famous for its unique markets, independent fashion and its music and entertainment venues such as the Roundhouse and Koko. It is also home to many residents and to numerous businesses, small and large, notably media, cultural and creative industries, attracted by the area's unique atmosphere. Camden Town is the borough's biggest centre with the largest range of shops and services, and is designated as a Major Centre in the London Plan. The centre does not have a single character but broadly contains three parts – the commercial heart in the markets and around Camden Town tube station; the southern section which provides more traditional 'high street' shopping and serves a more local role; and Chalk Farm Road to the north with its mixed street frontage of restaurants, bars and specialist shops. A cluster of creative industries in the areas around Camden High Street also adds to the centre's vibrancy. The Camden Retail Study 2008 found that there is demand for the expansion of shop chains into the market area, which could drive up rents and threaten the traders in smaller shop units that provide much of Camden Town's attraction as a shopping destination.

Although Camden Town is a successful centre, it faces challenges in terms of crime and anti-social behaviour. The centre is recognised as a priority for the Council and its partners in Camden's Community Strategy. The challenge is to make Camden Town a successful and safe place with something for local people and visitors of all ages, without losing important aspects of its unique character.

The Council's approach to supporting and promoting the success of Camden Town will include:

- improving the street environment and pedestrian movement, and reducing negative traffic impacts generated along Camden High Street. The Council has a programme of works to improve streets and spaces in Camden Town. Camden Town Unlimited have produced Camden Town First Streets, Spaces and Places A Vision for Change which sets out the business community's aims for improving Camden Town's environment. We will also continue to seek improvements to Regent's Canal, which contributes to the unique character and setting of the centre;
- making Camden Town feel safer through community safety measures. We will continue to work with the police and other agencies to reduce the overall crime rate in Camden Town. Camden's Community Safety Partnership Strategy, Camden Safe, sets out specific targets and actions to reduce crime and anti-social behaviour in the area. All development should include appropriate design measures to prevent crime and anti-social behaviour;
- seeking to protect the special character and attractiveness of Camden Town by pursuing the continued provision of small shop units. Development schemes in the upper part of Camden High Street/markets area (north of Inverness Street and south of the railway bridge) will be expected to provide small shop units consistent with this part of the centre, which is characterised by small ground floor premises. Larger units in this location would be harmful to the character and diversity of Camden Town, and to the viability of small, independent traders. As a guide, units larger than 100 sq m will not be permitted in this part of the centre. Larger shop units will be supported in the southern part of Camden High Street;
- supporting and promoting the creative industries sector in Camden Town. Camden Town has significant opportunities to develop its creative industries, given the large number of existing media, cultural and other creative businesses that are clustered around Camden High Street, and opportunities resulting from the nearby redevelopment and transport improvements at King's Cross. We will seek to enable the growth of this sector by: supporting the provision of new, high quality offices, studios, workshops and other premises, and working in partnership with Camden Town Unlimited, to actively support, promote and attract creative industries to the area;


- managing the balance of retail and leisure uses. The Council will continue to ensure that
 the majority of uses on the southern part of Camden Town (south of the Jamestown Road) are
 in retail use, whilst allowing for more equal balance between retail and non-retail uses to the
 north, as set out in our Revised Planning Guidance for Camden Town supplementary
 document. The Council will welcome uses that add to the centre's choice of facilities and
 attractions for people of different ages;
- ensuring that Camden has a well-managed night time economy. Our planning guidance for Camden Town aims to manage the location and concentration of food, drink and entertainment uses, particularly those which operate late into the evening, so they enhance the area through their contribution to its attraction and vibrancy and do not cause harm to the quality of life of local people or the character of the area and its other uses and activities. The Council's Statement of Licensing Policy contains special policies on the cumulative impact of these uses in Camden Town that restrict new premises licences and new club premises certificates;
- retaining the special built character of Camden Town by promoting high quality design of buildings, shopfronts, signage etc that reflects the scale and character of Camden Town centre. The Council has produced Conservation Area Appraisals and Management Strategies for the Camden Town conservation area and the Regent's Canal conservation area, which includes part of Chalk Farm Road. We will take these into account when assessing planning applications for sites in the area. We will seek to retain the distinctive and varied character of the area's heritage assets such as conservation areas and will expect new development to contribute positively to them;
- promoting and protecting Camden Town's markets. Camden's markets (Camden Lock, Stables, Canal, Inverness Street and Camden (Buck Street) markets) are a fundamental element in the success and vitality of Camden town centre as well as being an important tourist attraction. Please see above and the Camden Development Policies (policy DP11) for further information on our approach to markets;
- **supporting transport improvements**, in particular improvements to Camden Town Underground Station, and changes to traffic circulation; and
- identifying development opportunities. Camden Site Allocations will set out the Council's approach to major development sites in the borough to help deliver the objectives of the Core Strategy and will include sites within Camden Town.

Kilburn High Road

Kilburn High Road straddles the border of Camden and Brent, and is the second largest centre in the borough. It has a large number of small, independent shops and relatively few national chain stores. Although it is designated as a major centre in the London Plan, the centre mostly serves the day-to-day needs of the local population. The Camden Retail Study 2008 found that the economic performance of Kilburn has improved. It also found that the area's evening economy is strong, in particular to the northern end of the High Road, which contains a range of cultural and leisure uses. This is a continuation of Kilburn's historical role as a meeting place and destination for music and other cultural purposes. The southern end of Kilburn High Road has benefited from a number of mixed developments in recent years.

The Council considers that Kilburn will continue its current role serving a predominantly local catchment, while seeking to enable the High Road to take better advantage of its relatively affluent local population, and improving the overall balance and quality of retail available. The Council will continue to work with its partners, in particular the London Borough of Brent and the police, to make the town centre cleaner, safer and more successful.

As there are limited development opportunities on the Camden side of Kilburn High Road, the Council will focus on improving what already exists. A number of ways in which improvements can be achieved go beyond the scope of town planning and relate to management and partnership working; for example, more high quality shop frontages to increase the quality and attractiveness of the centre. The Council work with its partners to investigate providing funding and advice to shop owners to pursue these improvements.

The Council will:

- enhance the street and public spaces through the delivery of further improvement projects in order to make Kilburn High Road a more attractive centre. Where possible, the area's history and heritage should be used to inform the design of schemes to reinforce Kilburn's identity;
- seek to make the High Road a diverse and vibrant centre that takes advantage of its strengths. We will place an emphasis on three 'zones': a shopping core to the centre; a mixed use, cultural zone to the north; and a mixed use zone to the south of Kilburn High Road station. We will focus shopping provision in the core of the centre and allow a wider range of other uses elsewhere – see our Camden Planning Guidance supplementary planning document for more detail on our approach;
- seek the provision of larger units as part of development proposals in the core of the centre, in order to attract a wider range of retailers to the area;
- enhance the character and quality of the 'cultural zone' to the north of the High Road, consolidating and building on the success and attractiveness of existing uses, such as the Tricycle Theatre, music and comedy venues and the range of diverse shops, restaurants, cafes and pubs; and
- improve safety and the perception of safety in Kilburn High Road by requiring development to include appropriate design measures to prevent crime and anti-social behaviour.





Finchley Road/Swiss Cottage

The main shopping area of Finchley Road/Swiss Cottage runs from the O2 Centre, with its concentration of food, drink and entertainment uses, to Swiss Cottage Underground Station, while the refurbished Swiss Cottage Leisure Centre and the listed Swiss Cottage Library provide a focus to the south. The centre runs either side of the busy A41 Finchley Road (managed by Transport for London), which creates a barrier between the two sides of the centre, restricting pedestrian movement and creating a poor environment for visitors. Finchley Road/ Swiss Cottage to continue. We have expanded the town centre boundary to include Swiss Cottage Library and Leisure Centre and the Hampstead Theatre (see Map 16), which provide a focus for the south of the centre.

The Council will:

- support the core shopping area and manage the location, concentration and impact of food, drink and entertainment uses in line with the Council's Planning Guidance for Finchley Road/Swiss Cottage in order to protect the character of the centre and the amenity of neighbouring residents;
- work with TfL to improve pedestrian links across Finchley Road, and to assess long term
 opportunities to reduce traffic impacts along the road, including the possible removal of the
 one way traffic gyratory;
- promote enhancements to the local environment. We will work with TfL to assess how further
 pedestrian improvements could be delivered for the centre, including works to improve the
 public area around Swiss Cottage station; and
- improve 'gateways' into the Centre from key side streets to the west and east of Finchley Road, as proposed in the Camden Local Implementation Plan 2005/06-2010/11.



West Hampstead

West Hampstead centre provides for local people's day-to-day needs for convenience and comparison shopping. It is highly accessible by public transport, with three stations (Thameslink, London Underground and London Overground). West Hampstead Interchange is identified as a growth area in this Core Strategy and the London Plan (see policy CS1 above – Distribution of growth). The extent of the growth area differs from that of the town centre, although the two intersect along West End Lane, between Broadhurst Gardens and the Thameslink station.

The northern end of the centre lies within the West End Green/Parsifal Road Conservation Area and has a high quality environment with a 'village' character. The southern end of the centre around the stations is less attractive and has a poor quality pedestrian environment, although the southernmost part of the centre is in the Swiss Cottage Conservation Area. West Hampstead has relatively high proportions of convenience (food), retail and A3 (restaurants and cafes) uses, many of which are independent.

The Council will seek to ensure that West Hampstead continues to provide a mix of uses to serve the local area, but will avoid further loss of ground floor retail uses. We will:

- work with Transport for London and other partners to improve interchange between rail, underground and bus services and improve the ease of pedestrian movement in the area (see CS11 – Promoting sustainable and efficient travel);
- seek to improve the street environment south of West End Green, in particular, to enhance the street scene around the transport interchange area between Broadhurst Gardens and the Thameslink station;
- ensure that development around the interchange provides an appropriate mix of uses and contributes towards improved interchange facilities and a high quality street environment (see CS1 – *Distribution of growth*);
- seek to control the location and concentration of food, drink and entertainment uses in West Hampstead town centre to ensure that they do not cause harm to residents or the character and retail function of the centre by applying the guidance set out in the Council's Supplementary Planning Document for West Hampstead; and
- make sure that development conserves or enhances the special character and appearance of West Hampstead by applying the guidance in the conservation area statements for the area.

Kentish Town

Kentish Town centre provides shopping and service uses for the local area. The Camden Retail Study 2008 found that Kentish Town has a good range of shops and services for a centre of its size, with many independent traders, and a significant amount of food and drink uses. Although the centre has recently been subject to improvements to the street environment and pedestrian movement, it remains congested for much of the day, bringing noise and pollution impacts for users of the centre.

The Council will:

- support the character and retail role of Kentish Town by managing the proportions of nonretail premises, in line with the approach set out in the Council's Camden Planning Guidance supplementary planning document;
- deliver further street and public space improvements to enhance conditions for pedestrians and reduce the impact of traffic on the centre, including changes to traffic signals, further pedestrian crossing improvements and new local squares; and
- improve the canopy area next to Kentish Town train station, and investigate the possibility of access via a bridge from the canopy area to Kentish Town Overground Station.

Around £500,000 has been secured from TfL to complete the proposals set out above, which form part of the five-year £4 million *Improving Kentish Town* project which is currently being delivered by the Council.



Hampstead

Although one of the smallest of Camden's centres, Hampstead draws more people from outside the borough than any town centre after Camden Town. Visitors are attracted to the area by its high quality environment, 'village' feel and upmarket shops, cafes and bars. The whole centre is within the Hampstead conservation area and includes many listed buildings, recognising its special character and architectural and historic importance. Opportunities to expand Hampstead centre are limited by environmental constraints and a lack of potential development sites.

The Council will focus on protecting Hampstead's current special character, attractiveness and success as a centre, enabling the centre to continue its role as a retail and leisure destination serving a wide catchment area, as well as the needs of the local population. In order to pursue these aims, the Council will:

- expect development in Hampstead to be of the highest quality design and be sensitive to the area's unique character and heritage assets. Development should be consistent with the Council's Hampstead conservation area statement;
- expect proposals for new or altered shopfronts to preserve or enhance the character and appearance of the centre and respect the original frontages;
- deliver small scale street and public space improvements to enhance conditions for pedestrians, where needed; and
- focus shopping provision in the core of the centre by managing the proportions of non-retail uses – see the Council's Camden Planning Guidance supplementary planning document for more detail on our approach.

Central London Frontages

Central London contains a number of shopping and service areas as part of its diverse mix of uses. These range from larger areas predominantly serving workers and visitors to neighbourhood centres serving local residents to areas of specialist shopping. The main shopping streets in Camden's Central London area have been designated as Central London Frontages. The Council's approach to these areas is set out below.

The Council's Planning Guidance for Central London supplementary document provides detailed information on our approach to food, drink, entertainment, specialist and retail uses in Central London. We will take this into account when assessing relevant planning applications in the area. Core Strategy Policy CS11 (Promoting sustainable and efficient travel) sets out in brief how the Council will improve public spaces across Central London. The Council will deliver improved pedestrian environment and signage along key routes, enhancing links between Camden's Central London area with the rest of the West End, and with key transport hubs, including King's Cross, St Pancras and Euston stations.









Tottenham Court Road/Charing Cross Road

This Central London Frontage operates as an extension to the West End and therefore attracts people from throughout London as well as visitors to the capital. It covers Tottenham Court Road, part of New Oxford Street, and the eastern side of Charing Cross Road as far as Cambridge Circus (the western side of Charing Cross Road falls within the City of Westminster). Tottenham Court Road and part of New Oxford Street lie within the West End Retail Special Policy Area designated in the London Plan.

Tottenham Court Road is well-known for is concentration of furniture and electrical goods stores and the Camden Retail Study 2008 found that it was performing well. The area around Tottenham Court Road Station is identified as a growth area in this Core Strategy and the London Plan. Policies CS1 – *Distribution of growth* and CS2 – *Growth areas* set out the Council's approach to development in the area.

Charing Cross Road also has a specialist retail role, with many book and music shops. The Camden Retail Study highlights the need to improve the pedestrian environment at Charing Cross, particularly towards its northern end.

The Council considers that Tottenham Court Road and Charing Cross Road are both likely to continue in their existing specialist retail roles, but considers that significant improvements to the pedestrian environment will be required to address current accessibility issues and to support increased pedestrian flow as a result of growth and the arrival of Crossrail. This will be particularly important at St Giles Circus, given its key location at the junction of Oxford Street and Tottenham Court Road, and its proximity to Tottenham Court Road station.

The Council will:

- promote and preserve the specialist retail character of Tottenham Court Road and Charing Cross Road by managing the level of shop and food, drink and entertainment uses in these areas, in line with the approach set out in our Planning Guidance for Central London supplementary planning document;
- support the expansion of the Central London Frontage and new retail uses along New Oxford Street, where this would not cause harm to residential amenity. Additional retail growth along the Central London Frontage will be achieved through redevelopment and refurbishment of existing premises;
- pursue significant improvements to the local pedestrian environment, including at St Giles Circus;
- work with Transport for London to investigate opportunities to turn Tottenham Court Road into a two-way road; and
- expect development to include appropriate measures to prevent crime and anti-social behaviour.



Holborn

This comprises the shopping streets of High Holborn/Holborn (from the junction of New Oxford Street to Holborn Circus), and most of Kingsway south of High Holborn. It primarily operates as a town centre for local workers and businesses, with a mix of comparison and convenience stores, banks and building societies, sandwich shops and other food and drink uses. The Holborn area is largely characterised by offices, and large office entrances often break up the frontage. Holborn is identified as a growth area in this Core Strategy and the London Plan. Details of the Council's approach to development in the area are set out in policies CS1 – *Distribution of growth* and CS2 – *Growth areas*.

The Council will seek to increase the availability of ground floor retail uses at Holborn in order to create more active public spaces and a more cohesive local shopping and service area. The Council will:

- promote the shopping and service character of Holborn Central London Frontage by managing the level of shop and food, drink and entertainment premises in the area, in line with the approach set out in our Planning Guidance for Central London supplementary document;
- manage the night time economy using the Council's Planning Guidance for Central London supplementary document. In addition, the Council's Statement of Licensing Policy contains special policies on the cumulative impact of these uses in Holborn, which restrict new premises licences and new club premises certificates;
- expect the provision at ground floor level of new shop premises, or other appropriate uses, as part of the redevelopment of properties that do not currently contribute to the shopping and service character of the Frontage;
- improve pedestrian linkages with the West End through street enhancements;
- work with Transport for London to investigate opportunities to improve or change the gyratory system; and
- expect development to include appropriate measures to prevent crime and anti-social behaviour.

King's Cross/Euston Road

This Central London Frontage is the main commercial area around King's Cross, including parts of Euston Road, King's Cross Road and Grays Inn Road. Active ground floor uses along these roads are not continuous, but are broken up by large uses such as King's Cross and St Pancras stations, the British Library and Camden Town Hall. The eastern and western parts of this Central London Frontage have different characteristics. The eastern part is characterised by small or medium scale buildings with a mix of commercial uses on the ground floor serving local residents, workers and travellers, with residential, hotel and office accommodation above. Pressure for additional food and drink uses here has generally been resisted in order to preserve the character and function of this area, and to prevent unacceptable cumulative impacts. The western part mainly consists of large office and hotel buildings. The ground floors of many of these buildings contain shops or food and drink uses which serve the local worker and hotel populations.

King's Cross and Euston are identified as growth areas in this Core Strategy (see Policy CS1 – *Distribution of growth*) and the London Plan. However, the growth areas are geographically separate to the King's Cross/ Euston Road Central London Frontage (see Map 2). The Council will work with its partners to ensure that growth contributes to improving the quality of the shopping environment along the frontage, particularly at the eastern end, reflecting its position as a gateway to London and a key new business area.

The Council will:

- resist proposals for further loss of retail uses or for additional food, drink and entertainment
 uses in the eastern part of this Central London Frontage in order to protect the retail role of
 the frontage and to prevent unacceptable cumulative impacts. The exception to this is the
 block bounded by Pentonville Road, King's Cross Bridge and St Chad's Place, where there is
 currently no housing and redevelopment may provide opportunities for food, drink and
 entertainment activities, as well as retail space;
- encourage the introduction of active ground floor uses, such as shops and other appropriate uses, as part of the redevelopment of existing buildings that currently do not have an active ground floor use;
- permit additional food, drink and entertainment uses in the western part of the Frontage provided that they do not undermine the area's retail function and the mix of uses in the area, in line with the approach set out in Camden's Planning Guidance for Central London supplementary document;
- expect development to include appropriate design measures to prevent crime and anti-social behaviour, in order to make King's Cross and Euston feel safer; and
- seek to improve the street scene along the frontage, particularly at the eastern end, including working with TfL to identify opportunities to enhance the pedestrian environment and crossing opportunities along Euston Road and Pentonville Road.









Neighbourhood Centres

Camden has over 30 neighbourhood centres which cater for the day-to-day shopping and service needs of their local populations. They contain a range of uses including shops, food and drinks uses, doctor's and dentist's surgeries and financial and professional services, and often have housing on upper floors. Housing is the Council's preferred use above ground floor level in neighbourhood centres and we will promote the residential use of vacant or underused floors. Commercial and community uses are considered acceptable uses of upper floors providing they do not cause harm to the amenity of existing residents or introduce activity that would prejudice future residential use on other levels or in neighbouring properties.

The Council will seek to retain a strong element of convenience shopping for local residents in Camden's neighbourhood centres and ensure that any development in them does not harm the function, character or success of that centre. We will take into account the individual character of the centre when assessing development proposals but, as a guide, we will resist schemes that would result in less than half of ground floor premises in a neighbourhood centre from being in retail use or in more than three consecutive premises being in non-retail use. We will also take into account any history of vacancy in shop units and the prospect of achieving an alternative occupier for vacant premises.

Applications for food, drink and entertainment uses will be carefully assessed to minimise the impact on local residents and the local area (see above). The Camden Development Policies document contains the Council's detailed policies to manage the impact of food, drink and entertainment uses (see policy DP12).

Key evidence and references

- Camden Retail Study 2008; Roger Tym and Partners
- Planning Guidance for Central London/Camden Town/Finchley Road/Swiss Cottage/West Hampstead; London Borough of Camden (various dates)
- Camden Statement of Licensing Policy 2008)
- Camden Local Implementation Plan (LIP) 2005/06 2010/11
- Independent Review of Camden Town Centres Final Report; Tribal; April 2009
- The London Plan (consolidated with Alterations since 2004); Mayor of London; 2008
- Planning Policy Statement (PPS) 4 Planning for Sustainable Economic Growth; CLG; 2009
- Planning for Town Centres: Practice guidance on need, impact and sequential approach; CLG; December 2009
- Central London Retail 2009: West End; CBRE

CS8. Promoting a successful and inclusive Camden economy

- 8.1 Camden has a strong and diverse economy that makes an important contribution to the economy of London and the whole UK. It is the third largest employment centre in London after the City and Westminster, and eighth largest in the UK (Annual Business Inquiry 2007). The success of our economy relies on the wide variety of employment sectors that are present in the borough including, professional and business services, the growing 'knowledge economy', for example higher education and research and creative industries such as design, fashion and publishing. Camden also has a large number of jobs in the health sector, hotels and restaurants, legal services and transport and distribution. The majority of jobs in the borough are located south of Euston Road (61%), with the highest concentration in the Holborn and Covent Garden area. There are also concentrations of employment at Euston, Camden Town and the town centres in the north of the borough. Camden also attracts mid- and small-scale creative organisations. These often cluster together in tailored buildings, for example Cockpit Arts and Kingsgate Workshops, or in certain parts of the borough, such as the wider King's Cross area, which contains over 300 small cultural and creative industries, and Camden Town, with its concentration of design and media firms. Camden's shops also have a significant role as local employers as well as being valuable community facilities.
- 8.2 Thousands of people travel into the borough every day to work to take advantages of these opportunities. However, 80% of jobs in Camden are taken by non-residents. Many local residents do not have the skills or qualifications sought by the borough's employers, particularly in 'knowledge-based' business. *Creating a strong Camden economy that includes everyone* is one of the four aims of our Community Strategy, whose overarching vision is that Camden will be a borough of opportunity. To help achieve this aim, the Council's Economic Development Framework will promote the borough as an even better location for business, support local business activity and enable more Camden residents to get involved in employment, education and training.
- 8.3 Policy CS8 will be a key element in achieving the vision and objectives of the Community Strategy and this Core Strategy by providing for the jobs and training opportunities needed to support Camden's growing population and by securing land and premises for the borough's businesses.



CS8 – Promoting a successful and inclusive Camden economy

The Council will secure a strong economy in Camden and seeks to ensure that no one is excluded from its success. We will:

- a) promote the provision of 444,000 sq m of permitted office floorspace at King's Cross as well as in the range of 70,000 sq m of office provision at Euston with further provision in the other growth areas and Central London to meet the forecast demand of 615,000 sq m to 2026;
- b) support Camden's industries by:
 - safeguarding existing employment sites and premises in the borough that meet the needs of modern industry and other employers;
 - safeguarding the borough's main Industry Area; and
 - promoting and protecting the jewellery industry in Hatton Garden;

- c) expect a mix of employment facilities and types, including the provision of facilities suitable for small and medium sized enterprises, such as managed, affordable workspace;
- d) support local enterprise development, employment and training schemes for Camden residents;
- e) recognise and encourage the concentrations of creative and cultural businesses in the borough as well as supporting the development of Camden's tourism sector whilst ensuring that any new facilities meet the other strategic objectives of the Core Strategy; and
- f) recognise the importance of other employment generating uses, including retail, markets, leisure, education, tourism and health.

Offices

- 8.4 The high concentration of property, banking and service activities and large number of publishing and media businesses in the borough mean that over 40% of Camden's jobs are in offices (Annual Business Inquiry 2007). The majority of our office stock is in Central London, particularly in the area between the City and the West End, which is characterised by a high number of small to medium sized, multi-let buildings, with a smaller number of large, single occupier buildings.
- 8.5 The Camden Employment Land Review 2008 forecasts that the demand for offices will increase by 615,000 sq m between 2006 and 2026. To meet this demand, the Council will direct new business development to the growth areas of King's Cross, Euston, Holborn and Tottenham Court Road, elsewhere in Central London, the town centres (except Hampstead) and other accessible established office locations (see policy CS3).
- 8.6 The majority of demand will be met at King's Cross, where 444,000 sq m of new office space has been granted planning permission. There will be further large scale office development in Euston, where the Council envisages in the region of 70,000 square metres of business floorspace being provided in the second half the Core Strategy period. Therefore, King's Cross and Euston are expected to provide over 80% of the projected 615,000 sq m of demand for office space. We expect the remaining demand to be met by significant but smaller levels of office development are also expected in the growth areas of Holborn and Tottenham Court Road as well as the other locations listed above in paragraph 8.5.
- 8.7 Smaller scale office development will also occur at other sites across Central London, with some provision in Camden Town. This will ensure that the remainder of the projected demand for offices is met. There is capacity for the forecast level of provision to be exceeded, subject to market conditions over the plan period. The Council's expectations for major development sites in the borough, many of which will provide office premises, are set out in our Site Allocations document.

- 8.8 The provision outlined above means that the future supply of offices in the borough can meet projected demand. Consequently, the Council will consider proposals for other uses of older office premises if they involve the provision of permanent housing (in particular, affordable housing) and community uses. Please refer to policy DP13 in Camden Development Policies for more detail on our approach.
- 8.9 The Camden Employment Land Review 2008 identifies the town centres of Swiss Cottage, Kilburn and Kentish Town as having an important role for businesses that provide local services. Although these areas are not expected to experience an increase in demand for office space, we will protect existing offices in these locations subject to the criteria set out in policy DP13 in Camden Development Policies. Please see below for further information on measures to support local businesses.

Industrial and light-industrial premises

- 8.10 Camden has one of the lowest stocks of industrial and warehousing space among London boroughs. Our stock includes a few modern, purpose-built premises, a large number of older purpose-built units, railway arches, mews and converted residential spaces. These are spread across the borough with a number of concentrations in areas such as Kentish Town, West Hampstead, Kilburn and Gospel Oak. The Camden Employment Land Review 2008 found that the cost of industrial locations in Camden is high, indicating that supply does not meet demand. However, there has been pressure to redevelop the borough's stock of land used for employment purposes, particularly manufacturing and industry, for higher value uses, principally housing. Once employment land in the borough has been developed for an alternative use it is very unlikely it will ever be returned to industrial use. There has been virtually no new provision of such premises in the borough for many years.
- 8.11 Camden has strong trading links with London's Central Activities Zone (CAZ) and the borough's industrial and warehousing businesses provide it with a range of vital goods and support services. To make sure Camden's new and existing businesses support, and benefit from, the Central London economy, we need to ensure that sites and premises of adequate quality are provided. If suitable premises are not available in Camden these types of services will increasingly be located further away from Central London, with increases in travel and congestion and a potentially negative economic affect on important Central London functions.
- 8.12 Premises suitable for industrial, manufacturing and warehousing businesses provide jobs for people who would otherwise be at high risk of being unemployed or workless. The Camden Employment Land Review 2008, using data from the National Employer Survey 2003 and the Annual Business Inquiry 2006, found that the skills required for these sectors are fundamentally different from other sectors with similar qualification level requirements, such as retail, leisure and hospitality. Therefore, it is unlikely that the retail or hospitality sectors will provide straightforward alternative job opportunities for people losing industrial/warehousing jobs in the borough.
- 8.13 In response to the factors outlined above, the Council will continue to protect industrial and warehousing sites and premises that are suitable and viable for continued use. This will help to provide premises for new and expanding businesses, support the Central London economy and secure job opportunities for local people who may find difficulties finding alternative work. In addition, we will promote development that includes space for industrial uses to serve the Central London business market. Please refer to our Camden Development Policies document for our detailed approach to the protection of industrial premises and sites.
- 8.14 The Council's approach to industrial land is consistent with the Mayor of London's Industrial Capacity Supplementary Planning Guidance 2008, which recognises the limited amount of industrial land relative to demand in Camden and so includes the borough in the "Restricted Transfer" category where boroughs are encouraged to adopt a more restrictive approach to the change of industrial sites to other uses.



Industry area

8.15 There are few concentrations of industrial and warehousing uses left within Camden. The area between Kentish Town and Gospel Oak is the only area of land in the borough to have a mix of such uses and no housing, making it particularly suited for continued employment use (see Proposals Map). The Council will retain this Industry Area for industrial and warehousing uses by resisting any proposals that would lead to the loss of sites in Use Classes B1(b), B1(c), B2 and B8 and sui generis uses of a similar nature. Development should not prejudice the nature of the Industry Area by introducing inappropriate or conflicting uses.

Creative industries

- 8.16 Camden is home to a large proportion of creative and cultural businesses,²³ particularly in the visual and performing arts, music, and video, film and photography sectors. The Creative and Cultural Industries Research Report and Action Plan 2009 found that these types of businesses create around 40,000 jobs and have an annual gross turnover of about £1 billion in Camden. The report also indentifies concentrations of creative and cultural businesses across the borough, with the largest in Camden Town and smaller concentrations in and around King's Cross, Euston, Gospel Oak and Hatton Garden.
- 8.17 Camden Town has one of the largest concentrations of creative businesses in inner London with over 500 creative workplaces and around 5,000 employees.²⁴ Creative businesses are attracted to the area because of its value for money rents are lower than in other creative locations such as Soho and Shoreditch, and also because of Camden Town's unique character, which attracts a young and creative workforce. However, the Economic Impact Assessment 2009 for Camden Town identified a number of barriers which have had a negative impact on the growth of this sector and could potentially undermine efforts to develop and support this important creative cluster. The key finding was a lack of depth and quality of the business offer, and the report recommended a number of interventions including:
 - address shortage in supply of quality premises, suitable for creative industries, under 1000sqft;
 - improve the quality of the streetscape environment;
 - re-energise the retail/leisure sector to diversify offer; and
 - address place identity and resolve conflict between visitor/business identity.

REFERENCES

- ²³ 17.5% of all VAT registered businesses in Camden (2009)
- ²⁴ Source: Camden Town Unlimited Economic Impact Assessment 2009 (Hunt Dobson Stringer)

8.18 The Council recognises the importance of creative industries, especially the contribution they make to the individual character and vitality of the borough. We have a number of initiatives to develop and support the creative economy in Camden, including funding for a wide range of agencies which help to promote the sector, for example, CreateKX which supports the creative businesses in the King's Cross area. We will continue to encourage and support the growth of this sector through implementation of the action plan contained in the Creative and Cultural Industries Research Report 2009, the recommendations outlined by the Camden Town Economic Impact Assessment and also by ensuring the provision of a range of premises, particularly for businesses that require more flexible workspaces (see para 8.20).

Hatton Garden area

8.19 Hatton Garden has been an established centre for the jewellery industry since the 19th Century and today the area is home to nearly 500 businesses and over 50 shops related to the industry. The 2009 Study *Supporting Hatton Garden; Priorities for Investment* examined the progress in strengthening the jewellery sector in the area. The study found that Hatton Garden received increased investment between 2005 and 2009 but that further investment was still needed to give the area a stronger identity and increase the number of visitors to the area. In order to promote Hatton Garden as a location for jewellery-related uses, the Council will seek to secure and retain premises suitable for use as jewellery workshops and related uses, e.g. the planned jewellery visitor centre. The Council's approach to the conversion of premises in Hatton Garden is set out in Camden Development Policies (DP13 – *Employment sites and premises*).

Providing a range of employment premises

- 8.20 Camden has a large proportion of small businesses, three quarters employing less than five people. However, there is a lack of high quality premises suitable for small businesses, particularly those less than 100 sq m. Therefore, we will continue to protect premises that are suitable for small businesses, particularly those under 100sqm, and ensure that new proposals do not result in a net loss of premises suitable for small businesses. Small businesses are often seeking premises that have flexible terms like shorter leases, layouts that can adapt as the business grows or changes, networking space to interact with other small business or meet with clients. Therefore, as well as safeguarding existing employment sites, we will seek the provision of innovative new employment floorspace in developments that will provide a range of facilities including: flexible occupancy terms, flexible layouts, studios, workshops, networking, socialising and meeting space that will meet the needs of a range of business types and sizes.
- 8.21 We will also encourage the provision of managed workspace or premises where this can be incorporated into developments with an employment component. This will help small and growing businesses and social enterprises in Camden to find suitable and affordable premises in buildings which are managed by a third party. Some workspace providers also supply administration and business services as well as a café/bar or other social space. Developers will be expected to liaise with the Council and managed workspace providers to ensure that appropriate accommodation is provided. Please see our Camden Planning Guidance Supplementary Document for more information on the provision of flexible and affordable workspace.

Supporting local employment training schemes and enterprise development

8.22 As noted above, there is often a mismatch in the skills needed by the borough's employers and the skills of many members of the community. Improving access to training will increase employment opportunities for Camden residents by reducing this mismatch, giving them the skills needed to fill jobs both locally and further afield. Therefore, the Council provides and supports a range of schemes and initiatives that help to find local jobs for residents, for example Camden Working, a job brokerage service that provides a 'one stop shop' employment support and advice centre for anyone in Camden looking for a job or training, particularly those who have been unemployed for a long period or may be at risk of becoming long-term unemployed. The Council will encourage employers and/or developers to use this service to ensure they employ a proportion of local people.

- 8.23 To ensure that local residents benefit from the employment opportunities created during the construction of large developments in the borough, specific opportunities have been identified close to Camden's growth areas. For example, a construction training and recruitment centre has been established at King's Cross. which is close to, and will bring benefits to, a number of Camden's most deprived wards and therefore the Areas for Regeneration identified in the London Plan. This provides training in construction and runs a job brokerage service to match trainees to jobs in the construction industry local to King's Cross. The centre has recently achieved National Skills Academy status and receives support and funding from the Learning and Skills Council. We will expect suitable developments to provide training opportunities on-site or make use of the King's Cross construction training centre, for example by using the centre's ready made provision for apprenticeships and other training schemes.
- 8.24 The Council has also established a local supply initiative to help local companies benefit from the economic opportunities arising from the major developments taking place in the borough. This aims to appoint suitable local subcontractors and suppliers from a database of pre-screened local companies from Camden and Islington. The Council will work closely with developers, contractors and sub-contractors to find opportunities within their procurement schedules for local companies and organise events to bring buyers and suppliers together.
- 8.25 Large schemes which have significant job creation potential will be expected to produce an Employment and Training Strategy to cover how the matters covered in paragraphs 8.20-8.22 will be addressed and supported. This will be agreed by the Council and secured via a S106 agreement. More information on our approach to Employment and Training Strategies will be in our Camden Planning Guidance supplementary document.
- 8.26 The Council and its partners have formed the Camden Business Partnership to help support local business and promote enterprise. This provides opportunities to access business related information and advice, enabling businesses to sustain growth. In addition, advice, training and information to help local people to set up their own business or expand their existing small business is available from various organisations that work in partnership with the Council, for example Centa Business Services Camden's enterprise agency.
- 8.27 In addition, the Council recognises the importance of targeted private sector partnerships, including:
 - InHolborn (Business Improvement District);
 - Camden Town Unlimited (Business Improvement District);
 - Mid Town Business Club;
 - King's Cross Business Forum;
 - Kilburn Business Partnership.

The Council will work with local business groups and partnerships, such as those listed above, and recognise their role in supporting Camden's growth.



Tourism

- 8.28 Camden also has an exciting and wide variety of tourist and cultural attractions, from major institutions, such as the British Museum and British Library; to open spaces like Hampstead Heath and Primrose Hill; shopping destinations like Camden Town's markets and Covent Garden; music venues such as the Roundhouse, Camden Palace (Koko) and the Forum; Regent's Canal; and historic places, such as Hampstead and Bloomsbury. These attract 10 million visitors a year from throughout London, the UK and beyond and contribute greatly to the vibrancy, image and economy of Camden and London as a whole. The visitor economy contributes £566 million per annum and provides around 16,500 jobs in Camden, which is 10% of all tourism related employment in inner London. However, relatively few (1,500) of these jobs are filled by local residents (Study of the Visitor Economy in Camden 2009).
- 8.29 The Council recognises the importance of the visitor economy in Camden and will support the continued growth of the sector by implementing the Action Plan set out in the 2009 Study of Camden's Visitor Economy. The action plan recommends activities such as encouraging Camden residents into tourism related jobs, marketing campaigns to improve residents engagement and perception of the value of this economy and increasing the awareness of attractions in and around the borough through schemes such as 'Legible London', which aims to make it easier for pedestrians to find their way around Central London (see policy CS11). See Camden Development Policies for more guidance on the Council's approach to tourist attractions, hotels and other visitor accommodation.

Key evidence and references

- Camden Together Camden's Sustainable Community Strategy 2007 2012; London Borough of Camden; London Borough of Camden
- Camden Economic and Labour Market Profile 2009; London Borough of Camden
- Camden Economic Development Framework 2009; London Borough of Camden
- Annual Business Inquiry 1998-2007 Analysis for Camden; London Borough of Camden
- Camden Employment Land Review 2008; Roger Tym and Partners
- Camden Town Unlimited Economic Impact Assessment 2009 (Hunt Dobson Stringer)
- Supporting Hatton Garden Priorities for Investment Review, January 2009; MCA Regeneration
- Study of the Visitor Economy in Camden 2009; Acorn consultants
- Creative and Cultural Industries in Camden A research report and action plan 2009; URS
- The London Plan (consolidated with Alterations since 2004) 2008; Mayor of London
- Sustaining Success the Mayor's Economic Development Strategy 2005; Mayor of London
- The demand for premises of London's SMEs, July 2006; London Development Agency
- Local Area Tourism Impact Model Camden borough report May 2008; London Development Agency
- Industrial Capacity (London Plan consolidated with alterations 2004) Supplementary Planning Guidance (March 2008) The Greater London Authority
- Consultation Paper on a new Planning Policy Statement (PPS) 4 Planning for Prosperous Economies; Communities and Local Government

CS9. Achieving a successful Central London

- 9.1 The southern part of Camden plays an important part in providing the vibrancy, diversity and identity that makes the borough such a popular place to visit and live in. It forms part of Central London whose unique role, character and mix of uses provides much of the capital's distinctiveness. Camden's Central London area:
 - is a key part of the nation's capital and a major international city;
 - is part of London's Central Activities Zone (CAZ) see below;
 - has a significant residential population adding to its life and diversity and supporting economic and other functions;
 - has a concentration of nationally important medical, research and higher education institutions;
 - is a major business and employment centre and the main focus of Camden's economy. It contains a significant proportion of the borough's office floorspace, a variety of shopping areas, from neighbourhood centres to specialist retail locations like Covent Garden, and is home to many other uses, including legal, health and professional services; food, drink and entertainment and cultural and tourism uses;
 - contains many areas with their own characters and identities e.g. Fitzrovia, Museum Street area, Hatton Garden and Covent Garden – and many places with a high quality and/or historic environment, for example, conservation areas, listed buildings and London Squares; and
 - has excellent public transport links to the rest of London and the UK and routes to mainland Europe.

The extent of Camden's Central London Area is shown in Map 17 in Appendix 6. This area forms part of the Central Activities Zone (CAZ) designated in the London Plan, which extends across nine boroughs. The Central Activities Zone is the core of the capital with a unique cluster of activities contributing to London's role as a 'world city'.

- 9.2 Central London will experience much of the growth identified for Camden in future years, concentrated in the growth areas of King's Cross, Euston, Tottenham Court Road and Holborn. In addition, due to its high level of accessibility other parts of central London may be considered to be a suitable location for uses which attract a large number of journeys. Please see policy CS2 for our approach to growth areas and CS3 on other highly accessible areas. Policy CS9 sets out our approach to the unique pressures and challenges faced by Central London and how we will manage growth in the area to ensure it brings benefits to the borough and beyond and protects and enhances the factors that make a popular place to live, visit and do business.
- 9.3 The challenges facing Central London include managing significant development pressures to ensure that development in growth areas and other locations links with and supports existing communities, and ensuring that its variety of uses can operate and thrive without causing harm to each other. To maintain the character and vibrancy that is provided by Central London's residential communities, there is a need to continue to provide a range of homes including affordable housing, and necessary community facilities and open space. Road and public transport congestion, air quality, noise, the quality of streets and spaces, the management of the night time economy and reducing opportunities for crime and anti-social behaviour are also important issues in this part of the borough.







CS9 – Achieving a successful Central London

The Council will support and promote the Central London area of Camden as a successful and vibrant part of the capital to live in, work in and visit. We will:

- a) recognise its unique role, character and challenges;
- b) support Central London as a focus for Camden's future growth in homes, offices, hotels, shops and other uses;
- c) seek to ensure that development in Central London, in the growth areas of King's Cross, Euston, Tottenham Court Road and Holborn and beyond, contributes to London's economic, social and cultural role while meeting the needs of local residents and respecting their quality of life;
- d) support residential communities within Central London by protecting amenity and supporting community facilities;
- e) seek to secure additional housing and affordable homes, including as part of appropriate mixed use developments;
- f) take into account the specific identity of the areas within Central London when taking decisions on planning applications and in relevant initiatives and works;

- g) promote and protect areas of specialist activity, such as the Museum Street area and Hatton Garden;
- h) support the concentration of medical, educational, cultural and research institutions within central London;
- i) preserve and enhance the area's historic environment;
- seek to improve the quality of the area's streets and places, the connections between them and the ease of movement into, and through, the area;
- k) continue to designate Central London as a Clear Zone Region to reduce congestion, promote walking and cycling and improve air quality;
- I) promote improved community safety;
- m) manage the location and concentration of food, drink and entertainment uses and their impact;
- n) allocate sites within Central London for appropriate uses, including offices and housing, in the Camden Site Allocations document.
- 9.4 The Council will seek to promote a successful Central London area while achieving a balance between the interests of its residents and the area's economic, social and cultural use and roles. As Central London experiences the most intense development pressures in the borough and contains a diverse and dense mix of uses, including a significant residential community, the need to ensure that development supports the continued success of the area but does not cause harm to its neighbours is particularly acute in this part of the borough (please see policy CS5 and policy DP26 *Managing the impact of development on occupiers and neighbours* in Camden Development Policies).
- 9.5 Central London is the location of most of Camden's growth areas (King's Cross, Euston, Tottenham Court Road, Holborn). Development in these areas, and throughout Central London, should contribute to the area economically, socially and environmentally, through providing a substantial number of new jobs and space for businesses; supporting community facilities; protecting and improving the amenity of local residents; being of high quality design and by contributing to improving open space. Camden's Central London area will continue to be the borough's economic focus, contributing to the success of the Central Activities Zone (CAZ) and London's role as a major global city, and providing the majority of jobs in Camden. This Core Strategy identifies Central London as the focus of the majority of future office and retail development in the borough over the next 15 years, with King's Cross the location of a substantial proportion of this growth (please see policies CS8 *Promoting a successful and inclusive Camden economy* and CS7 *Promoting Camden's centres and shops*).



- 9.6 Camden's Central London area is a major draw for Londoners and for tourists visiting the city, making a significant contribution to the attractiveness and economy of both the borough and the capital. Attractions include the British Museum, Covent Garden, Hatton Garden and numerous theatres, bars and restaurants. These are also used by Camden residents and are therefore important local facilities. Central London is considered an appropriate location for facilities that attract large numbers of visitors; however, it is important that these do not harm to local character or amenity or cause congestion. (See policies CS1 *Distribution of growth*, policy CS2 *Growth areas*, CS3 *Other highly accessible areas* and Camden Development Policies policy DP14 *Tourism development and visitor accommodation*).
- 9.7 Policy CS7 – Promoting Camden's centres and shops (supported by policy DP12 in Camden Development Policies) seeks to make sure that new food, drink and entertainment uses do not cause harm to our centres, the local area or the amenity of residents. This is a particular issue in Covent Garden and other parts of Central London. Within Covent Garden and the Charing Cross Road area, new entertainment uses will only be allowed where they are small in scale, have a low impact and will not result in an increased concentration of late night uses. The Council has produced area-specific Planning Guidance for Central London which seeks to manage the location and concentration of food, drink and entertainment uses, particularly those which operate late into the evening, so they contribute to Central London's vibrancy in a way that does not harm the quality of life of local people, the character of the area or other uses or activities. It gives detailed guidance on how the Council will consider the potential impacts of proposals for food, drink and entertainment uses and protect the amenity of residents. In addition, Camden's Statement of Licensing Policy 2008 recognises the concentration of licensed premises in the Seven Dials area of Covent Garden and identifies it as an area subject to special policies on cumulative impact, with a presumption against applications for new premises licences and new club premises certificates.

- 9.8 In addition to providing detailed, locally specific guidance on food, drink and entertainment uses, our Planning Guidance for Central London supplementary document also makes wider recognition of the challenges and pressures experienced in the area. The Guidance recognises that the local areas within Central London, and their residential communities, have different characteristics and pressures. For each local area, it identifies specific issues and provides guidance on how the Council will seek to manage competing interests so that development does not cause harm to the character of the area or the amenity of local residents. The Council will take into account Planning Guidance for Central London when making decisions on planning applications in the area.
- 9.9 There are many conservation areas in Camden's Central London area (Bloomsbury, Charlotte Street, Denmark Street, Hatton Garden, King's Cross, Seven Dials and parts of Regent's Canal and Regent's Park), covering the majority of the area, as well as number of historic London Squares and many listed buildings. This illustrates the high quality of much of the area's built environment and reflects its historical and architectural importance. The Council will take the conservation area statements, appraisals and management strategies for these areas into account when assessing planning applications for sites in the area. We will seek to make sure that the design of new development contributes positively to the area and respects Central London's full range of heritage assets.
- 9.10 The Council is undertaking many schemes to encourage walking and cycling in Central London and improve its street environment. For example, we work jointly with Westminster and the City of London in the Clear Zone Partnership, which covers the Central London area (see policies CS14 *Promoting high quality places and conserving our heritage* and policy DP32 *Air quality and Camden's Clear Zone* in Camden Development Policies). Works in the area include physical improvements to make streets more pedestrian and cycle friendly; enhancing historic streets by improving paving and lighting; and better signage to help pedestrians find their way around the area.
- 9.11 The Camden Site Allocations document will identify the main development opportunities in Central London and set the framework for their development. More detail on our approach to a number of the issues mentioned above is set out in the Camden Development Policies document.

Key evidence and references

- Camden Retail Study 2008; Roger Tym and Partners
- Camden Employment Land Review 2008
- Revised Planning Guidance for Central London Food, Drink and Entertainment and Specialist and Retail Uses; London Borough of Camden; 2007
- Camden Statement of Licensing Policy 2008
- The London Plan (consolidated with Alterations since 2004); Mayor of London; 2008



CS10. Supporting community facilities and services

- 10.1 A key part of our strategy for managing Camden's future growth is making sure that the services, facilities and infrastructure to support the local community and visitors to the borough are provided in suitable locations to meet increasing demand caused by our growing population. The provision of community facilities also plays a key role in meeting the Camden Community Strategy theme *A connected Camden community where people lead active, healthy lives,* which seeks to encourage a greater sense of community. Camden's community facilities provide people with opportunities to meet, learn, socialise and develop skills and interests and, by doing this, help improve their quality of life. Making provision for these needs locally plays an important part in developing community life in the borough by bringing people together and encouraging them to take responsibility for the local area.
- 10.2 The Council will seek to ensure that a wide range of services and facilities to meet community needs are provided in the borough, including education and childcare, health facilities (also covered in policy CS16), police and emergency service facilities, libraries, sports and leisure facilities, culture and arts, advice centres, community halls/meeting rooms, places of worship, youth facilities and public conveniences. Parks and open spaces are covered in policy CS15.

CS10 – Supporting community facilities and services

The Council will work with its partners to ensure that community facilities and services are provided for Camden's communities and people who work in and visit the borough. This includes:

- a) the provision of a new secondary school at Swiss Cottage, a new primary school in King's Cross and a range of improvements to 16 schools and educational facilities across the borough by 2014;
- b) supporting the higher education sector in Camden and balancing its requirements with those of other sectors and the local community. In assessing applications for higher education use, the Council will ensure that such developments are sensitive to their surroundings, take into account the cumulative impact on the balance and mix of uses in the area, protect residential uses, the local environment and the amenity of, and services for, the residential community and other users of the area and their future needs;

- c) supporting the Metropolitan Police and their plans to create more neighbourhood facilities and a new custody centre and patrol base;
- d) providing a range of other community facilities to support Camden's growing population.

The Council will:

- e) require development that increases the demand for community facilities and services to make appropriate contributions towards providing new facilities or improving existing facilities;
- f) support the retention and enhancement of existing community, leisure and cultural facilities; and
- g) facilitate the efficient use of community facilities and the provision of multipurpose community facilities that can provide a range of services to the community at a single, accessible location.



Providing community facilities

10.3 Camden currently has a wide variety of community facilities that are provided by the Council or the voluntary sector. The paragraphs below describe how we will seek to deliver the specific facilities and services. Please also see policy CS15 for our approach to providing open spaces and policy CS16 for our approach to health facilities.

Education and training facilities

10.4 The Council aims to provide a high standard of education and training for everyone through the borough's network of schools, youth centres and arts and recreation facilities. We will also work with our partners, such as the higher and further education colleges and universities, neighbouring authorities and the community and voluntary sector, to ensure that suitable services and facilities for education and training are provided.

Schools

- 10.5 The Council has a series of strategies that set out the borough's future requirements for school places and facilities and how they will be addressed.
 - The current Building Schools for the Future (BSF) 2007-2014 programme sets out how we will meet the need for secondary education which includes:
 - a new secondary school on Adelaide Road in Swiss Cottage;
 - rebuilding of Maria Fidelis Convent School and conversion to mixed entry;
 - further improvements to six other schools and three pupil referral units; and
 - provision of 530 additional post-16 school places.
 - The Primary Strategy for Change sets out the vision and funding programme for delivering improvements in primary age learning between 2009-2023 and includes the provision of:
 - a new primary school in the King's Cross growth area;
 - the expansion of Emmanuel School in West Hampstead;
 - the relocation of Frank Barnes School;
 - the refurbishment of Carlton Primary School; and
 - improvements to two specialist schools.
 - A number of strategies also cover the provision of care and facilities for nursery and pre-school age children (Childcare Sufficiency Assessment, the Phase 3 Children's Centre Strategy and the Primary Strategy for Change).

The Council will work to ensure the adequate provision of school places beyond the period covered by the above strategies through school place planning analysis and by responding to local concerns, for example, by considering the need for a school south of Euston Road. The table of key infrastructure programmes and projects in Appendix 1 provides more details on planned education schemes (see items 1-12).



Adult learning

10.6 The Council offers a range of adult and community learning, provided by libraries, schools, community centres and also by partner organisations, such as the City Lit Institute, the Mary Ward Centre, Westminster Kingsway College, Birkbeck College and the Learning and Skills Council. To expand the range of courses and facilities on offer, we are working with our partners to build on existing out-of-school programmes; increase the number of venues providing adult and community learning, particularly in deprived areas; and encourage the use of local cultural institutions, such as the British Museum and British Library, for educational workshops and lectures.

Higher and further education

10.7 Higher and further education facilities are clustered in Camden's Central London Area, particularly in Bloomsbury and Fitzrovia and include: University College London (UCL) and its associated medical institutions, such as the UCL Hospital, the National Hospital for Neurology and Neurosurgery; the Eastman Dental Institute and the University of London, including King's College, the School of Oriental and African Studies, and the School of Pharmacy. The Council recognises the importance of the higher and further education sector in Camden and will seek to support and balance its requirements with those of other sectors and the local community. While generally supporting the expansion of higher education use in the borough, the Council recognises that in areas where such uses already have an extensive presence they can have a harmful impact and will assess applications for such uses against the criteria set out in CS10 b). Please see policy CS5 for more information on how we will balance the needs of the residential communities with other interests in the borough and policy CS9 for information on how we will support residential communities in Central London

Facilities for children and young people

- 10.8 We will aim to make sure that children and young people receive the services and support they need by working with our partners, including schools, the voluntary and community sector, parents and carers, and the children and young people themselves. We will implement our Children and Young People's Plan which aims to improve the experiences of children and young people in Camden and details the areas we are working to improve, in particular:
 - keeping children safe;
 - raising school standards; and
 - helping children achieve their full potential.

- 10.9 A number of projects are underway to help achieve these aims. For example, 75% of Camden's schools are now offering extended services which will support children and their families outside of school hours by offering childcare, parenting advice and support, after-school activities and classes, community access to sports, IT and arts facilities. The aim is to eventually have all the Council's schools offering extended services. Schools have also increased the number of vocational subjects they teach from 4-10 to help more young people into jobs and provide a link into the Camden Jobtrain service which provides training and apprenticeships for young people in various sectors, including construction, childcare and motor mechanics. The Council aims to increase the number of apprenticeships available to young people and to widen the variety of occupational areas from 5 to 10.
- 10.10 The lack of childcare facilities often prevents people from taking up employment opportunities or restricts them to part-time jobs that are close to home. The Council will therefore encourage non-residential developments to include provision for child care facilities. Please see policy CS8 *Promoting a successful and inclusive Camden economy* for more information on how this strategy supports schemes that encourage Camden residents into training and jobs.

Facilities for older people

10.11 Older people in Camden make up 12% of the population (Source: GLA 2006 Round of Demographic Projections (RLP High) GLA, 2007) and generate the greatest demand for health care, social care and support services. The Council has a number of strategies that work together to address the challenges faced by the borough's older people, including Camden's Quality of Life Strategy for Older Citizens, the Serving Older People Strategy, Homes for Older People and the Health Improvement Programme for Older People. These strategies envisage an increasing amount of care taking place at home with people staying in their homes longer, although there will still be a requirement for day-centres, long-term care homes, nursing care homes and extra-care sheltered housing. Detail on our approach to providing these facilities is set out in Camden Development Policies (policy DP7). We will also work with our partners to continue to provide more informal services and facilities such as lunch clubs, exercise classes, learning opportunities, networking groups and meeting places.

Faith facilities

10.12 Camden has many meeting places, churches, synagogues, temples, community facilities and prayer centres that cater for a range of faiths and beliefs. The Council will seek to support community organisations and religious groups to help them to meet their need for faith facilities. For example, the Council is currently working with the Muslim community, who want a purpose built Islamic cultural centre and mosque in the borough, to form a community led project team which will develop the plans for these.



伦敦基督教华人播道会 GREGATION METHODIST CHURCH KINGS CROSS NEED CON 日崇拜:每主日下午一時正 计连续号 主日際保資会後 每月第一和第三之 星期六晚上六时正 上任化师:伟大街北印(Res.David Foo) \$16/FAX: 020 7833 1432 請請被做 # Hirkenhead Streetif.





Sports and leisure facilities

- 10.13 Camden's Open Space, Sport and Recreation Study Update 2008 identifies a shortage of indoor sports facilities in the borough, with the exception of swimming pools. To address this shortfall, the Council will provide new sports facilities on nine school sites. These will be provided through the Council's Building Schools for the Future programme. The timescale for delivery has not yet been confirmed, although construction is expected to begin in 2012 at the first two schools South Camden Community School and Swiss Cottage. After a long period of closure for refurbishment the Kentish Town Leisure Centre is due to re-open in 2010. The Council also has plans to invest in refurbishment works at the Oasis sports centre near Covent Garden. In addition there will be a new leisure facility in the King's Cross growth area, which will include a swimming pool and indoor sports facilities. The table of key infrastructure programmes and projects in Appendix 1 provides more details on the planned sport and leisure facilities (items 25-32).
- 10.14 The Council and its partners are also developing a Sports and Physical Activity Strategy which will outline our vision for how we can use sports and physical activity to maximise opportunities for those who live, work or go to school in the borough. The Sports Strategy will focus on St Pancras and Somers Town, Gospel Oak and Regents Park, as these are the wards with lowest levels of activity.²⁵ Please see policy CS15 for more information on how we will protect open space and outdoor sports facilities in Camden.

Arts and cultural facilities

10.15 Camden is home to a host of arts and cultural facilities, including many of London's and the UK's leading cultural institutions such as the British Museum and the British Library, as well as number of theatres, galleries, dance and music venues, such as the Dominion Theatre, the Roundhouse, the Foundling Museum, Hampstead Theatre, The Place and the Proud Galleries. These leisure facilities serve Camden's residents as well as those who work and visit the borough and are therefore protected and encouraged by policy CS10. The Council works in partnership with a wide range of institutions and various community groups to deliver art and cultural projects, for example, by hosting and supporting community festivals across the borough. We also encourage public art installations, organise workshops and provide space for local artists, for example in Swiss Cottage Library and Kingsgate Community Workshops. Please see Policy DP15 for more information on how we will protect and support leisure facilities.

Public toilets

10.16 The Council and other organisations run a number of public toilets within the borough which provide facilities for residents and visitors. Due to the high maintenance costs and the problems with vandalism, especially connected with underground Victorian facilities, many public toilets have closed. The Council will work with developers to provide new public toilets in the growth areas or as part of major redevelopment schemes and will continue to encourage community toilet schemes in our town centres. For example, a successful scheme has been running in Kentish Town since 2007 where local businesses allow the public to access their toilet facilities.

REFERENCES

²⁵ Draft Camden Sport & Physical Activity Needs Assessment 2008

Policing and emergency services

10.17 The Metropolitan Police Authority have prepared an Asset Management Plan which sets out how they will improve their operational estate which will comprise a move towards more local "front counter" facilities and neighbourhood policing facilities across the borough to provide enhanced accessibility. This will be supported by the centralisation of custody cells, patrol bases and associated operational facilities. We will work with the Police to help deliver their planned improvements once they have been agreed. The London Fire Brigade (LFB) has four stations in Camden – Euston, Belsize Park, Kentish Town and West Hampstead. The LFB is reviewing the current fire service provision and may seek to redevelop stations in the future as necessary. Ambulances are provided by the London Ambulance Service (LAS) NHS Trust from a network of ambulance stations across London. Camden has two ambulance stations which are located in Gospel Oak and Bloomsbury. The London Ambulance Service is working with local primary care providers, such as NHS Camden, to consider the opportunity of locating new primary healthcare and ambulance services together when developing any estate strategy. See Policy CS16 for more information on healthcare services in Camden. The table of key infrastructure programmes and projects in Appendix 1 provides more details on the planned policing and emergency service schemes. (see items 33-38).

Community facilities and development

- 10.18 Camden's population is expected to continue growing, which will increase demand for community uses in the future. To ensure that we continue to meet the demand for community facilities, developments will be expected to make commensurate provision for new, or improvements to existing, facilities. This will help to meet the needs of new residents and mitigate impacts on the existing community. Please see policy DP15 in Camden Development Policies for more information on our approach to the provision of community uses and Policy CS19 for more information on planning obligations.
- 10.19 We recognise that increasing the number of community, and some leisure, facilities in Camden will be difficult due to competition from other, higher value land uses and due to the pressure on existing facilities to be redeveloped for more profitable uses. Therefore we will seek to protect existing community facilities where they are necessary to support the local population. Please see policy DP15 in Camden Development Policies for our detailed approach to protecting community and leisure facilities.





- 10.20 Community facilities can provide a range of services in one location, for example a community hall can be used for meetings, performances, exercise classes, exams, rehearsals and other uses. Grouping facilities together allows a greater number of services to be provided in a single place and encourages links between them. The Council and other service providers are increasingly moving towards integrating their services to ensure that residents can access advice and assistance in the most convenient way. For example:
 - the '1a Community Centre' in Clerkenwell was redeveloped by the Council to provide a new Children's Centre where local residents can access nursery facilities, health and family support services or hire a room for community meetings/events; and
 - the new Kentish Town Health Centre now provides health services, social services, housing, welfare advice and many other activities.
- 10.21 Grouping community facilities in a single location or in one building makes efficient use of land, which is particularly important in Camden where there are few opportunities for new community facilities. Therefore, the Council will support multi-purpose community facilities that can provide a range of services and facilities to the community at one accessible location. We will also encourage the use of existing community facilities for more than one use, and support the use of other types of premises for community use, for example, making meeting rooms in offices available to the local community.

Key evidence and references

- Camden Together Camden's Sustainable Community Strategy; 2007-2012
- Camden's Children and Young People's Plan 2009-12
- Draft Camden Pro-Active Sports and Physical Activity Strategy 2008
- Draft Camden Sport & Physical Activity Needs Assessment 2008
- Building Schools for the Future Programme
- NHS Camden Strategic Plan 2008-13

CS11. Promoting sustainable and efficient travel

- 11.1 Camden benefits from excellent transport provision, including a direct link to continental Europe through St Pancras International; national rail services at King's Cross, St Pancras and Euston; 23 tube stations within the borough or on its boundary, 55 bus routes and 27 night bus routes. These provide excellent accessibility within Camden, to the rest of London and beyond. However, the borough also faces considerable challenges in relation to transport. Its road and public transport networks are subject to significant congestion, and air quality is a serious issue.
- 11.2 The Council needs to address these challenges and ensure that transport provision contributes towards our approach to managing the significant growth in the borough, as set out in Section 1. Policy CS11 promotes a range of sustainable transport measures and the delivery of additional infrastructure to support growth and relieve existing pressures on the transport system. It builds on, and helps to deliver, the sustainable transport priorities established in the Council's Green Transport Strategy. This aims to encourage more walking and cycling and reduce traffic in the borough by 15% from 2001 levels.



CS11 – Promoting sustainable and efficient travel

The Council will promote the delivery of transport infrastructure and the availability of sustainable transport choices in order to support Camden's growth, reduce the environmental impact of travel, and relieve pressure on the borough's transport network.

Improving strategic transport infrastructure to support growth

The Council will promote key transport infrastructure proposals to support Camden's growth, in particular:

- a) King's Cross station improvements;
- b) the redevelopment of Euston Station and the provision of an improved public transport interchange;
- c) Crossrail services and associated station improvements at Tottenham Court Road;
- d) improved interchange at West Hampstead;
- e) improvements to facilities at Camden's London Underground and Overground stations, including at Camden Town and Holborn; and
- f) improvements to encourage walking and cycling as part of transport infrastructure works.

The Council will protect existing and proposed transport infrastructure (including routes for walking, cycling and public transport, interchange points, depots and storage facilities) against removal or severance.

Promoting sustainable travel

In order to support Camden's growth and to promote walking, cycling and public transport, the Council will:

 g) improve public spaces and pedestrian links across the borough, including by focusing public realm investment in Camden's town centres and the Central London area, and extending the 'Legible London' scheme;

- h) continue to improve facilities for cyclists, including increasing the availability of cycle parking, helping to deliver the London Cycle Hire Scheme, and enhancing cycle links; and
- i) work with Transport for London to improve the bus network and deliver related infrastructure, and support proposals to improve services and capacity on the tube, London Overground and Thameslink.

Making private transport more sustainable

As part of its approach to minimising congestion and addressing the environmental impacts of travel, the Council will:

- expand the availability of car clubs and pool cars as an alternative to the private car;
- k) minimise provision for private parking in new developments, in particular through:
 - car free developments in the borough's most accessible locations and
 - car capped developments;
- restrict new public parking and promote the re-use of existing car parks, where appropriate;
- m) promote the use of low emission vehicles, including through the provision of electric charging points; and
- n) ensure that growth and development has regard to Camden's road hierarchy and does not cause harm to the management of the road network.

Promoting the sustainable movement of freight

The Council will seek to reduce freight movement by road; encourage the movement of goods by canal, rail and bicycle; and minimise the impact of freight movement on local amenity, traffic and the environment.

Improving strategic transport infrastructure to support growth

11.3 The strategic transport infrastructure projects identified in policy CS11 will play a central role in supporting future growth in the borough, with the development concentrated in locations that are, or will be, subject to significant improvements to transport facilities, services and capacity. The key infrastructure programmes and projects identified in Appendix 1 set out further details regarding these schemes, including delivery timescales and responsibilities, and sources of funding (items 39-50). Map 3 shows Camden's key existing and proposed transport infrastructure.

Map 3: Transport



This map is based on Ordnance Survey Material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office ©. Unauthorised reproduction infinges Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Licence number LA100019726, year 2010.



- 11.4 All of Camden's growth areas (see policies CS1 and CS2) will be subject to significant improvements in strategic transport infrastructure:
 - King's Cross will benefit from improved station facilities, significant tube capacity increases and improved service capacity and frequency on the Thameslink line;
 - Euston will also benefit from an improved station and associated facilities and significant tube capacity increases. The Council will seek to deliver enhanced walking and cycling links to surrounding areas from both Euston and King's Cross;
 - Tottenham Court Road Station is due to be served by Crossrail by 2018 and there will be a new Crossrail station linked to Tottenham Court Road underground station. The Underground station will also benefit from substantial improvements and from additional tube capacity through planned Northern Line upgrades. The Council will work with its partners to ensure that walking links are improved around the station in order to accommodate the expected increase in pedestrian activity in the area;
 - Holborn will benefit from increased tube capacity through the Piccadilly Line upgrade and, over the longer term, the Council will pursue opportunities to deliver substantial improvements to Holborn Underground station, although funding for such works has not yet been identified. The provision of a Crossrail interchange at Farringdon, located adjacent to the borough boundary in Islington, will provide additional capacity to the south east of the borough. This and measures at Tottenham Court Road may help to alleviate current pressure on Holborn station. Improvements to pedestrian signage through the 'Legible London' scheme should also make it easier for pedestrians to find their way around the area; and
 - West Hampstead will benefit from improved service capacity at its Jubilee Line and London Overground stations, as well as increased service frequency and capacity at its Thameslink station. In addition, the Council and Transport for London are currently investigating a range of measures to improve pedestrian linkages in the interchange area between West Hampstead's three stations, including addressing the need to widen pavements, and remodelling station entrances.
- 11.5 All of Camden's town centres are served by at least one tube or Overground station, each of which will benefit from planned improvements to service capacity and, in some cases, increased service frequency (see Appendix 1 items 43 and 44). Planned Northern Line capacity improvements have the potential to help to relieve current peak time congestion at Camden Town station. Neighbouring tube stations at Chalk Farm and Mornington Crescent will also benefit from Northern Line capacity improvements, which should also help to relieve pressure at Camden Town station. Although funding is not currently identified for the planned redevelopment of Camden Town Underground station, the Council has published a planning brief for the site and will pursue opportunities to deliver a better functioning, more accessible station that relieves congestion issues. Camden Road overground station will also benefit from planned capacity and service improvements on the North London Line.
- 11.6 The Council considers that the scale of transport improvements focussed on Camden's main growth areas means that, in the event that any individual scheme is postponed or cancelled, sufficient transport infrastructure will be provided and other measures secured to support the levels of growth envisaged. For example, the range of planned tube, London Overground and rail

capacity improvements means that, if any single scheme did not occur, there will still be increased capacity on other lines. Also, walking, cycling and bus links will continue to be improved, and where appropriate, enhanced to meet reductions in planned capacity elsewhere.

11.7 Given the constraints on transport capacity in a densely developed area like Camden, almost every part of the existing transport infrastructure is a valuable asset. The Council will therefore seek to protect all existing and proposed facilities and links (including for Crossrail 2, also known as the Chelsea – Hackney Line), and safeguard the potential for improvements to the transport network. The Mayor of London's *Land for Transport Functions* supplementary guidance sets out further information on protecting land for transport.

Promoting sustainable travel options

11.8 The Council will complement the provision of strategic transport infrastructure by working to improve local level sustainable transport measures. Camden's Local Implementation Plan (LIP) sets out how we intend to deliver more sustainable transport, and is a key mechanism for the implementation of the transport objectives set out in this Core Strategy, including applying for the necessary project funding from Transport for London.

Walking

- 11.9 Walking is a 'zero carbon' form of travel that relieves pressure on infrastructure, both in terms of public transport infrastructure and Camden's roads. As such, the promotion of walking is an essential element of our approach to managing Camden's growth. It also provides significant wider social benefits in terms of promoting more active, healthy lifestyles (see policy CS16 *Improving Camden's health and well-being*), and helping to create more active vibrant streets and public spaces. Camden's Community Strategy seeks to improve conditions for pedestrians, and Camden's Walking Plan seeks to promote walking in the borough and to improve the street environment.
- 11.10 Policy CS14 *Promoting high quality places and preserving our heritage* sets out the Council's approach providing attractive streets and spaces. Camden's Local Implementation Plan sets out key planned projects that will enhance our streets and spaces and provides a particular focus on the delivery of improvements in Camden's town centres and Central London. This reflects the higher level of activity in these areas, and the need to relieve current pressure on the public transport system by enhancing links between visitor generators and transport hubs. It also supports Camden's approach to future development by focusing improvements on locations that include the borough's growth areas. The Council will work with British Waterways, Natural England, other land owners/developers and users to improve the Regent's Canal and its towpath, which forms a main east-west pedestrian and cycle route through the borough (see Map 1 and policy CS15).
- 11.11 Improved pedestrian signage to help people find their way is also an important factor in encouraging more people to walk for shorter journeys, rather than using the car, tube or bus. Camden's Local Implementation Plan sets out how the Council will make it easier for people to find their way around through the 'Legible London' scheme, which provides new, simple signage for pedestrians. The Council is currently working with Transport for London and other partners, including neighbouring boroughs, to expand the initiative across the Central London Area. We will seek to extend the scheme throughout the borough prioritising key destinations and localised centres where there is a concentration of amenities and a high level of pedestrian activity, including our town centres. New signage in these areas will be expected to reflect Legible London standards.
- 11.12 Public realm improvements will primarily be delivered by the Council using funds from Transport or London, to be sought through Camden's Local Implementation Plan. The Council's own funding and, where appropriate, developer contributions and will also be used to finance projects to promote walking. The Council will continue to work with Transport for London and neighbouring London boroughs to deliver improved pedestrian accessibility across borough boundaries. Camden is a member of the cross-borough Clear Zone Partnership, a key mechanism for delivering improvements to walking routes across Central London, linking King's Cross and Euston with Bloomsbury and Holborn, through to the River Thames and the West End (see policy DP32 in Camden Development Policies).

Cycling

- 11.13 As with walking, cycling is a sustainable means of travel that provides the opportunity to relieve congestion as well as promoting healthy, active lifestyles. Camden's Cycling Plan (Fourth Review 2008) seeks to promote increased cycling in the borough by improving cycling facilities and routes. We will:
 - ensure that all opportunities are taken to maximise the availability of new cycle parking across the borough both in new developments and more widely in any areas where there is need for increased provision, such as at town and local centres. This will principally be delivered through Camden's Parking Standards for new developments (see policy DP18 in Camden Development Policies) and as part of town centre improvement projects;
 - provide 'cycle stations' in appropriate locations across the borough. These are cycle parking facilities available to the public, usually in a secure area with restricted access. Appropriate locations would include town centres, Central London and major transport interchanges. Such stations have already been secured as part of approved schemes at King's Cross (1,000 bicycle spaces) and Regent's Place/Euston Tower (around 70 spaces).
 - improve cycle links across the borough to encourage more cycling. We will seek to ensure that developments contribute to and, where appropriate, provide appropriate links with strategic cycle routes, including the London Cycle Network (a network of radial and orbital routes for cyclists throughout London); and
 - work with Transport for London and other partners, including neighbouring boroughs, to implement the London Cycle Hire Scheme. The scheme was introduced by the Transport for London Business Plan 2009/10-2017/18, and aims to provide places, firstly in Central London, then across the capital, where people can pick up and drop off bicycles. We will seek to ensure that the scheme is extended to key destinations across the borough, including our town centres.

Public transport

- 11.14 Camden will benefit from planned improvements to London Underground, London Overground and Thameslink service capacity, as well as the delivery of Crossrail. Between 2009 and 2020, Transport for London plans to significantly improve capacity on the Jubilee; Victoria; Northern; Piccadilly; and District, Hammersmith and City lines, as well as the London Overground North London Line, all of which pass through the borough. Also, the Thameslink train line serving St Pancras International is planned to benefit from significantly improved capacity and service frequency by 2015. Crossrail will provide a major new east-west train link through London, and help to support growth in the capital by tackling congestion and the lack of capacity on the existing rail network. The Mayor has introduced a policy in the London Plan and prepared Supplementary Planning Guidance Use of planning obligations in the funding of Crossrail, to seek financial contributions from new developments towards the delivery of Crossrail, which is due to be completed by 2017. Please see Appendix 1 for further details on planned public transport infrastructure improvements (items 39-44).
- 11.15 In partnership with Transport for London, which manages the bus network across London, the Council will seek to ensure that Camden's growth is matched by improvements in bus services, where required. This will include provision of new bus facilities (for example, bus stops) where appropriate. Policies DP16 and DP17 in our Camden Development Policies Local Development Framework document set out the Council's expectations for new development in relation to transport capacity and public transport contributions.

Travel Awareness

11.16 The Council also works to encourage more sustainable travel in schools, businesses and communities through its travel awareness programme. We also work with schools and businesses to produce Travel Plans, which provide a package of measures to encourage safe, healthy and sustainable travel options, including through reducing the need to travel and unnecessary car journeys, and promoting active means of transport such as walking and cycling. Camden is part of the North Central Travel Plan Network, a group of north and central London boroughs (supported by Transport for London) that offers advice to businesses to help them to develop travel plans.

Making private transport more sustainable

- 11.17 The Council will continue to limit the amount of parking available for private cars. This represents a key part of our approach to addressing congestion, promoting sustainable transport choices, and facilitating the delivery of pedestrian and cycle improvements by maximising the amount of public space available to provide new walking and cycling facilities. Our approach to car parking will seek car-free development in the most accessible parts of the borough (Central London, town centres (except Hampstead) and other areas that are well-served by public transport). We will also seek car-capped developments where the provision of additional on-street parking would be harmful to parking conditions. Please see policies DP18 and DP19 in Camden's Development Policies for more on our approach.
- 11.18 For journeys where more sustainable travel options are not practical, car clubs and car pools offer an alternative to privately owned cars. Car clubs are hire schemes that allow households to avoid the costs of car ownership, deter them from using cars for a trip which is convenient without one, and reduce the amount of car parking space needed. For business journeys, car pools have many similar advantages, and can remove the need for business-users to commute by car. The Council will seek to expand the availability of car clubs and car pools by encouraging provision for them as part of proposals involving additional parking (see policy DP18 in Camden Development Policies), as well as working with operators to secure more car club spaces on Camden's roads where demand is identified.
- 11.19 Another part of the Council's strategy to promote more sustainable travel options is to allow the loss of existing public car parks, where appropriate. This helps to promote the use of sustainable transport by limiting the availability of parking spaces, and also promotes more efficient use of land in the borough. For further details, please see policy DP19 in Camden Development Policies.
- 11.20 We will also encourage low emission vehicles by increasing the availability of electric charging points across the borough. Although still contributing to congestion, these vehicles do not have the air quality impacts of ordinary cars. Where provision for the use of private cars in new developments is unavoidable, the Council will therefore seek provisions such as electric charging points (see policy DP18 in Camden Development Policies).
- 11.21 The demand for movement, deliveries and car parking on Camden's roads already exceeds the space available, meaning that effective management of Camden's road network is essential. The Council will seek to ensure that new development does not cause harm to Camden's road hierarchy, or to the ability of Council (and for strategic roads, Transport for London) to manage the road network. Policy DP21 in Camden Development Policies sets out our requirements regarding connections to the road network from developments.



11.22 A number of Camden's centres, in particular Camden Town and Swiss Cottage, suffer from a poor pedestrian environment due to gyratory systems that hinder movement and create a poor quality public realm. This has a negative impact on local amenity and the quality of life in these centres. While the Council acknowledges that these roads are important to maintaining smooth traffic flow through London, it will work with Transport for London to investigate long-term opportunities to remove or significantly alter these gyratories for the benefit of these centres and the people that use them.

Promoting the sustainable movement of goods

- 11.23 The movement of goods can have a significant impact on the environment, in terms of noise and disturbance, and air pollution. These impacts are particularly severe in an urban, densely populated borough, such as Camden. The Council will therefore seek to minimise the movement of goods and materials by road by:
 - promoting alternative forms of freight movement that have lower environmental impacts, such as the use of Regent's Canal, rail freight and the use of cycle-freight as an extension to cycle courier services; and
 - seeking to deliver more efficient goods movement. We will work with our partners to explore the potential for a freight consolidation facility to serve Camden's Central London Area. These facilities are transfer and distribution centres that consolidate loads from a number of vehicles into single loads for delivery to a specific destination or area.
- 11.24 We will work with our partners, including Transport for London, developers, freight operators and businesses to assess how these aims could be achieved, including for the servicing of new developments both during construction and when in use. Camden is part of the Freight Quality Partnership for Central London, which brings together retailers, freight operators, Central London boroughs, and Transport for London to consider ways to achieve more efficient and sustainable movement of freight.
- 11.25 The Council will also seek to ensure that the impact of construction traffic and the servicing of future developments are kept to a minimum. Policy DP20 in Camden Development Policies sets out how we will seek to minimise the impact of freight movement from development. We are working with Transport for London to investigate opportunities to provide charging points for low emission goods vehicles, which can have a lower impact than normal vehicles in terms of both air pollution and noise.

Key evidence and references

- Camden Local Implementation Plan (LIP) 2005/06-2010/11
- Camden Green Transport Strategy 2008-2012
- Camden Walking Plan Second Edition 2006
- Camden Cycling Plan: fourth annual review 2008
- Camden Interim Parking and Enforcement Plan 2005/11
- Camden Road Network Management Plan (2006)
- Camden Streetscape Design Manual 2005
- Camden Sustainability Task Force Report on Transport
- The London Plan (consolidated with Alterations since 2004); Mayor of London; 2008
- Transport for London Business Plan 2009/10-2017/18
- Land for Transport Functions Supplementary Planning Guidance; Mayor of London; 2007
- Planning Policy Guidance (PPG) 13: Transport; ODPM; 2001
- Camden Together Camden's Sustainable Community Strategy 2007-2012
CS12. Sites for gypsies and travellers

12.1 Gypsies and travellers are among the most disadvantaged sectors of society in terms of their accommodation. Government Circular 01/2006 – *Planning for Gypsies and Traveller Caravan Sites* states that borough core strategies should set out criteria for the location of gypsy and traveller sites to guide the allocation of sites and to meet unexpected demand.

CS12 – Sites for gypsies and travellers

The Council will protect existing lawful sites, plots and pitches for gypsies and travellers and travelling showpeople. The redevelopment of such sites will not be permitted unless they are replaced by equivalent or improved sites, plots and/or pitches in suitable locations.

The Council will seek to identify sufficient additional plots for households of travelling showpeople and for gypsies and travellers through our Site Allocations document, in accordance with the findings of the London Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Needs Assessment.

New sites, plots and/or pitches for gypsies and travellers and travelling showpeople should:

 a) provide a satisfactory layout and facilities in terms of pitches, hardstanding, parking, turning space, amenity blocks, open space and play areas;

- b) be capable of connection to energy, water and sewage infrastructure;
- be accessible to public transport, services and facilities, and be capable of support by local social infrastructure;
- d) provide safe access to and from the main road network;
- e) not cause harm residential amenity or the operational efficiency of nearby properties;
- f) not cause harm to open spaces, Metropolitan Open Land, Sites of Nature Conservation Importance, woodland, water courses etc, and
- g) incorporate appropriate landscaping to prevent harm to the character and appearance of the surrounding area.
- 12.2 The Council recognises the needs of gypsies and travellers within the borough, many of whom have established local connections and have developed links with local services. There are five gypsies and travellers pitches in Camden (at Carol Street and Castlehaven Road), and a single site of four households of travelling show people (the North Fairground Site at the Vale of Health). The Council will protect these sites from change to alternative uses unless they are replaced by equivalent or improved sites, plots and/or pitches in suitable locations.
- 12.3 The London Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Needs Assessment calculated that to meet the needs of gypsies and travellers and travelling showpeople to 2017, there is a need for a minimum of 2 and a maximum of 5 additional pitches for gypsies and travellers and for 2 plots for travelling showpeople in the borough. The Council will seek to identify sites to meet this need through the Camden Site Allocations document.

- 12.4 We will aim to ensure that new sites/pitches are both adequate and appropriate to the needs of the gypsy and traveller communities and integrated with adjoining communities. All proposals for sites, plots and pitches for gypsies, travellers and travelling showpeople, whether on sites identified through our Site Allocations document or elsewhere, should meet the criteria set out in the policy. Proposals will also be expected to satisfy all other relevant Local Development Framework policies, including policy DP26 on managing the impact of development on occupiers and neighbours in Camden Development Policies and Core Strategy policy CS15 on open space.
- 12.5 The Council will use the definition of gypsies and travellers in Circular 01/2006 "Planning for Gypsies and Traveller Caravan Sites" and the definition of travelling showpeople in Circular 22/91 "Travelling Showpeople", which set out national policy on site provision for these groups.

Key evidence and references

- London Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Needs Assessment 2008
- The London Plan (consolidated with Alterations since 2004); Mayor of London; 2008
- Circular 01/2006 Planning for Gypsies and Traveller Caravan Sites
- Circular 22/91 Travelling Showpeople





A sustainable and attractive Camden – Tackling climate change and improving and protecting Camden's environment and quality of life

- 13.1 The Core Strategy sets out the Council's approach to managing Camden's growth so that it is sustainable, meets our needs for homes, jobs and services, and protects and enhances quality of life and the borough's many valued and high quality places. This section focuses on delivering the key elements of our strategy relating to:
 - making Camden more sustainable and tackling climate change, in particular improving the environmental performance of buildings, providing decentralised energy and heating networks, and reducing and managing our water use;
 - promoting a more attractive local environment through securing high quality places, conserving our heritage, providing parks and open spaces, and encouraging biodiversity;
 - improving health and well-being;
 - making Camden a safer place while retaining its vibrancy; and
 - dealing with our waste and increasing recycling.
- 13.2 The implications of our actions on the environment are increasingly clear and action is needed at global, national and local levels. The Core Strategy has an important role in reducing Camden's environmental impact and achieving sustainable development meeting our social, environmental and economic needs in ways that protect the environment and do not harm our ability to meet our needs in the future. *A Sustainable Camden that adapts to a growing population* is one of the elements in the vision in Camden's Community Strategy.



CS13. Tackling climate change through promoting higher environmental standards

- 13.3 Camden's Community Strategy commits the Council and our partners to reduce Camden's carbon dioxide emissions in line with the national target of 80% by 2050. To help deliver this, the Council commissioned a study to investigate how we can best cut our carbon dioxide emissions. *Delivering a Low Carbon Camden* (SEA-Renue) found that 30% of Camden's current emissions come from domestic buildings, 58% from non-domestic buildings and 12% from transport. Growth in the borough is expected to increase emissions if they are allowed to grow unconstrained, with emissions from transport expected to see the greatest growth. However, the study found that a 60% reduction can be met through technological means in a financially viable way, with local, decentralised heating systems served by combined heat and power (CHP) being the most cost-effective way for Camden to reduce carbon use. Achieving the 80% target will rely either on alternative technologies and fuels becoming available or on significant behavioural change to reduce energy demand.
- 13.4 Although climate change is not specific to Camden, the borough's highly built-up, inner urban environment means that we face specific environmental issues such as poor air quality and surface water flooding. The measures we can take to minimise the impacts of climate change and adapt to its effects need to consider and be appropriate to the borough's dense and historic character and sensitive environments. Where demonstrated, the Council will have regard to the costs and feasibility of measures to tackle climate change within developments. We will also take into account the cumulative costs of not responding to the need to mitigate and adapt to climate change as well as the long term cost savings such as in energy and water bills to the future occupiers. Measures to tackle climate change are integral in the development process and are a priority of the Council. They should not be seen as 'add-ons'.
- 13.5 The Council can influence environmental performance in the borough through its role in land use and transport planning and also through its own actions and community leadership. *Towards a Sustainable Camden Camden's Environmental Sustainability Delivery Plan 2008-2012* sets out how we will reduce carbon emissions and improve the environmental performance of activities across the borough to meet national and local targets.



CS13 – Tackling climate change through promoting higher environmental standards

Reducing the effects of and adapting to climate change

The Council will require all development to take measures to minimise the effects of, and adapt to, climate change and encourage all development to meet the highest feasible environmental standards that are financially viable during construction and occupation by:

- a) ensuring patterns of land use that minimise the need to travel by car and help support local energy networks;
- b) promoting the efficient use of land and buildings;
- c) minimising carbon emissions from the redevelopment, construction and occupation of buildings by implementing, in order, all of the elements of the following energy hierarchy:
 - 1. ensuring developments use less energy,
 - 2. making use of energy from efficient sources, such as the King's Cross, Gower Street, Bloomsbury and proposed Euston Road decentralised energy networks;

3. generating renewable energy on-site; and

 ensuring buildings and spaces are designed to cope with, and minimise the effects of, climate change.

The Council will have regard to the cost of installing measures to tackle climate change as well as the cumulative future costs of delaying reductions in carbon dioxide emissions

Local energy generation

The Council will promote local energy generation and networks by:

- e) working with our partners and developers to implement local energy networks in the parts of Camden most likely to support them, i.e. in the vicinity of:
 - housing estates with community heating or the potential for community heating and other uses with large heating loads;
 - the growth areas of King's Cross;

Euston; Tottenham Court Road; West Hampstead Interchange and Holborn;

- schools to be redeveloped as part of Building Schools for the Future programme;
- existing or approved combined heat and power/local energy networks (see Map 4);

and other locations where land ownership would facilitate their implementation.

f) protecting existing local energy networks where possible (e.g. at Gower Street and Bloomsbury) and safeguarding potential network routes (e.g. Euston Road);

Water and surface water flooding

We will make Camden a water efficient borough and minimise the potential for surface water flooding by:

- g) protecting our existing drinking water and foul water infrastructure, including Barrow Hill Reservoir, Hampstead Heath Reservoir, Highgate Reservoir and Kidderpore Reservoir;
- making sure development incorporates efficient water and foul water infrastructure;
- i) requiring development to avoid harm to the water environment, water quality or drainage systems and prevents or mitigates local surface water and downstream flooding, especially in areas up-hill from, and in, areas known to be at risk from surface water flooding such as South and West Hampstead, Gospel Oak and King's Cross (see Map 5).

Camden's carbon reduction measures

The Council will take a lead in tackling climate change by:

- j) taking measures to reduce its own carbon emissions;
- k) trialling new energy efficient technologies, where feasible; and
- I) raising awareness on mitigation and adaptation measures.

Reducing the effects of, and adapting to, climate change

Sustainable patterns of development

13.6 The location of development and mix of land uses have a significant influence on the amount of energy we use for transport, as well as whether we can generate or supply local energy efficiently. We will make the most efficient use of Camden's limited land and steer growth and uses that will generate a large number of journeys to the most accessible parts of the borough. We will also encourage an appropriate mix of uses to support sustainable modes of travel such as walking and cycling as well as local energy networks. Development will be focussed in Camden's growth areas, with other highly accessible locations, such as central London and most of our town centres, also considered suitable for development that significantly increases travel demand (please see policy CS1 – *Distribution of growth* and the Key Diagram – Map 1).

Efficient use of land and buildings

- 13.7 The efficient use of land and buildings will reduce pressure to develop undeveloped, 'greenfield' sites. Camden's historic and built up nature means most of our greenfield sites are designated open spaces. The Council will encourage higher densities in line with policy CS1 *Distribution of growth*. To enable buildings to last longer it is important that they are designed and built to a high standard and to accommodate the changing requirements of occupants over time. Buildings can be designed to be adaptable in the future if consideration is given to:
 - the design of the structure, to enable expansion;
 - the layout of the internal space;
 - mechanical services, to allow for expansion or changing expectations and technologies; and
 - enabling 'retro-fitting', for example for renewable energy generation.

Energy hierarchy

Ensuring developments use less energy

- 13.8 A building's use, design, choice of materials and other measures can minimise its energy needs during both construction and occupation. The Council will encourage all developments to meet the highest feasible environmental standards taking into account the mix of uses, the possibility of reusing buildings and materials and the size and location of the development. In addition to design and materials, a building's internal heating and cooling design, lighting and source of energy can further reduce energy use. Policy DP22 – *Promoting sustainable design and construction* in Camden Development Policies provides further guidance on what measures can be implemented to achieve an environmentally sustainable building. The Building Research Establishment's Environmental Assessment Method (BREEAM) and the Code for Sustainable Homes provide helpful assessment tools for general sustainability. Further details on these assessment tools can be found in Development Policy DP22 and our Camden Planning Guidance supplementary document.
- 13.9 Camden's existing dense built form with many conservation areas and other heritage assets means that there are often limits to the contribution that orientation, height and footprint can make towards the energy efficiency of a building. This dense character, along with the varying heights of buildings in central London, can also make the installation of various technologies, including renewable energy technologies more difficult. For example, the efficient use of photovoltaics in Central London can be constrained by overshadowing from taller buildings. We will expect high quality and innovative design to help combat these constraints. Energy efficiency measures relating to heritage assets will be welcomed provided that they do not cause harm to the significance of the heritage asset and its setting. The refurbishment of some existing properties in the borough, such as Camden's EcoHouse in Camden Town and a home in Chester Road in Highgate have demonstrated how Victorian properties can be upgraded to meet Level 4 of the Code for Sustainable Homes energy performance standards. Given the large proportion of development in the borough that relates to existing buildings, we will expect proportionate measures to be taken to improve their environmental sustainability, where possible. Further details on this can be found in our Camden Planning Guidance supplementary document.



Making use of energy from efficient sources

13.10 Once a development has been designed to minimise its energy consumption in line with the approach above, the development should assess its remaining energy needs and the availability of any local energy networks or its potential to generate its own energy from low carbon technology. The Council's full approach to local energy generation and local energy networks is set out below (paragraphs 13.16 – 13.22).

Generating renewable energy on-site

13.11 Buildings can also generate energy, for example, by using photovoltaic panels to produce electricity, or solar thermal panels, which produce hot water. Once a building and its services have been designed to make sure energy consumption will be as low as possible and the use of energy efficient sources has been considered, the Council will expect developments to achieve a reduction in carbon dioxide emissions of 20% from on-site renewable energy generation (which can include sources of site-related decentralised renewable energy) unless it can be demonstrated that such provision is not feasible. Details on ways to generate renewable energy can be found in our Camden Planning Guidance supplementary document.

Adapting to climate change

- 13.12 It is predicted that in the future we will experience warmer, wetter winters and hotter, drier summers. In addition, Camden is likely to experience more intense rainfall and local flooding, more days with especially poor air quality, increased demand for its open spaces and outdoor pools and increased summer demand for electricity for cooling. To minimise the future need for summer cooling we will expect the design of developments to consider anticipated changes to the climate. For further details on what measures should be considered see policy DP22 *Promoting sustainable design and construction* in Camden Development Policies. The Council is in discussions with the National Grid regarding future infrastructure improvements including, potentially, a new electricity grid supply point. To help ensure there is adequate water in the future we will require developments to be water efficient. Our overall approach to water conservation and run-off is detailed below.
- 13.13 Camden is fortunate that it contains Hampstead Heath, Primrose Hill and a part of Regent's Park which help reduce long term heating of the city, known as the urban heat island effect, and provide cool space in hot weather. We will continue to protect our open spaces and other green spaces, where possible, and seek to create additional open spaces. We will also continue to protect the borough's trees and encourage the creation of green and brown roofs and green walls, which help to keep local air temperatures lower. For more detail on how we are protecting and improving our open spaces and other green spaces please see policy CS15 *Protecting and improving our parks and open spaces and encouraging biodiversity*. Policy DP24 *Securing high quality design* in Camden Development Policies sets out how we will protect gardens, where possible.

- 13.14 Climatic changes will affect which plant and animal species thrive or decline. The City of London, which is responsible for Hampstead Heath, has identified potential threats to open spaces and biodiversity in its Climate Adaptation Strategy. It will therefore be important for the Council, other owners of open space and developers to consider the adaptation needs of plants and wildlife. The Council is trialling lower maintenance plant species at Waterlow Park and Cumberland Market. For more detail on our approach to biodiversity please see policy CS15.
- 13.15 We will also continue our strong efforts to reduce air pollution through mitigation and reducing traffic. Please see policy CS11 *Promoting sustainable and efficient travel*. Detail on how we will expect development to take into account climate change is set out in policy DP22 *Promoting sustainable design and construction* in Camden Development Policies.

Local energy generation and networks

- 13.16 The *Delivering a Low Carbon Camden* report concludes that the most cost-effective way for Camden to meet its carbon reduction targets is through a local energy generation and distribution system served by combined heat and power (CHP). CHP systems typically supply buildings with heat and power (usually electricity) generated on-site or nearby, therefore avoiding the losses which occur in transmitting electricity from plants outside London. CHP is highly efficient and can therefore make a significant contribution to goals to minimise carbon emissions. Cooling can also be incorporated in such systems where there is appropriate demand (known as combined cooling, heating and power or CCHP).
- 13.17 New decentralised energy networks negotiated through the planning system are most likely to begin in, and expand out from, the growth areas of King's Cross, Euston, Tottenham Court Road, West Hampstead Interchange and Holborn due to the expected scale and mix of development. A local energy network fuelled by gas-fired combined heat and power, a fuel cell and renewable sources has been approved as part of the King's Cross redevelopment. There are possibilities to expand this network beyond the border of the site, including into Islington. Camden is also working with the London Development Agency (LDA) and land owners to establish a decentralised energy network along Euston Road and into Islington. Map 4 shows the areas considered most likely to provide development-led decentralised energy networks.
- 13.18 Providing a decentralised energy network in an already built up area is difficult. Although there is currently no extended CHP network in the borough, numerous Council housing estates are already on a community heating system, which can provide a starting point for a wider energy network serviced by CHP. There are also three successful local energy networks in the borough fed by CHP (two serving University College London buildings, one serving two housing developments on Eversholt Street) as well as individual systems at the Swiss Cottage Leisure Centre and the Royal Free Hospital in Gospel Oak and approved schemes at King's Cross, Regent's Place Estate, Southampton Row and Great Ormond Street Hospital. Where decentralised energy networks already exist, development in the area will be required to connect to them, unless it is proven not to be technically feasible or commercially viable.
- 13.19 The Council will require the developers of any large scheme within proximity of a Council housing estate to speak to us about the possibilities of exporting heat to the existing homes. We will also expect developments to export heat to any willing user, where feasible and viable. The largest possible decentralised energy system fed by CHP should be implemented. Where developments in the vicinity of an existing local energy network do not connect to that network or do not include their own CHP system due to feasibility and viability, we will require them to provide the on-site infrastructure for future connection and, where reasonable, a contribution towards laying future connections. The Council is investigating setting up a local energy network fed by CHP for Camden Town Hall, Argyle Street Primary School and two existing housing developments.
- 13.20 We will work with adjoining boroughs to promote connections to new or existing decentralised energy networks and with the Greater London Authority and London Development Agency to provide advice on funding and linking developments and systems. It will be important to provide for future links to decentralised energy networks within developments or across roads and sites where they are likely to be needed, as providing connections later is difficult in built up places like

Camden. See *Community Energy: Urban Planning for a Low Carbon Future* by the Combined Heat and Power Association and the Town and Country Association for more information on community heating, renewable energy and CHP.



Map 4: Combined Heat and Power Network

- 13.21 There is growing technical potential to generate heat from waste. The North London Waste Plan will identify future sites for waste facilities in the area (see policy CS18). Given the environmental benefits of using waste for heat, such as less waste going to landfill and turning waste into a resource, the Council will welcome proposals for energy from waste schemes in suitable locations, where they do not cause harm to the amenity of local occupiers.
- 13.22 The Camden Sites Allocations document will identify any areas or sites where we consider zero carbon development can successfully be promoted. These are likely to be areas or sites near one of the likely CHP locations shown on Map 4.



Water and surface water flooding

- 13.23 Water is an important resource which requires energy to clean it to drinking standard and to pump it to every building. Population growth and increased levels of water consumption per person mean that the availability of this resource is under pressure. Our growing population and an increase in hard surfaces also mean there is more foul water and rain water to be dealt with. These issues are predicted to become more important with hotter, drier summers reducing the amount of water available, and wetter winters putting additional pressure on the combined sewer and run-off network. Therefore, the Council will protect the borough's existing water infrastructure to ensure there is adequate water supply, water storage and foul water capability. Camden has five reservoirs, of which four are currently in use for storing drinking water. Thames Water has stated that these sites are likely to require future development and expansion to meet their operational requirements.
- 13.24 Thames Water identified that there will be a shortfall in the water supply for London within the next 30 years if measures are not taken. However, it will seek to ensure an adequate supply through education and metering to reduce consumption, continuing to repair water pipes, the construction of a desalination plant at Beckton and providing a new reservoir, if required (see Appendix 1 *Key infrastructure programmes and projects* item 60). To promote responsible consumption, the Council is working with Thames Water to install water meters in homes in Council ownership, as well as requiring all new development to install water efficient devices through the requirements in the Code for Sustainable Homes and BREEAM assessments.
- 13.25 Although Camden has very low risk from flooding from waterways, the North London Strategic Flood Risk Assessment identified several areas in the borough, in particular West Hampstead, that have experienced surface water flooding when existing water infrastructure has not been able to cope with surface and foul water at the same time as the result of heavy rain. The Environment Agency has developed a map showing areas with the potential to flood given the topography and depth of the site. Map 5 shows the parts of the borough that have experienced significant sewer or surface water flooding. The Council will require major developments or development that increases the amount of impervious surfacing to adequately manage the increases in surface water or sewage discharge and take account of known sewer flooding problems by including appropriate mitigation measures to avoid increased drainage problems and flood risk downstream. Our approach to basement/underground development is contained in Camden Development Policies (see policy DP27 *Basements and lightwells*).



Map 5: Surface Water Flood Risk Potential

- 13.26 Thames Water's initial modelling indicates that local infrastructure improvements are likely to be required for Camden's growth areas, specifically King's Cross and Euston. As the combined sewer across the borough is a network, it will be important that all developments release as little foul and grey water (water from sinks, showers and washing machines) into the combined sewer system as possible by minimising the amount of water used on site and maximising re-use of grey water. British Waterways has identified the Regent's Canal as a source of grey water. Larger developments in areas already suffering from surface water flooding can provide the opportunity for improvements to be made to local infrastructure. Thames Water has advised the Council that the existing strategic, 'trunk' infrastructure is likely to be able to accommodate growth levels. In addition, it is building the Thames Tideway Scheme to improve the capacity of London's combined sewer network. Further information on planned sewerage/waste water infrastructure and sustainable urban drainage systems is provided in Appendix 1 *Key infrastructure programmes and projects* (items 60 and 61).
- 13.27 The Council's detailed approach to water use and management within developments is set out in Camden Development Policies (policy DP23 *Water*).



The Council's carbon reduction measures

- 13.28 The Council is undertaking a range of measures to reduce its own energy use and energy use throughout the borough. These include:
 - fuelling 50% of the Council vehicle fleet by liquefied petroleum gas (LPG), electricity or hybrid means;
 - installing energy efficiency measures in Council houses;
 - using sustainable timber as standard in housing refurbishment;
 - investing in cavity wall and roof insulation for Council homes and private sector housing (over 2,000 dwellings have received cavity wall insulation);
 - making 'eco-grants' available for various measures, including the installation of solar panels and green roofs;
 - our Small steps, Big difference campaign to raise awareness of climate change and encourage changes to behaviour to reduce the borough's environmental impact; and
 - supporting the introduction of energy efficient and carbon saving technology. For example, by investing in our own hydrogen fuel cell which is also used as an education tool and by trialling biomethane in our vehicle fleet.

Further Council initiatives are set out in our Climate Change and Environmental Sustainability Delivery Plan 2008-2012.

Key evidence and references

- Delivering a Low Carbon Camden Carbon Reduction Scenarios to 2050; SEA-Renue; 2007
- Towards a Sustainable Camden. Camden' Environmental Sustainability Delivery Plan 2008-2012
- Camden Sustainability Task Force Report on Energy and Energy Efficiency; 2007
- Camden Together Camden's Sustainable Community Strategy; 2007 2012
- North London Strategic Flood Risk Assessment, Mouchel; 2008
- The London Plan (consolidated with Alterations since 2004); Mayor of London; 2008
- Action Today to Protect Tomorrow Mayor's Climate Change Action Plan; 2007
- Planning Policy Statement: Planning and Climate Change Supplement to Planning Policy Statement 1; CLG; 2007
- Planning Policy Statement (PPS) 22: Renewable energy; ODPM; 2004
- Planning Policy Statement 25: Development and Flood Risk, CLG, 2006
- Community Energy: Urban Planning for a Low Carbon Future; The Combined Heat and Power Association and the Town and Country Association 2008
- Hampstead Heath Management Plan Part 1. Towards a Plan for the Heath 2007-2017; City of London & Land Use consultants; 2007

CS14. Promoting high quality places and conserving our heritage

- 14.1 Camden does not have a single built character but is made up of many diverse areas, each with their own identity. The southern part of the borough, which forms part of Central London, is characterised by a high density built environment and complex mix of uses. The central part of the borough contains several town centres surrounded by areas of medium-density housing and some employment uses. The north of the borough is predominantly residential of a lower density with substantial open space at Hampstead Heath. Throughout the borough there are examples of Camden's unique architectural heritage, with many high quality buildings and places, old and new. This is reflected in our large number of conservation areas and listed buildings, which have been recognised for their special architectural or historic interest.
- 14.2 Our overall strategy is to sustainably manage growth in Camden so it meets our needs for homes, jobs and services in a way that conserves and enhances the features that make the borough such an attractive place to live, work and visit. Policy CS14 plays a key part in achieving this by setting out our approach to conserving and, where possible, enhancing our heritage and valued places, and to ensuring that development is of the highest standard and reflects, and where possible improves, its local area. Policy CS13 above and policy DP22 in Camden Development Policies set out our approach to ensuring that design in the borough is sustainable and that schemes include measures to minimise the effects of, and adapt to, climate change.

CS14 – Promoting high quality places and conserving our heritage

The Council will ensure that Camden's places and buildings are attractive, safe and easy to use by:

- a) requiring development of the highest standard of design that respects local context and character;
- b) preserving and enhancing Camden's rich and diverse heritage assets and their settings, including conservation areas, listed buildings, archaeological remains, scheduled ancient monuments and historic parks and gardens;
- c) promoting high quality landscaping and works to streets and public spaces;
- seeking the highest standards of access in all buildings and places and requiring schemes to be designed to be inclusive and accessible;
- e) protecting important views of St Paul's Cathedral and the Palace of Westminster from sites inside and outside the borough and protecting important local views.

Excellence in design

14.3 Camden has many special and unique places and historic and modern buildings of the highest quality. As well as preserving this rich heritage, we should also be contributing to it by making sure that we create buildings of equally high quality that will be appreciated by future generations. The design of the places and buildings that make up our local environment affects us all and our quality of life. High quality design is visually interesting and attractive but it is not just about what things look like. Good design makes places that put people first, are welcoming, feel safe and are enjoyable and easy to use for everyone, whether they are living in, working in or just passing through the borough.



- 14.4 Development schemes should improve the quality of buildings, landscaping and the street environment and, through this, improve the experience of the borough for residents and visitors. The Council will therefore insist on high quality design throughout the borough. In accordance with government guidance in Planning Policy Statement (PPS) 1 – *Delivering Sustainable Development* we will not accept design that is considered inappropriate to its context or which fails to take opportunities to improve the character and quality of an area and the way it functions. Please see Camden Development Policies (policy DP24) for more detailed guidance on our approach to the design of new development and alterations and extensions. When assessing design, we will also take into account government/CABE guidance *By Design – Urban Design in the planning system: towards better practice* and our own Camden Planning Guidance supplementary document.
- 14.5 The Council is working with its partners to promote and celebrate excellence in design and improve public buildings, landscaping and the street environment; for example through the Camden Design Initiative, which seeks to improve public space and the built environment and encourage involvement, awareness and understanding of good design, including the bi-annual Camden Design Awards, which recognise high quality and innovative designs.
- 14.6 Good design is safe and accessible, and responds flexibly to the needs of its users. It creates buildings that have minimal negative impact on the environment, during construction and beyond. The construction and use of buildings currently accounts for around half of national carbon emissions and it is therefore vital that new and redeveloped buildings are designed to have a beneficial impact on their environment. See CS13 *Tackling climate change through promoting higher environmental standards* and CS17 *Making Camden a safer place* for our approach to these matters.
- 14.7 High quality design also takes account of its surroundings and what is distinctive and valued about the local area. Camden is made up of a diversity of areas, each with their own distinctive character, created by many elements such as architectural style and layout, social and economic history, landscaping and mix of uses as summarised in the description of Camden's character below. As Camden is a densely built-up borough where most development involves the replacement, extension or conversion of existing buildings, taking account of context and local character is particularly important. The Council will therefore expect the design of buildings and places to respond to the local area and its defining characteristics and reinforce or, if appropriate, create local distinctiveness.
- 14.8 While tall buildings offer the opportunity for intensive use, their siting and design should be carefully considered in order to not detract from the nature of surrounding places and the quality of life for those living and working around them. Applications for tall buildings will be assessed against policy CS14 and policies DP24 *Securing high quality design* and DP25 *Conserving Camden's heritage* in Camden Development Policies, along with the full range of policies on mixed use, sustainability, amenity and microclimate. and other relevant policies. Effect on views, impact on local microclimate and provision of communal and private amenity space will also be important considerations.

Camden's heritage

- 14.9 Camden has a rich architectural heritage with many special places and buildings from throughout Camden's history (see map 6). 39 areas, covering much of the borough, are designated as conservation areas, recognising their special architectural or historic interest and their character and appearance. We have prepared conservation area statements, appraisals and management strategies that provide further guidance on the character of these areas. We will take these documents into account as material considerations when we assess applications for planning permission and conservation area consent in these areas.
- 14.10 Over 5,600 buildings and structures in Camden are nationally listed for their special historical or architectural interest, and 53 of the borough's squares are protected by the London Squares Preservation Act 1931. In addition, 14 open spaces in Camden are on English Heritage's Register of Parks and Gardens of Special Historic Interest. The Council will consult with English Heritage over proposals affecting these parks and gardens. We also encourage the restoration and management of Parks and Gardens of Special Historic Interest and London Squares to enhance their value. Camden also has a generally well-preserved archaeological heritage, with 13 identified archaeological priority areas, although this can be vulnerable to modern development and land use.

Map 6: Heritage



Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office ©. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Licence number LA100019726, year 2010.

- 14.11 We have a responsibility to preserve and, where possible, enhance our heritage of important areas and buildings. Policy DP25 in Camden Development Policies provides more detailed guidance on the Council's approach to protecting and enriching the range of features that make up our built heritage.
- 14.12 Architectural detail, materials, colour and structures such as walls can make a significant contribution to the appearance of an area, but can often be altered without the need for planning permission. Cumulatively, many minor building works can gradually erode the quality of an area and undermine the quality of conservation areas. We will therefore make use of 'Article 4 Directions' in appropriate locations to bring some minor works under planning control. We are intending to introduce such measures in the conservation areas of Belsize, Hampstead, and Swiss Cottage, where loss of historic character through cumulative change is apparent. Primrose Hill conservation area already benefits from a comprehensive Article 4 Direction, which has helped to retain its high quality historic character.

Landscaping and public realm

- 14.13 The quality of our streets and public spaces affects the quality of all our lives. We enjoy being in and passing through attractive, clean and well-maintained places, but are discouraged from walking in and through areas with a poor environment. An enhanced public realm should integrate transport and land use, contribute to improved walking and cycling environments, respect and reinforce local identity and character, attract people to the area and encourage the use of streets and public spaces to create diverse, vibrant and lively places.
- 14.14 The Council is committed to improving Camden's streets and public spaces and has carried out many improvement schemes with many more ongoing and planned. We have produced a Camden Streetscape Design Manual to raise the standard of street works throughout the borough. This sets standards for our own works and provides guidance for other agencies. It encourages respect for local character and promotes high quality, clutter-free design to make streets and public places that are safe and easy to use for all.
- 14.15 A number of studies on streets and spaces have been produced, particularly for the south of the borough (e.g. Bloomsbury, King's Cross and St Giles/Tottenham Court Road). These have been commissioned and funded by a range of organisations (including TfL, LDA, Design for London and UCL) sometimes in partnership with the Council. It is procedurally difficult for the Council to adopt these non-statutory documents as formal planning or other guidance. We will therefore look to draw on the best of this work to create a long-term vision for these areas, emphasising local character and providing a high quality environment for walking, which is formally agreed by the Council.
- 14.16 In order to improve the environment for walking in the borough, Camden is committed to the 'Legible London' concept which aims to improve how easily pedestrians can understand the layout of the capital and find their way around by introducing clear and consistent signage and maps. The programme has begun in Covent Garden and Bloomsbury, and future schemes are anticipated around the borough. Camden has also established a 'Place Shaping Board' to consider the most appropriate ways to shape the services, facilities, infrastructure and public realm to meet the needs of current and future populations (see section 4 – *Delivering and Monitoring the Core Strategy*).
- 14.17 Further information on measures being taken by the Council and its partners to improve the quality of our streets and public places is included in CS2 *Growth areas*, CS8 *Promoting Camden's centres and shops*, CS11 *Promoting sustainable and efficient travel*, CS15 *Protecting and improving our parks and open spaces and encouraging biodiversity*, and CS17 *Making Camden a safer place*.
- 14.18 High quality landscaping plays an important role in the attractiveness and character of our surroundings. It can improve the setting of buildings, bring trees and other greenery into built-up areas to relieve the hard landscaping and provide shade, and provide habitats for wildlife. The Council will expect development schemes to provide a high standard of landscaping and boundary features, such as walls and fences. We will encourage appropriate use of landscaping in the form of 'green roofs', 'brown roofs' and 'green walls' which have a number of environmental benefits (e.g. in providing wildlife habitats, in helping to cool and insulate buildings and in retaining water, helping to

reduce flooding), as well as being visually attractive. More detail on our approach to landscaping is set out in the Council's Camden Planning Guidance supplementary document and policy DP22 in Camden Development Policies.

Access

- 14.19 Good access benefits everyone. However, many people are disadvantaged by poor access to facilities and vulnerable and disadvantaged groups, such as the elderly and disabled people, can be particularly affected. Poor access can be caused by difficulties in reaching facilities or by difficulties in using the facilities themselves. The Council requires new buildings and spaces to be inclusive and accessible to all. As accessibility is influenced by perceptions as well as physical factors, buildings should also be designed to appear, as well as be, fully accessible. The Council will require Design and Access Statements for developments to show how the principles of inclusive design, ensuring access for all, have been integrated into the proposed development, and how inclusion will be maintained and managed.
- 14.20 Making roads and pavements and the spaces between buildings fully accessible is as important as making the buildings themselves accessible. The Council will seek improvements for all pedestrians to ensure good quality access and circulation arrangements, including improvement to existing routes and footways. The Camden Streetscape Design Manual and our Camden Planning Guidance supplementary document provide more detailed guidance on this issue.

Views

- 14.21 A number of London's most famous and valued views originate in, or extend into, Camden. These are:
 - views of St Paul's Cathedral from Kenwood, Parliament Hill and Primrose Hill;
 - views of the Palace of Westminster from Primrose and Parliament Hills; and
 - background views of St Paul's from Greenwich and Blackheath.
- 14.22 The Council will protect these views in accordance with London-wide policy and will resist proposals that would harm them. Where existing buildings that affect a view are redeveloped it is expected that any replacement building will be of a height that does not harm the view. The current framework for protecting these views is set by the London Plan (policies 4B.16 4B.18) and the Mayor's London View Management Framework supplementary planning guidance.
- 14.23 The Council will also consider the impact of a scheme, in terms of the townscape, landscape and skyline, on the whole extent of a view ('panorama'), not just the area in the view corridor. Developments should not detract from the panorama as a whole and should fit in with the prevailing pattern of buildings and spaces. They should seek to avoid buildings that tightly define the edges of the viewing corridors and not create a crowding effect around the landmark.
- 14.24 The Council will also seek to protect locally important views that contribute to the interest and character of the borough. These may include:
 - views of and from large public parks and open spaces, such as Hampstead Heath, Kenwood Estate, Primrose Hill and Regent's Park, including panoramic views, as well as views of London Squares and historic parks and gardens;
 - views relating to Regent's Canal;
 - views into and from conservation areas; and
 - views of listed and landmark buildings and monuments and statutes (for example, Centrepoint, St Stephen's, Rosslyn Hill and St George's, Bloomsbury).
- 14.25 We will seek to ensure that development is compatible with such views in terms of setting, scale and massing and will resist proposals that we consider would cause harm to them. Development will not generally be acceptable if it obstructs important views or skylines, appears too close or too high in relation to a landmark or impairs outlines that form part of the view. Further guidance on important local views is set out in our supplementary planning documents, for example in individual conservation area statements, appraisals and management strategies and the Planning Framework for the Tottenham Court Road Station and St Giles High Street Area.

Camden's character

Camden is characterised by a great richness and variety in its built and natural environment, with a valuable heritage of local, national and international significance. The following section describes the places, buildings and features that give Camden its distinctive character.

The southern part of the borough is where most of Camden's future growth will take place. It forms part of Central London and has a richly varied and dense character. The planned Georgian streets and squares (e.g. Bedford, Russell, Fitzroy) of Bloomsbury are evidence of the early expansion of London in a form that was architecturally groundbreaking. Modest mews developments to the rear of the terraces contrast in scale and are a particularly characteristic type here and elsewhere in the borough. Regents Park and Nash's 1820s residential development sit at the south western boundary of the borough, contrasting with the earlier Georgian developments in the area.

King's Cross and Euston are parts of the borough that are expected to experience the most change and development over the next fifteen years. Railways have had a significant impact on the appearance of the borough from the 19th century to the present day. These brought monumental architecture and inward migration to the borough and their viaducts, cuttings, tunnels and buildings still affect the shape of development in many parts of Camden, in particular to the north of Euston Road. King's Cross was the largest station in England when it opened and is the earliest great London terminus still intact in its original form. St Pancras (by George Gilbert Scott), now the new London terminus for Eurostar, can claim to be Britain's most impressive station in terms of both architecture and engineering and the station's dramatic roof line forms an important local landmark. Euston station, its ancillary accommodation and railway lines have a major impact on the nature of its surroundings and its future redevelopment will create opportunities to improve the local environment and links between neighbouring areas.





The Inns of Court were some of the earliest establishments in the southern part of the borough. The historic buildings, courtyards and squares of Lincoln's Inn and Gray's Inn give a distinctive atmosphere to this part of Camden, and create oases away from surrounding busy roads. Camden's Central London area also contains Seven Dials with its unusual star-shaped street layout and sundial pillar and the brick, semi-industrial buildings and intimate spaces of Hatton Garden, which were developed in the 19th century to house the workshops and offices of the jewellery trade. The area remains an internationally significant jewellery quarter.

Camden is home to a large number of further education establishments and most are located in the southern part of the borough, including the University of London, London School of Tropical Medicine, Central St Martin's College of Art and Design and the Royal Academy of Dramatic Art. These play a significant role in shaping the character and appearance of this part of the borough. The south of the borough also houses a number of nationally important hospitals and medical research institutions, including Great Ormond Street Hospital, the National Hospital for Neurology and Neurosurgery and the Wellcome Trust.



The town centres of Camden Town, Kentish Town and Kilburn High Road are key elements in **the central part of the borough**. These centres developed in a piecemeal fashion along historic routes into London. They are now marked by continuous, close grained development with commercial units at ground floor level on either side of the road, with terraced housing of a similar density on the streets to the east and west, and little open space. Buildings types are generally consistent in appearance, and public houses are frequent landmarks, which echo the original inns and travellers rests along the historic routes. There is a narrow range of scale and height, and dwellings usually have small gardens to front and rear. Camden Town is strongly characterised by its markets and entertainment. These create a strong draw for tourists and influence the style and appearance of development, which is in many cases colourful and individual.

The areas between these major roads and town centres are characterised by speculative, residential development from the mid to late 19th century for the then new middle classes. These show a variety of distinctive architectural forms and scales, with detached and semi-detached houses in classical Italianate form in Belsize and an eclectic variety of styles including neo-Gothic, Queen Anne, Domestic Revival, Arts & Crafts in Fitzjohns/Netherhall, Redington/Frognal and South Hampstead/Swiss Cottage. Gospel Oak, West Hampstead and the southern parts of Dartmouth Park were developed to a higher density with terraced houses, smaller gardens and have a more urban feel than Camden's other residential areas.

Social housing schemes are also an important element in the borough's built environment. St Andrews House on Saffron Hill is the oldest surviving public housing block in London whilst early 20th century examples include the London County Council's Bourne Estate on Leather Lane. The LLC's Ossulston Estate is considered the most important inner-city estate of the inter-war period. Post-war examples illustrate an architecturally ambitious programme of housing schemes by Camden Council following its creation in 1965, many of which are listed. The characteristic form was a megastructure of stepped terraces. This low rise, high density approach reflected traditional terraced housing, but provided light, privacy and private open space for all levels of accommodation. Examples are Brunswick Centre, and the estates of Fleet Road, Alexandra Road, Maiden Lane and Highgate New Town.

The Regent's Canal runs through the centre of the borough. Although it is often hidden from surrounding areas, it provides an area of nature conservation interest and amenity space along its course through King's Cross and Camden Town to Regent's Park.

The northern part of the borough benefits from the presence of the large open space of Hampstead Heath, which provides amenity and leisure space, a verdant setting to the surrounding development and famous views across London. Hampstead and Highgate are derived from medieval hamlets and have clearly defined village centres which reflect their origins. They have a variety of building types from cottages and terraces to detached houses and grand residences, with a generally densely packed, high quality urban grain of a range of styles, scales and ages. Both areas contain many high quality, architect-designed houses from the 19th and 20th centuries, many of which have become important parts of the local heritage and are listed for their national significance.





Key evidence and references

- Conservation Area Statements/Appraisals/Management Strategies; London Borough of Camden; various dates
- Camden Walking Plan Second Edition 2006
- Camden Streetscape Design Manual 2005
- Planning Policy Guidance 16 Archaeology and planning; DETR; 1990
- Conservation Principles, Policies and Guidance, English Heritage, 2008
- By Design: Urban Design in the Planning System Towards Better Practice; DETR/CABE; 2000
- Planning Policy Statement 1 Delivering Sustainable Development; ODPM; 2005
- Planning Policy Statement 5 Planning for the Historic Environment; CLG; 2010
- Planning Policy Guidance 15 Planning and the Historic Environment; DoE; 1994
- The London Plan (consolidated with Alterations since 2004); Mayor of London; 2008
- London View Management Framework Supplementary Planning Guidance; Mayor of London; 2007
- Sustainable design, climate change and the built environment; CABE Briefing; 2007
- Easy Access to Historic Buildings, English Heritage, 2004
- Easy Access to Historic Landscapes, English Heritage, 2005
- Seeing History in the View: Methodology for assessing the heritage value within views, English Heritage, 2008
- Guidance on Tall Buildings, English Heritage/CABE, 2007



CS15. Protecting and improving our parks and open spaces and encouraging biodiversity

- 15.1 Camden has over 250 designated parks and open spaces and 36 sites of nature conservation importance. In addition many housing estates include green areas that play a role in meeting the open space needs of local people. Hampstead Heath is the largest open space in the borough, providing nearly half of our total area of open space and many of our outdoor sporting facilities. The openness and semi-rural feel of the Heath and its surrounding green areas is preserved through its designation as Metropolitan Open Land (MOL), broadly equivalent to the green belt.
- 15.2 The south of the borough is characterised by dense development with small enclosed spaces, many of which are preserved as London Squares. There are other small spaces scattered throughout the borough that provide various recreational and amenity opportunities. The most prominent open spaces near the centre of the borough are Regent's Park/Primrose Hill and the Regent's Canal. The Canal and railway sidings have an important role in nature conservation and provide habitat corridors (green chains) across Camden. Residents west of Finchley Road and in Central London have the lowest level of access to open space (not including land around housing estates), followed by Kentish Town, Somers Town and Gospel Oak.
- 15.3 Sites of nature conservation in Camden are generally small and undervalued, with pressure from adjoining sites and limited opportunities for expansion. However, green and brown roofs for both amenity and biodiversity value have been an increasing feature of new developments within Camden. Private gardens in Camden also provide a significant resource for biodiversity and amenity space.
- 15.4 Policy CS15 Protecting and improving our parks and open spaces and encouraging biodiversity seeks to ensure that the growth in the number of residents and visitors to Camden, identified in policy CS1 *Distribution of growth*, will be supported by increases and improvements in open space provision, including outdoor sport and recreation opportunities, and that development protects and makes provision for biodiversity.

CS15 – Protecting and improving our parks and open spaces and encouraging biodiversity

The Council will protect and improve Camden's parks and open spaces. We will:

- a) protect open spaces designated in the open space schedule as shown on the Proposals Map, including our Metropolitan Open Land, and other suitable land of 400sqm or more on large estates with the potential to be used as open space;
- b) tackle deficiencies and under-provision and meet increased demand for open space by:
 - providing additional open space at King's Cross;
 - securing additional on-site public open space in the growth areas of Euston, West Hampstead Interchange, Holborn

and Tottenham Court Road, and other parts of Central London. Where the provision of on-site public open space is not practical on a particular site in these areas, the Council will require a contribution to the provision of additional public open space on identified sites in the vicinity. If it can be demonstrated to the Council's satisfaction that no such suitable sites are available, we will require improvements to other open spaces in the area;

- securing improvements to publicly accessible open land on the Council's housing estates; and
- securing other opportunities for additional public open space.

CS15 – Protecting and improving our parks and open spaces and encouraging biodiversity (continued)

- c) secure from developments that create an additional demand for open space, where opportunities arise, improvements to open spaces, including to:
 - the facilities provided, such as play and sports facilities;
 - access arrangements; and
 - the connections between spaces.

The Council will protect and improve sites of nature conservation and biodiversity, in particular habitats and biodiversity identified in the Camden and London Biodiversity Plans in the borough by:

- d) designating existing nature conservation sites;
- e) protecting other green areas with nature conservation value, including gardens, where possible;
- f) seeking to improve opportunities to experience nature, in particular in South and West Hampstead, Kentish Town and central London, where such opportunities are lacking;
- g) expecting the provision of new or enhanced habitat, where possible, including through biodiverse green or brown roofs and green walls;
- h) identifying habitat corridors and securing biodiversity improvements along gaps in habitat corridors;
- i) working with The Royal Parks, the London Wildlife Trust, friends of parks groups and local nature conservation groups to protect and improve open spaces and nature conservation in Camden;
- j) protecting trees and promoting the provision of new trees and vegetation, including additional street trees.

The Council will preserve and enhance the historic, open space and nature conservation importance of Hampstead Heath and its surrounding area by:

- k) working with the City of London, English Heritage and Natural England to manage and improve the Heath and its surrounding areas;
- protecting the Metropolitan Open Land, public and private open space and the nature conservation designations of sites;
- m) seeking to extend the public open space when possible and appropriate;
- n) taking into account the impact on the Heath when considering relevant planning applications;
- o) protecting views from Hampstead Heath and views across the Heath and its surrounding area;
- p) improving the biodiversity of, and habitats in, Hampstead Heath and its surrounding area, where opportunities arise.

The Council will preserve and enhance the Regent's Canal by:

- d) balancing the differing demands on the Canal, its towpath and adjoining land;
- r) implementing opportunities to make the Canal a safer place;
- s) applying the guidance in the Regent's Canal Conservation Area Management Strategy;
- t) implementing opportunities to provide additional nature conservation areas and improve the role of the Canal and its adjoining land as a habitat corridor (green chain);
- u) working with British Waterways, Natural England, other land owners/developers, users and the local community to improve the Canal and towpath.

Camden's open spaces

Protecting our open spaces

- 15.5 Camden's parks and open spaces are important to the borough in terms of health, sport, recreation and play, the economy, culture, biodiversity, providing a pleasant outlook and providing breaks in the built up area. They also help to reduce flood risk by retaining rain water and some are used for growing food. Camden's growth will increase the demand for our open spaces so it is important that we protect our existing parks and open spaces.
- 15.6 The Council will protect the open spaces designated in the open space schedule shown on the Proposals Map, as well as other suitable land with the potential to be used as open space. Camden has many large housing estates with land originally designed for use as open space, but has never been formally designated as such. The Council will continue to retain suitable land, not formally designated as open space for the use as open space on large estates, whilst providing the flexibility for various land uses to be re-configured across the estate, in conjunction with the re-provision of land for open space use. We will not allow development on these open spaces unless it is for limited development ancillary to a use taking place on the land and for which there is a demonstrable need. Extensions and alterations to existing buildings on open space should be proportionate to the size, including the volume, of the original building. We will only allow development on sites adjacent to an open space that respects the size, form and use of that open space and does not cause harm to its wholeness, appearance or setting, or harm public enjoyment of the space. We will take into account the cumulative impact of developments where appropriate. The poor quality of an open space will generally not be accepted as a reason for its partial development to fund improvements as, once built on, open space is lost to the community for ever.

Metropolitan Open Land

15.7 Camden's designated open spaces include Metropolitan Open Land. This is open space of Londonwide significance that provides a break in the built up area and receives the same presumption against development as green belt land. There are four main areas of Metropolitan Open Land in Camden, which are of great importance to the borough and its character – Hampstead Heath and adjoining areas; Regent's Park; Primrose Hill/Barrow Hill Reservoir; and Highgate Cemetery/Waterlow Park/Fairseat. These will be protected in accordance with London Plan policy 3D.10. Guidance on Metropolitan Open Land and extensions to existing buildings within it is set out in government Planning Policy Guidance (PPG) 2 – Green Belts.

Tackling open space deficiency and securing additional and improved spaces

- 15.8 Camden's Open Space, Sport and Recreation Study 2004 and the needs assessment in Camden's Open Space Strategy demonstrated that nowhere in Camden had a surplus in open space. The Camden Open Space, Sport and Recreation Study Update 2008 found that there is currently 20sqm of public open space per person in the borough. This would drop to 17sqm by 2026 taking into account projected population increases and assuming no additional public open space is provided. The Study Update 2008 suggests standards for open space and highlights opportunities for improving the quantity and quality of open spaces in the borough, including play facilities and sports provision. These standards form the basis of our detailed policy on open space, sport and recreation in our Camden Development Policies Local Development Framework document (policy DP31 *Provision of, and improvements to, open space and outdoor sport and recreation facilities*).
- 15.9 Most of Camden's population has reasonable access to a metropolitan or district park (that is Hampstead Heath or Regent's Park and Primrose Hill) but a large proportion of residents do not have reasonable access to local and small parks and open spaces. Camden's Annual Monitoring Report and the Camden Open Space, Sport and Recreation Study Update 2008 show that only a small amount of new public open space has been provided in the borough and therefore in many areas, including South and West Hampstead, Gospel Oak and Kentish Town and parts of central London, there is still poor access to small and local parks and open spaces. These areas are therefore considered to be deficient in public open space (see map 7). Areas deficient in public open space are defined as those without access to a public open space within 280m. The Camden Open Space, Sport and Recreation Study Update 2008 also identified areas where there is 'under-provision' of public open space. Although these areas do have access to open space, this is not adequate to

meet the level of local need due to the number of children, dwelling density, and social disadvantage in the area. These areas are identified in figure 4.4 (Composite Need) in Camden's Open Space, Sport and Recreation Study Update 2008.

Map 7: Open Space



- This map is based on Ordnance Survey Material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office ©. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and ma lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Licence number LA 100019726, year 2010.
- 15.10 To tackle deficiencies and under-provision of public open space and to ensure adequate new open space is provided in Camden's growth areas, we will secure additional on-site open space on all appropriately sized and located sites. The Council wants to promote a green network approach to open space, where open spaces are connected by landscaped corridors or habitat corridors. We recognise that the built-up nature of Camden makes it difficult to provide new open space. However, the deficiency areas of West Hampstead, Camden Town and western Central London are near significant development sites that may have the potential to accommodate new public open space. The under-provided areas of South Hampstead, Camden Town and Somers Town are also near potential development sites that may be large enough to accommodate new public open space. The growth areas of King's Cross, Euston, and West Hampstead Interchange contain development sites that have potential to provide on-site open space. For example, two open spaces plus smaller play spaces and sports facilities will be provided as part of the redevelopment of King's Cross, providing much-needed facilities on the edge of central London and near Somers Town. We will use Camden's Site Allocations document to promote areas and development sites where the Council will expect new public open space to be incorporated within development proposals.

- 15.11 Where the opportunity arises in Kentish Town or Gospel Oak and other areas that suffer from deficiency or under-provision, the Council will expect the provision of on-site public open space. These areas contain large housing estates which could also provide new public open space as part of any estate regeneration programme. The Council has identified opportunities to improve open land around Alexandra and Ainsworth estate and surrounding sites on Abbey and Belsize Roads, with other open space improvements anticipated at Maiden Lane estate. Further open space improvements on housing sites can be identified as the Council's estate regeneration programme is extended.
- 15.12 The existing built up nature of large potential development sites in the growth areas of Holborn and Tottenham Court Road may make it difficult to secure a significant amount of new public open space at these locations. However, the Council will expect the provision of some public open space on suitable sites to remedy the recognised deficiency.
- 15.13 Where on-site provision of public open space is not possible, the Council will continue to seek other forms of open space provision. These may include the provision of open space off-site, or the payment of a financial contribution towards obtaining land for open space use, improving the quality of existing open spaces or improving access to them. When considering which open space to improve as a result of contributions, the Council will consider nearby deficiencies and under-provision in open space and existing plans for the management of open space. We will also take into account exercise rates and obesity levels in the surrounding area, a priority issue for the Camden Public Health Partnership. Our Camden Development Policies Local Development Framework document (policy DP31 *Provision of, and improvements to, open space and outdoor sport and recreation facilities*) sets out our detailed approach towards the provision of open space.
- 15.14 The Council will continue to seek to secure public use of open spaces on appropriate sites wherever practical, for example by putting in place suitable public access arrangements or purchasing land. Potential sites include land around housing estates and large private spaces, such as those adjoining Hampstead Heath.

Play facilities

15.15 Camden has numerous play facilities within open spaces and on housing estates. We will retain these, where appropriate, and seek to provide additional formal and informal play spaces in areas of deficiency or under provision in open space. The Council is providing and enhancing 28 play facilities as part of its Play Pathfinder project, including a new adventure playground at Kilburn Grange. This will significantly improve access for children and young people, particularly 8-13 year olds. Additional funding is also being provided by the NHS Camden. At least three play facilities for a range of ages will also be provided at King's Cross. Where additional demand for play space is created by development we will expect the provision of play space on the site, broadly in accordance with the Mayor's SPG on Providing for children and young peoples' play and informal recreation. See policy DP31 – *Provision of, and improvements to public open space and outdoor sport and recreation facilities* in Camden Development Policies for further details on the provision of play space expected. The Council's approach to play is set out in its Play Strategy 2007-2012.



Sports facilities

15.16 Camden also contains several full-sized pitches for various sports located on Hampstead Heath and Regent's Park. As the Council does not own these, they are not within our control to retain, maintain or alter to meet the changing needs of the borough. Given the built up nature of Camden, it is unlikely that new full size pitches will be provided. However, we will continue to seek to protect existing outdoor sport facilities by working with the City of London and the Royal Parks, and we will encourage the improvement of existing facilities. We will also seek to retain privately owned playing pitches. The Council owns several tennis courts in Waterlow Park and multi-games areas and smaller pitches on housing estates, in schools and on open spaces, which we will continue to maintain. New facilities have been secured at King's Cross and our Camden Site Allocations document will identify sites where outdoor sports or related facilities may be expected as part of any open space proposals. The Council's approach to sport is set out in its ProActive Sport & Physical Activity Strategy 2008-2012. For details on our approach to indoor sports facilities see CS10 – Supporting community facilities and services.

Nature conservation

15.17 Green spaces play a vital role in nature conservation and provision for biodiversity. Camden is fortunate to have Camley Street Nature Park, Kentish Town City Farm and several local nature reserves, which provide educational tools and health benefits for residents. The Council will continue to protect all sites in the borough formally identified as being of nature conservation value (see Map 8). Where possible we will also protect an amount of green space or garden space on a site that reflects the local built form and landscape character. The Council and statutory undertakers, who own some of the designated sites, have a duty to have regard to conserving biodiversity. However, most Sites of Nature Conservation Importance in Camden are not in the Council's control and therefore it is difficult to protect species, habitats and foraging areas other than those formally protected by international and national legislation. To protect our existing sites, we will resist the development of designated sites where the nature conservation value has been diminished or lost, especially where this loss is due to neglect or damage, and we will seek the reinstatement, or an equivalent level, of biodiversity on the site. The Council will be particularly keen to protect habitats and species identified in Camden's Biodiversity Action Plan.





Map 8: Locations Deficient in Access to Nature Conservation Areas

- 15.18 Residents and visitors further than 1km away from a metropolitan or borough Site of Nature Conservation Importance are considered to have poor access to the natural environment. These areas are shown on Map 8. Where opportunities exist in these areas we will explore ways to support biodiversity and nature conservation. We will use the Camden Site Allocations document to identify sites where enhanced or new measures to support biodiversity and nature conservation may be expected as part of any new proposals and new open spaces. Even where no additional open space is being created we will seek other forms of biodiversity such as biodiverse landscaping, habitat creation, green or brown roofs and, where appropriate, green walls. Camden's Biodiversity Action Plan identifies habitats and species that are particularly important in Camden. Our Camden Planning Guidance supplementary document will provide further information on the Council's expectations for improvements in nature conservation.
- 15.19 Developers and landowners should also give consideration to the need for species to move between different types of habitats which will help these species to cope with the effects of climate change. We will continue to retain habitat corridors in the borough, identify 'missing links' in these corridors and seek to secure habitat corridors as part of developments and through street improvements. Habitat corridors and missing links are identified on the Proposals Map. Areas that could provide habitat corridors or contribute to nature conservation include land adjacent to railway lines, where existing vegetation can be enhanced or new vegetation provided, and sites adjoining

existing open spaces. Opportunities for further links include around West Hampstead railway lands and from Kentish Town to Hampstead Heath (as shown on the Proposals Map).

15.20 There are limited opportunities to provide new ground-level habitats in the borough due to lack of space. Whilst the provision of habitat at ground level is important, there are opportunities on new and existing buildings to provide habitats in the form of green or brown roofs and green walls. We will expect developments to provide opportunities for biodiversity within the fabric and curtilage of buildings. Where redevelopment occurs on sites adjacent to existing wildlife sites we will expect developers to provide additional habitat of an appropriate scale. We will favour the provision of habitat for species identified in the Camden and London Biodiversity Action Plans. Where we secure additional land for nature conservation we will work with local nature conservation groups and social and corporate volunteers that help protect and enhance these new spaces in addition to the Council's existing Local Nature Reserves. Please see the Council's Camden Planning Guidance supplementary document for information on ways to improve biodiversity and on our areas of nature conservation deficiency.

Trees

- 15.21 Trees are important for their aesthetic value, as habitat, in shading, cooling and filtering the air and in removing carbon dioxide and providing oxygen. They will play an increasingly important role in providing shade and refuge in the hotter summers predicted due to climate change. More guidance on trees and groups of trees can be found in Camden Development Policies and our Camden Planning Guidance supplementary document. There is often pressure for the removal of trees and groups of trees in the borough due to subsidence fears, perceived dangers, locations close to existing underground infrastructure and to facilitate development.
- 15.22 The Council has a Tree Strategy which deals with tree management on its land. This aims to retain trees and provide new trees on Council land. We have a tree planting programme which is increasing the number of trees in the borough, in streets, parks housing estates and schools. We will resist the loss of trees and groups of trees wherever possible and, where this is not possible, require their replacement on development sites or nearby streets and open spaces. The choice of species should consider historic context, availability of space, soil conditions, potential improvements to air and soil quality and reducing the effects of and adapting to climate change. Further information on protected trees and groups of trees, the procedures for seeking their removal and their replacement is set out in the Council's Camden Planning Guidance supplementary document.





Hampstead Heath

- 15.23 Hampstead Heath has been a valuable recreational resource for Londoners since the mid-17th century and is Camden's largest open space. The City of London, who own and manage the Heath, has developed a management plan in consultation with the local interest groups and the wider community. We will work with the City, English Heritage and Natural England on preparing and implementing plans for the Heath.
- 15.24 The Heath and some of its surrounding areas are designated Metropolitan Open Land (see para 15.7 above). It is also important for its ecology being a Metropolitan Site of Nature Conservation, a Site of Special Scientific Interest and containing two areas of Ancient Woodland. There are also numerous large private gardens adjacent to the Heath that are designated open space.
- 15.25 We will continue to use the guidance in the conservation area statements, appraisals and management strategies for Dartmouth Park and Mansfield, Hampstead, Highgate Village, Redington and Frognal and South Hill Park to preserve and enhance the built environment around the Heath and preserve outlooks and views from it. Many views to and from the Heath are protected, for example the views from Kenwood House and Parliament Hill to St Paul's and from Parliament Hill to the Palace of Westminster (see policy CS14).

The Regent's Canal

- 15.26 The Regent's Canal, Camden's only significant open watercourse, winds through the borough from Regents Park through Camden Town and King's Cross, and is undergoing significant regeneration. It serves several purposes, from its open space, leisure and recreational functions and biodiversity importance to its historic significance and commercial and transport role. The Canal forms part of London's Blue Ribbon Network, which has its own set of policies within the London Plan. The Canal is an important historical feature and it is important that development near the Canal reflects its unique character. The Council will therefore take into account the Regent's Canal Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Strategy when assessing applications for sites along and adjacent to the Canal.
- 15.27 The Council has been working with the Metropolitan Police and British Waterways to improve security along the Canal. Its separation from streets and buildings is an important element of the Canal's character but this also makes it susceptible to crime and anti-social behaviour. Any development along the Canal needs to address these challenges.
- 15.28 The Canal is a main east-west pedestrian and cycle route through the borough linking Regents Park, Camden Town and King's Cross. Its role as a connecting route will increase as more activities locate in King's Cross. The Council will seek to improve conditions for users where possible and, where developments are proposed, will investigate opportunities to provide additional access to the Canal.
- 15.29 The Canal is also an important ecological corridor and is designated as a site of metropolitan importance for nature conservation. Camley Street Nature Reserve is located along the Canal and the section at Albert Road near London Zoo is especially important, particularly for foraging bats as an unlit green space at night. The Council will therefore prevent the loss and degradation of habitat including from overshadowing and lighting in especially sensitive areas. We will also work



with British Waterways to improve biodiversity within and along the Canal and with developers to improve biodiversity through planting, provision of green or brown roofs and green walls. The redevelopment of Hawley Wharf provides an opportunity to improve the nature conservation and open space functions of the Canal.

15.30 The part of the Canal that runs through Camden is mainly used for leisure boating rather than transportation of goods and waste. A flexible approach to canal-side development that provides for the delivery and removal of material from both the road and canalside will be encouraged to enable future use of the Canal for transportation of goods and materials. The use of the Canal for any energy saving or generation measures and as a water store will be welcomed subject to schemes not harming the Canal's special qualities.

Key evidence and references

- Camden Open Space, Sport and Recreation Study; KKP; 2004
- Camden Open Space, Sport and Recreation Study Review; Atkins; 2008
- Open Space Strategy for Camden 2006-2011
- Draft Camden Biodiversity Action Plan 2009
- Strategy for managing, maintaining and replacing Council owned trees 2007-2011
- Camden Sustainability Task Force Report on Food, Water, Biodiversity and Open Space; 2008
- The London Plan (consolidated with Alterations since 2004); Mayor of London; 2008
- Connecting with London's nature: The Mayor's Biodiversity Strategy; 2002
- Planning Policy Statement (PPS) 9: Biodiversity and Geologic Conservation; 2005
- Planning Policy Guidance (PPG) 17: Planning for open space, sport and recreation; 2004
- Bringing your rivers back to life. A strategy for restoring rivers in North London; Environment Agency; 2006
- Hampstead Heath Management Plan Part 1. Towards a Plan for the Heath 2007-2017; City of London & Land Use consultants; 2007
- The Regent's Canal Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Strategy
- Inland Waterways. Unlocking the Potential and Securing the Future of Inland Waterways through the Planning System; TCPA; 2009
- Under Lock and Quay. Reducing criminal opportunity by design; British Waterways and the Metropolitan Police; 2000

CS16. Improving Camden's health and well-being

- 16.1 Improving our health and well-being requires more than improving access to medical treatment and services. There is an important link between the environment in which we live and how healthy we are, both physically and mentally. Factors such as age, gender and ethnicity influence our health and well-being, as well as wider factors such as education, employment, income, housing, social networks, air and water quality, nutrition, and access to social and public services. One of the key aims of Camden's Community Strategy is to ensure that the health and well-being of all Camden residents improves by tackling the key health issues.
- 16.2 The Council, NHS Camden (formally known as the Primary Care Trust or PCT) and the local community (through the Local Strategic Partnership) have a number of key, shared priorities which are set out in Camden's Joint Strategic Needs Assessment. These priorities include tackling smoking, alcohol misuse, obesity, drug misuse, as well as addressing mental health needs.
- 16.3 Policy CS16 contributes towards the overall aim of the Core Strategy to manage the impact of Camden's future growth by setting out our approach to improving health and well-being in the borough. It should be read alongside Policy CS10 which sets out how this strategy protects community facilities, including health care facilities. Many measures set out in other parts of the Core Strategy also play a part in promoting good health and addressing health inequalities, for example:
 - Protecting and improving our parks, play areas (see CS15) and leisure facilities (see CS10) which can encourage Camden's residents to choose healthier and more active lifestyles, help to improve mental well-being and encourage social interaction;
 - improving housing standards and affordability (see CS6);
 - encouraging walking and cycling (see CS11);
 - providing job, training and educational opportunities (see CS8);
 - promoting community safety (see CS17); and
 - managing the impact of development on amenity (DP26).

CS16 – Improving Camden's health and well-being

The Council will seek to improve health and well-being in Camden. We will:

- a) support NHS Camden in its goal to reduce health inequalities by targeting measures to improve health in the areas with poorest health, including King's Cross, St Pancras & Somers Town, Gospel Oak and Kilburn;
- b) protect existing health facilities in line with preferred approach CS10 – Supporting community facilities and services;
- c) support the provision of new or improved health facilities, in line with NHS London's plans to consolidate and modernise its facilities;
- recognise and support the borough's concentration of centres of medical excellence and their contribution to health-related research, clinical expertise, employment and training provision;
- e) recognise the impact of poor air quality on health and implement Camden's Air Quality Action Plan which aims to reduce air pollution levels.

Health inequalities

- 16.4 NHS Camden recognises that one of its biggest challenges is addressing variations in health across its area. It is committed to addressing health inequalities particularly in Camden's deprived areas where health care requirements are greater and where residents are less likely to access the health services that are available.
- 16.5 Map 9 shows health inequalities across the borough using the Indices of Deprivation 2007, which measured rates of poor health, mortality and disability, across all ages. The wards with the poorest levels of health are represented by the darker shading. Residents living in the most deprived wards are more likely to suffer from diet-related diseases, such as heart disease, cancers and strokes, which can contribute to higher mortality rates. For example, in St Pancras and Somers Town ward the mortality rate from heart disease is 98% higher than the national rate.²⁶ There is also a stark contrast between the most affluent ward (Hampstead) and most deprived ward (St Pancras and Somers Town) where there is a 10 year gap in male life expectancy.²⁷
- 16.6 The map also shows that the wards with the poorest health are located close to our growth areas. This provides us with the opportunity to ensure that new development in the growth areas will work alongside the initiatives discussed in this policy and throughout the Core Strategy to deliver improvements to the health and well-being of residents, particularly in the most deprived wards and Areas for Regeneration identified in the London Plan. For example, the King's Cross growth area will include a new health centre and additional public open space.
- 16.7 In order to reduce health inequalities, the Council and NHS Camden are concentrating on reducing mortality rates in the wards suffering the highest rates, which currently include St Pancras and Somers Town, King's Cross, Kilburn and Gospel Oak. Initiatives to improve premature mortality will be varied and include improving access to primary care (see section below on health facilities) as well as a range of health improvement and health promotion initiatives.
- 16.8 Projects and initiatives to improve resident's health include:
 - targeting people at risk of cardio vascular disease within the four most deprived wards, where it is the main cause of death;
 - enhancing GP services in the most deprived wards to provide more detailed advice and individual support to promote exercise and healthy eating and to reduce smoking and alcohol consumption;
 - promoting better access to healthy and nutritious food in the four most deprived wards through more local food growing opportunities. The Council is committed to providing 80 new growing spaces of varying sizes by 2012 and will provide support to individuals and organisations who wish to start growing their own food;
 - to reduce obesity in primary school age children in year 6 (Local Area Agreement target);
 - Camden Healthy Communities Action Group which works in the wards suffering the greatest health inequalities;
 - a Green Gym project, which allows residents to get fit by helping to improve seven of Camden's open spaces, including Westbere Copse, Belsize Wood and Waterlow Park; and
 - the opening of eight free 'Outdoor Gyms' in or close to areas of open space to encourage the community to improve their health by taking more regular exercise.




Map 9: Health Deprivation



Providing and protecting health facilities

16.9 Camden has a wide range of health facilities, with four major hospitals, around 40 GP practices, and over 150 other facilities, such as dentists, optometrists, and pharmacists. Map 10 shows the distribution of health facilities across the borough. Camden's local and community health facilities are perceived to be difficult to access by local residents.²⁸ NHS Camden is therefore changing the way it delivers primary health care over the next five to ten years. The improvements are set out in the NHS Camden Strategy Plan 2008-2013 and will include the consolidation and modernisation of its facilities to develop fewer, larger health facilities.

REFERENCES

- ²⁶ London Health Observatory Profile Report
- ²⁷ Camden's Annual Public Health Report 2007/08
- ²⁸ Camden NHS PCT Strategy Plan 2008-2013

Map 10: Health Facilities



- 16.10 After consultation with local residents, NHS Camden have established that 'polyclinics' in Camden will not be in individual buildings or health centres; but instead will involve linking the network of practices and health related facilities across the borough. By 2013, all practices in Camden will be linked to one of four of the following polyclinic networks:
 - North Camden: this will involve 11 practices providing a range of additional services alongside a pilot urgent care service at the Royal Free Hospital in Hampstead;
 - Kentish Town: this polyclinic network will cover two large GP practices, one of which has been redeveloped and now provides a range of services including nursing, dental access, out-patient and diagnostic services and a range of healthy living activities;
 - South Camden: this will link all the practices in south Camden. NHS Camden will commission an urgent care centre and a new practice for this polyclinic. The location of the new facilities is subject to a site search and further public consultation;
 - West Camden: this polyclinic network will be based around the Belsize Priory area in Kilburn.

NHS Camden will also commission a new health centre close to King's Cross station, in the King's Cross growth area.

- 16.11 As well as Camden's network of GP surgeries, health centres and dentists, we also have a significant concentration of secondary health facilities in the borough. These include four general hospitals, six specialist hospitals and a range of centres that provide care and support for the elderly, children and families, for people with mental health needs, for the mentally ill and many other groups. Policy CS6 contains more information on residential care facilities.
- 16.12 The Council will support the provision of additional health care facilities and will work with NHS Camden and other service providers to make sure the borough has a necessary supply and distribution of premises to meet Camden's health care needs. (see Appendix 1 – Key infrastructure programmes and projects – items 13-20). Existing health care facilities are protected by policy CS10 – Supporting community facilities and services.

Centres of medical excellence

16.13 Camden has an internationally important concentration of medical education, research and care institutions. These make a significant contribution to the borough and the nation by providing healthcare facilities, specialist research, employment and education opportunities, and by encouraging innovation. We will seek to support these institutions, which include the University College London Hospital (UCLH), the Royal Free Hospital, Great Ormond Street Hospital and the Wellcome Trust, and balance their requirements with those of other sectors and the local community.

Air quality

16.14 Camden suffers from poor air quality which impacts on human health, particularly the very young, older people and those with existing heart and lung conditions. The avoidance of localised air pollution is therefore very important in avoiding a potential negative impact on health and on the environment. The Council has declared the whole borough an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) for failing to meet the government's health based air quality objectives for nitrogen dioxide and particulate matter. An Air Quality Action Plan has been produced setting out measures to reduce air pollution emissions from a variety of sources including new developments. Policy DP32 in our Camden Development Policies Local Development Framework document sets out how we will expect developments to reduce their impact on air quality. Please also see CS11 – *Promoting sustainable and efficient travel* for more on our approach to improving air quality through transport measures.

Contaminated land

16.15 In order to protect the health and well-being of local residents, workers and visitors, the Council will expect proposals for the redevelopment of sites that are known to be contaminated, have the potential to be contaminated, or are located in proximity to such sites to take appropriate remedial action to the Council's satisfaction. For example, sites that have been used for vehicle repair, industrial processes and petrol stations could have land contamination issues. Remedial action is particularly important in developments where people will have access to the ground for gardening, play or planting food for consumption. Please refer to Planning Policy Guidance 23 – Planning and Pollution Control, the Council's Contaminated Land Strategy and our Camden Planning Guidance supplementary document for more information.

- Camden Joint Strategic Needs Assessment
- Camden's Air Quality Action Plan
- Good food for Camden: The healthy and sustainable food strategy (2009-2012)
- NHS Camden Strategy Plan 2008-2013
- Camden PCT Commissioning Strategy Plan 2007
- Camden PCT Annual Public Health reports 1998 to 2007
- Camden PCT Estates Strategy 2006
- Health Issues in Planning: Best Practice Guidance, Mayor of London 2007

CS17. Making Camden a safer place

- 17.1 Crime and fear of crime is a primary concern for many of Camden's residents and businesses, and can undermine people's quality of life and well-being. Tackling this critical issue is one of the key challenges facing the Council and its partners. *A safe Camden that is a vibrant part of our world city* is one of the key themes of the Camden Community Strategy. Our challenge is to make Camden a safer place for local residents and those who work in and visit the borough, while making sure that it maintains the vibrancy that contributes so much to its character and success.
- 17.2 The level and type of crime and anti-social behaviour varies across the borough and areas of higher crime have been identified at Camden Town, King's Cross, Bloomsbury, Covent Garden and Kilburn. The borough's central location and thriving night time economy can be linked to a range of problems including alcohol and drug related criminal and anti-social activity. Development in the borough provides the opportunity to implement measures to improve community safety, in particular where development takes place in areas with relatively high levels of crime and anti-social behaviour.

CS17 – Making Camden a safer place

The Council will aim to make Camden a safer place. We will:

- a) work with our partners to tackle crime, fear of crime and anti-social behaviour;
- encourage appropriate security and community safety measures in buildings, spaces and the transport system;
- c) require developments to demonstrate that they have incorporated design principles which contribute to community safety and security, particularly in areas with relatively high levels of crime, in particular Camden Town, King's Cross, Bloomsbury, Covent Garden and Kilburn;
- ensure Camden's businesses and organisations take responsibility for reducing the opportunities for crime through effective management and design;
- e) promote safer streets and public areas; and
- f) address the impact of food, drink and entertainment uses, particularly in Camden Town, Central London and other centres.

- 17.3 The Camden Community Safety Partnership has been established to reduce crime, disorder and nuisance in the borough. The Partnership is a network of organisations involved in community safety including the Council, various police organisations, the Camden Community & Police Consultative Group and the NHS Camden. The Partnership's Strategy, Camden Safe, sets out its priorities and measures to make sure that everyone living in, working in or visiting Camden will be safer and feel safer, day and night. To help achieve these priorities, operational and working groups have also been set up to focus on priority areas and youth crime.
- 17.4 Consideration of how crime, disorder and fear of crime can be addressed is an important element in good design. This can create safe and attractive places to live and work, reduce the opportunity for crime and allow for better maintenance and management of buildings and spaces. The Council will require all development to include appropriate design, layout and access measures to help reduce opportunities for crime, the fear of crime and to create a more safe and secure environment. These



features should be incorporated into a scheme from the beginning of the design process; however, they should complement other key design considerations. All developments should also seek to design out risks from fire. The Council will expect development proposals to reflect the guidance in the government publication *Safer Places: The Planning System and Crime Prevention*. This will be particularly important in the borough's areas of highest crime and measures should reflect any crime and anti-social behaviour problems specific to the local area. Further information on designing safer environments is set out in the Council's Camden Planning Guidance supplementary document.

- 17.5 The design of streets, public areas, and the spaces between buildings needs to be accessible, safe and uncluttered. Careful consideration needs to be given to the design and location of any street furniture or equipment. The use of a site and the layout can have a major impact on community safety and the Council will seek 'active frontages' which attract people and allow streets to be overlooked. The Council wants to ensure that Camden's spaces and places can be used by all members of the community. People will make more use of high quality, safe streets and places and this increase in use will, in turn, increase perceptions of safety and reduce the opportunities for crime. Development which restricts movement into or through a scheme, such as 'gated' developments will not be permitted.
- 17.6 The provision of appropriate management and maintenance arrangements can play a key role in reducing the opportunity for crime and disorder and making the borough feel safer. The Council will seek the following measures:
 - the use of Design and Access Statements, submitted with planning applications, to demonstrate how community safety issues have been addressed within development proposals;
 - contributions from large developments (that is, schemes of 10 homes or more, or sites of 1,000 sqm or more) to appropriate community safety measures;
 - the submission of a Crime Impact Assessment and lighting plan with planning applications, where relevant;
 - the use of local management agreements (secured through section 106 agreements or attached as a condition when the Council grants a license) to encourage owners/occupiers to take responsibility for potential impacts of their premises on their surroundings;
 - the maintenance of some interior lighting overnight, where appropriate, particularly within areas identified as having high levels of crime and other centres; and
 - the use of shopfront security measures that do not require external shutters or grilles of any kind. Further guidance on shop shutters is set out in the Council's Camden Planning Guidance supplementary document.



- 17.7 Camden's food, drink and licensed entertainment premises contribute to the attractiveness and vibrancy of the borough but, particularly where there is a concentration of late night activity, there can be problems such as noise and disturbance, littering, anti-social behaviour, crime and violence. Alcohol related crime and late night disorder have been identified as significant issues in Camden Town and parts of Central London. The Council will seek to make sure that that food, drink and licensed entertainment uses do not, individually or cumulatively, cause harm to the local area. Please see CS7 *Promoting Camden's centres and shops and policy* DP12 in Camden Development Policies for further details on our approach to managing planning applications for such uses. The Council has prepared more detailed planning guidance for Central London and the centres of Camden Town, Finchley Road/Swiss Cottage and West Hampstead, with particular focus on food, drink and evening entertainment uses. We will take these into account when assessing relevant planning applications in these areas. The Council will also use management and maintenance agreements with owners and operators to make sure that the areas outside of premises used in the evening economy are appropriately managed.
- 17.8 In addition to its planning functions, the Council also regulates premises that sell alcohol and provide entertainment and late-night refreshment thorough its actions as a licensing authority. The key objectives of Camden's Statement of Licensing Policy include preventing crime and disorder, addressing issues of community safety and preventing public nuisance. We also seek to balance conflicting interests and recognise the wish of local people to live and work in a safe and healthy environment and the importance to the local economy and community of well-run leisure and entertainment premises.
- 17.9 Camden's position in the centre of a major international city, its high profile, major transport interchanges and famous buildings and places make security an important issue in the borough. The Council will therefore expect the design of buildings, spaces and transport facilities to include appropriate and proportionate security and community safety measures.

- Camden Safe 2008 2011; Camden's Community Safety Partnership Strategy;
- Camden Together Camden's Sustainable Community Strategy 2007 2012
- Camden Statement of Licensing Policy 2008
- Planning Guidance for Central London/Camden Town/Finchley Road/Swiss Cottage/West Hampstead; London Borough of Camden (various dates)
- Safer Places the Planning System and Crime Prevention; ODPM; 2004
- The London Plan (consolidated with alterations since 2004); Mayor of London; 2008

CS18. Dealing with our waste and encouraging recycling

- 18.1 The amount of waste we produce is increasing and the traditional ways of dealing with it (for example, exporting it to landfill sites outside London) are becoming increasingly unacceptable, financially and environmentally. Therefore, we need to find better ways of dealing with our waste, taking more responsibility for dealing with it within London. This will include reducing the amount of waste we produce, increasing the re-use and recycling of materials and finding sites for new waste facilities.
- 18.2 We also face specific challenges in dealing with waste in Camden. For example, the borough's ability to be self-sufficient in waste is limited by its built-up character and the lack of sites on which to build waste management facilities. Also, the nature of Camden's housing stock, with a large proportion of flats and a significant number of homes without gardens, means that some homes have limited space for storing recycling containers and reduced opportunities for composting.
- 18.3 The Council recognises that Camden cannot adequately deal with its waste in isolation. Therefore, it is a member of the North London Waste Authority, which is responsible for the disposal of waste collected in the boroughs of Barnet, Camden, Enfield, Haringey, Hackney, Islington and Waltham Forest.

CS18 – Dealing with our waste and encouraging recycling

The Council will seek to make Camden a low waste borough. We will:

- aim to reduce the amount of waste produced in the borough and increase recycling and the re-use of materials to meet our targets of 40% of household waste recycled by 2010, 45% by 2015 and 50% by 2020;
- b) make sure that developments include facilities for the storage and collection of

waste and recycling;

- c) deal with North London's waste by working with our partner boroughs in the North London Waste Authority to produce a North London Waste Plan, which will ensure that facilities are provided to meet the amount of waste allocated to the area in the London Plan;
- d) safeguard Camden's existing waste site at Regis Road.
- 18.4 The Council is committed to reducing the amount of waste produced in the borough, encouraging recycling and managing collected waste in a sustainable way. It fully supports the objectives of sustainable waste management to move the management of waste up the 'waste hierarchy' of reduction, reuse, recycling and composting, to use waste as a source of energy where possible, and to only dispose of it as a last resort.
- 18.5 We believe that communities should take more responsibility for their own waste and will work to meet national and London-wide targets for waste and recycling. The London Plan sets targets for London to become more self sufficient in handling its waste, with facilities sought to manage 75% of London's waste by 2010, rising to 80% by 2015 and 85% by 2020. The London Plan expects Camden to manage 201,000 tonnes of waste in 2010 and 313,000 tonnes in 2020. However, we are pooling our waste with our partner boroughs in North London and working on joint solutions to the area's waste. The North London boroughs are together expected to deal with a total of 1,504,000 tonnes of waste in 2010, rising to 2,342,000 tonnes in 2020.
- 18.6 The North London Waste Authority and the seven boroughs have prepared a Joint Waste Strategy, which plans for managing the waste collected by the boroughs until 2020. This will be used to facilitate the provision of new waste management services, to increase recycling and recovery and divert more waste away from disposal to landfill.

- 18.7 In their role as planning authorities, the boroughs are preparing a joint planning document the North London Waste Plan which will sit alongside the North London Joint Waste Strategy to secure the sustainable management of our waste. It will identify appropriate locations, including existing sites, for a range of waste facilities to meet the needs of North London and will aim to ensure that benefits are maximised and the negative aspects minimised. In line with London Plan policy 4A.27, the North London Waste Plan will identify sites to deal with the management of waste collected by local authorities (municipal waste); commercial and industrial waste; construction, demolition and excavation waste; hazardous waste and agricultural waste. It will also contain some detailed policies to ensure that proposals for waste facilities will be dealt with consistently across the North London area.
- 18.8 Camden currently only has one waste site the recycling and re-use centre at Regis Road and will continue to safeguard it for waste use. The change of use of this site will only be permitted if a suitable compensatory waste facility is provided that replaces the facilities and services available at Regis Road (see London Plan policy 4A.24).
- 18.9 Camden will seek to increase recycling in the borough to meet the national target of 40% of household waste recycled by 2010, 45% by 2015 and 50% by 2020. Recycling in the borough has been increasing and over 27% of household waste was recycled in 2007/8, up from 16% in 2002/3. We have a number of schemes to encourage more recycling, including mini recycling centres, the reuse and recycling centre at Regis Road, and a weekly door-to-door recycling collection service. *Let's Talk Rubbish*, Camden's Waste Strategy, aims to reduce the amount of waste we produce in coming years and increase the amount we recycle. It contains our overall objectives for managing Camden's waste and sets out what we are doing to encourage recycling and waste reduction and provide recycling facilities and waste collection services.
- 18.10 To make sure that residents and businesses can properly store and sort their waste and to make household recycling as easy as possible, the Council will require developments to provide adequate facilities for recycling and the storage and disposal of waste. Facilities for home composting will be encouraged in appropriate development schemes. We will also seek to secure the re-use of construction waste on development sites to reduce resource use and the need to transport materials. The Council's Camden Planning Guidance supplementary planning document contains further information on the Council's expectations for on-site facilities for waste and recycling and on construction waste.
- 18.11 In 2008, the government made the preparation of Site Waste Management Plans mandatory for all developments worth £300,000 and more. These describe and quantify each waste type expected to be produced in the course of a project and identify the waste management action proposed for each, including re-using, recycling, recovery and disposal. To ensure an integrated approach to waste management and the highest possible re-use and recycling rates, the Council may require, through a planning condition, or as part of a Construction Management Plan, the submission of a site waste management plan prior to construction. Further details on Construction Management Plans can be found in the Camden Planning Guidance supplementary document.

- Let's Talk Rubbish Camden's Waste Strategy 2007 2010 (revision 1, 2008)
- Camden Annual Monitoring Report 2007/8
- Camden Sustainability Task Force Report on Waste & Recycling; 2007
- North London Joint Waste Strategy 2004 2020; North London Waste Authority.
- The London Plan (consolidated with Alterations since 2004); Mayor of London; 2008
- Waste Strategy for England; Defra; 2007
- Rethinking Rubbish in London The Mayor's Municipal Waste Strategy; 2003
- Planning Policy Statement (PPS) 10 Planning for Sustainable Waste Management; 2005





Delivery and monitoring

- 19.1 This section provides an overview of the ways the Council will deliver the Core Strategy's vision and objectives, focussing on how we will:
 - work with our partners;
 - ensure necessary infrastructure is provided;
 - make use of planning obligations; and
 - monitor how effective we are in delivering the Core Strategy.

The supporting text to each of the policies in this Core Strategy includes material on how that policy will be implemented and on the provision of infrastructure relevant to the delivery of that policy.

19.2 A key mechanism for delivering the Core Strategy will be the Council's decisions on planning applications. The policies in the Core Strategy, our Development Policies document and, for relevant locations, the designations in our Site Allocations document will provide the framework for these decisions. We will also take account of the Council's supplementary planning documents (including Camden Planning Guidance, planning briefs and frameworks and conservation area statements, appraisals and management strategies) when determining planning applications.



CS19 – Delivering and monitoring the Core Strategy

The Council will work with Camden's Local Strategic Partnership and its other partners to deliver the vision, objectives and policies of this Core Strategy. We will:

- a) work with relevant providers to ensure that necessary infrastructure is secured to support Camden's growth and provide the facilities needed for the borough's communities. Information on the key infrastructure programmes and projects in the borough to 2025 are set in Appendix 1;
- b) use planning obligations, and other suitable mechanisms, where appropriate, to:

- support sustainable development,
- secure any necessary and related infrastructure, facilities and services to meet needs generated by development, and
- mitigate the impact of development;
- c) work with neighbouring boroughs to coordinate delivery across boundaries; and
- monitor the implementation of the Core Strategy against the indicators set out in Appendix 4 and publish the results in our Annual Monitoring Report.

Working with our partners

- 19.3 Central to the delivery of the Core Strategy will be working with our partners. During the preparation of this Core Strategy the Council has secured the involvement and commitment of Camden's Local Strategic Partnership. We have also worked with other key delivery partners, such as Transport for London, to reflect their plans and spending programmes.
- 19.4 The Local Strategic Partnership recognises that it has an important role to play in relation to the delivery of this Core Strategy, in particular in bringing forward the key infrastructure programmes and projects identified in Appendix 1. The Council and the LSP are currently considering ways to achieve this, such as a Local Delivery Vehicle or Infrastructure Board to take forward the delivery of infrastructure and ensure that opportunities for partnership working and the joint delivery of services are optimised to achieve the Core Strategy's objectives.
- 19.5 The Council, its partners and central government have agreed Camden's Local Area Agreement (LAA), which contains a range of goals and targets to improve our services. The Core Strategy will contribute to delivering a number of these outcomes. The indicators we will use to monitor the success of the Core Strategy have been aligned with those in the Local Area Agreement where possible. The preparation of the Core Strategy also involved local community groups and residents, for example through stakeholder workshops, meetings and other consultation and engagement events and processes (see the Core Strategy Proposed Submission Consultation Statement for more details). The Council's Statement of Community Involvement sets out how we intend to involve the local community and other stakeholders in the preparation and implementation of our planning policy documents and in the consideration of planning applications.

Place shaping

19.6 The Council, acting as a service provider and property owner and manager, has a key role to play in the delivery of the Core Strategy. We have set up a 'Place Shaping Board' which brings together key Council service providers to consider how best to maximise assets and resources in particular areas of focus within Camden including King's Cross, Euston, Camden Town, Swiss Cottage, West Hampstead, Kentish Town, Kilburn and Gospel Oak. These are places where significant public and private investment and development is expected and, with the exception of Gospel Oak, all are growth areas or other highly accessible areas identified in this Core Strategy (see policy CS1). Gospel Oak has been selected due to the considerable investment being made in the area through Camden's housing estate regeneration programme and the provision of youth and play facilities.

- 19.7 Within the identified areas of focus, the Place Shaping Board makes strategic recommendations on the use of resources and how best to meet the identified needs of the priority areas, based on shared evidence with the Local Development Framework. It will seek to ensure the most efficient implementation of the Council's strategies, including this Core Strategy, which is a key document in guiding the work of the Board. The Board will identify ways to help deliver the Core Strategy in the priority areas through guiding Council decisions on:
 - the use of resources;
 - bids for funding; and
 - opportunities to maximise benefits through co-ordinating assets, capital programmes and service provision.

Infrastructure

- 19.8 It is vital that the transport facilities and services, utilities and social infrastructure needed to make development work and support local communities is provided, particularly in the parts of the borough that will experience most growth in future years. Therefore, the Council has engaged with infrastructure providers, delivery partners and other relevant organisations to ensure that necessary infrastructure is planned and will continue to do so to ensure that the infrastructure to support growth is delivered.
- 19.9 To help to ensure that infrastructure is provided to support Camden's growth, the Council commissioned The Camden Infrastructure Study 2009 to provide information on infrastructure needs and provision in the borough. This had four main components:
 - identifying the infrastructure needs of Camden over the lifespan of the Core Strategy (to 2025/6);
 - establishing the relative importance and priorities of infrastructure needs;
 - producing a strategic infrastructure plan, which sets out how infrastructure should be provided, by whom and with indicative costs; and
 - developing a robust methodology on how a viable Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) might be established, should the Council may choose to implement one.
- 19.10 The Study's findings have helped to identify the transport, social and utility infrastructure required to enable delivery of the Core Strategy, which is set out in Appendix 1 *Key Infrastructure Programmes and Projects*. Although comprehensive, this is not an exhaustive list of all infrastructure likely to be needed in Camden in the period covered by this Core Strategy and other items will be required, as appropriate, in response to new development in the borough. Where relevant, the individual sections in the Core Strategy also contain details of required infrastructure and mechanisms for its delivery.







- 19.11 Appendix 1 also sets out the anticipated timing and phasing of infrastructure provision. Timing and phasing will depend on a variety of factors, including when the development envisaged by this Core Strategy takes place, the availability of funding and the timing of major investment. In many cases the confirmation of funding for infrastructure is limited to the short term. Nevertheless, it is important to identify medium to long term infrastructure priorities even where funding has not yet been confirmed as the Core Strategy will guide future decision making of the Council and its partners in relation to infrastructure provision. The Council has worked with key partners to inform The Camden Infrastructure Study 2009 and the resulting key infrastructure programmes and projects which are identified in Appendix 1 to ensure that the expectations which are set out are realistic and deliverable.
- 19.12 The Camden Sites Allocations document will contain further information about the infrastructure requirements of the sites and areas in the borough that area expected to experience significant development
- 19.13 Where a development generates the need for new or upgraded infrastructure, on- or off- site, either to support the development or mitigate its effects, the Council will expect contributions towards provision to meet this need. Necessary infrastructure may include facilities for walking, cycling and public transport, and community facilities, such as schools and other educational establishments, health facilities, places of worship and open spaces.

Planning obligations

- 19.14 The Council will use planning obligations,²⁹ in appropriate circumstances and in accordance with Circular 05/05 Planning Obligations, to influence the nature of a development or mitigate or compensate for its potential effects. Where existing and planned provision of infrastructure, facilities and services are not adequate to meet the needs generated by a proposal, the Council will negotiate planning obligations to secure measures to meet those needs.
- 19.15 Planning obligations (sometimes known as legal agreements or section 106 agreements) can help to contribute to the success of a development and achieving the Council's aims for a site, its local area and the borough as a whole. They can enhance the quality of a development and enable proposals to go ahead that might otherwise be refused. Planning obligations will only be sought where it is not possible to deal with the matter through the imposition of a condition on a planning permission.

NOTE

²⁹ The term planning obligations is used here to refer to all legal agreements necessary to make a development acceptable in planning terms, including those for the transfer of land and work to highways.

- 19.16 The measures sought through a planning obligation will vary depending on the nature and scale of a development scheme, its location and impacts. The main matters that the Council considers are likely to be addressed through such agreements are:
 - affordable housing;
 - tackling climate change and environmental impacts;
 - transport and other infrastructure;
 - works to streets and public spaces;
 - community facilities and services, including education, health and open space;
 - training, skills and regeneration;
 - community safety.

This list is not exhaustive and development schemes can individually or cumulatively introduce a range of issues, requirements and impacts that may justify the use of planning obligations.

- 19.17 Obligations can take different forms and can involve financial contributions (including revenue and maintenance support) or the provision of certain requirements 'in kind'. In considering planning obligations, the Council will take into account economic viability, the full range of benefits provided by a development and the extent to which it contributes towards delivering the objectives of this Core Strategy and other planning policies. The Council will expect developers to provide information on viability through an "open-book" approach. The extent to which a development is publicly funded will also be taken into account and policy may be applied flexibly in such cases. Planning obligations that reduce some negative impacts of a development or otherwise contribute to the Core Strategy's objectives will not in themselves justify accepting development that conflicts with planning policy. Pooled contributions will be used when the combined impact of a number of schemes creates the need for related infrastructure or works. Additional detail on the Council's approach to planning obligations is set out in our Camden Planning Guidance supplementary planning document.
- 19.18 The government has published details of its intention to enable local authorities to set a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). This is a standard charge to be decided upon by authorities which will contribute to the costs of infrastructure arising from new development. The government intends to produce further regulations and information on how the CIL will operate but has signalled that it intends the definition of infrastructure to be covered by CIL to be as wide as possible to encompass social and environmental infrastructure such as schools and parks. Initial guidance suggests that CIL should apply to most forms of development including residential and commercial development. Negotiated planning obligations will still be possible for site specific issues and to allow for affordable housing to be delivered.
- 19.19 Providing the government takes these proposals forward, the Council will investigate the appropriateness of developing a Camden CIL and whether this represents the most appropriate way of delivering the aims of this Core Strategy. Such an approach would build upon the Council's current approach of using standard formulae to calculate contributions towards a range of issues such as providing school places. The Camden Infrastructure Study 2009 has developed a robust methodology on how to set a viable CIL should the Council chose to introduce one. If the Council chooses not to implement a CIL, the evidence can still inform the use of other mechanisms for securing contributions and support ongoing section 106 negotiations.



Cross-boundary working

19.20 The Council is working with neighbouring boroughs, the wider North London sub-region and other Central London local authorities to ensure that Camden's Core Strategy takes account of their plans and programmes as well as the spending and delivery plans of regional bodies such as Transport for London.

Central Activities Zone

- 19.21 London's Central Activities Zone (CAZ), with its unique range and concentration of uses/activities, falls within a number of boroughs, including the southern part of Camden (see Map 1 Key Diagram). The Council will continue to work with these boroughs and Central London Forward to consider matters such as planning policy, the quality of public areas and pedestrian environment, traffic management/congestion and the infrastructure requirements of the Central London.
- 19.22 Camden has worked in partnership with Central London Forward and the other Central London boroughs to assess infrastructure needs of the sub-region over the next 15-20 years. The Central London Infrastructure Study 2009 considered:
 - basic utilities infrastructure, including water and sewerage, flood defences, power and telecommunications, waste management facilities;
 - large scale transport infrastructure, such as proposals for mainline rail termini; and
 - social infrastructure, including that which is provided on a London-wide or sub-regional level such as facilities for adult learning, further education, higher education, primary and secondary health care, and emergency services.
- 19.23 The results of this assessment, including funding sources and the expected timing of infrastructure provision have been included in the key infrastructure programmes and projects identified in Appendix 1.

North London – Luton – Bedford co-ordination corridor

- 19.24 The Council will also continue to work with the North London Strategic Alliance (NLSA), Transport for London, Brent, Barnet and Harrow councils to develop a strategic approach to the management of locations with major growth potential along the London section of the London-Luton-Bedford coordination corridor. This focuses on the co-ordination of infrastructure (including transport) to support and co-ordinate the growth potential of areas such as Brent Cross, Cricklewood, West Hampstead, Mill Hill and Colindale (see Map 1 – Key Diagram).
- 19.25 It is projected that by 2026 over 133,000 additional residents will live in the four boroughs. NLSA in conjunction with the four boroughs have prepared a prospectus for the corridor which shows that this growth is supported by considerable planned increases in infrastructure capacity, such as the £5.5 billion investment in Thameslink services. The prospectus therefore identifies the main challenges and opportunities for the corridor to provide the basis for discussions with key funding partners and the private sector to deliver the investment that will be needed to provide the services required to support local communities.
- 19.26 NLSA along with the four councils are working on developing the corridor concept further, starting with more detailed work on transport infrastructure and through engaging key partners to the north of London, such as Luton and Watford councils and the East of England Development Agency. This work will help build the case for investment in transport and social infrastructure to support growth (including that set out in this Core Strategy) by providing a basis for discussions with national providers as well as Transport for London.

Co-ordinating with neighbouring boroughs

19.27 The Council also works closely with neighbouring boroughs to ensure that a consistent approach is taken in relation to growth areas and town centres which straddle borough boundaries. To this end, discussions with Westminster, in relation to the Tottenham Court Road area, and with Brent, in relation to Kilburn High Road town centre, have informed and shaped the direction taken on these locations in the Core Strategy.

- 19.28 We have prepared some of our key evidence studies for this Core Strategy in conjunction with our neighbouring authorities:
 - an Affordable Housing Viability Study has been produced jointly with the City of Westminster, reflecting shared issues in relation to affordable housing provision including high alternative use values and prevalence of mixed used schemes in Central London; and
 - the Central London Infrastructure Study (see above).
- 19.29 We are also preparing a joint Waste Plan with the six other boroughs in the North London Waste Authority (Barnet, Enfield, Hackney, Haringey, Islington and Waltham Forest). Please see policy CS18 *Dealing with our waste and encouraging recycling* for further details.

Transport projects

- 19.30 Camden is the lead authority in the Clear Zones Partnership with the City of London and City of Westminster. This aims to reduce congestion, air and noise pollution and improve the urban realm through partnership working, sustainable transport measures and the use of innovative technologies. Cross border working occurs on a number of public consultations and measures, in particular in the Covent Garden and Holborn areas.
- 19.31 We are also working with Westminster to pilot a Legible London scheme in Covent Garden and Bloomsbury to encourage people to walk more through better public information and signage. In addition, the Council is one of eight boroughs working in partnership to implement the London Cycle Hire Scheme and also works in partnership with all other London boroughs to promote innovative technologies, for example though the London Electric Vehicle Working Group and the London Hydrogen Partnership.

Farringdon/Smithfield

19.32 The Council is working with Islington, City of London, Transport for London and Urban Design London to devise a joint strategy which will help to guide how the boroughs manage change and growth in the Farringdon/Smithfield area and respond to the impact of a new Crossrail station and improvements to Thameslink services. The strategy will consider how the scale and massing of development can accommodate London Plan homes and jobs targets for the area and ensure that key public realm objectives can be met, having regard to heritage and conservation, key views, local character, social history and archaeology.





Flexible implementation of the Core Strategy

- 19.33 Our Local Development Framework documents need to be flexible enough to ensure that the Council's vision and objectives for Camden can be delivered in future years despite changing circumstances. This is particularly important for the Core Strategy, which sets out our overall approach to managing Camden's growth and meeting the borough's needs for homes, jobs, services and infrastructure.
- 19.34 The current economic situation creates a particular need for sensitive and flexible implementation. However, while our plans must be suitably flexible, it is vital that the level of flexibility does not create uncertainty or harm the overall delivery of the Core Strategy. This Core Strategy has therefore been prepared to be flexible enough to cope with a changing world, while ensuring our vision and objectives for the borough are delivered.
- 19.35 A fundamental element of the Core Strategy is to maximise housing within the borough. Our 15-year housing trajectory (see the Camden Annual Monitoring Report) suggests that the supply of housing in the borough over this period will comfortably exceed our current annual housing target unless completion rates drop significantly below expectations. This means that we can meet our housing targets even if some identified sites do not come forward for development as envisaged. Future housing provision in the borough does not depend on a small number of sites, rather a large number of sites of a variety of sizes will contribute. The redevelopment of King's Cross, which will provide the largest number of homes, as well as the largest concentration of additional office and retail floorspace, is underway.
- 19.36 In recognition of its importance and current uncertainties in the housing market, CS6 Providing quality homes includes a section setting out how the Council will incorporate flexibility into our approach to providing housing which will allow us to react to specific circumstances with a view to maximising delivery.
- 19.37 A comprehensive package of transport measures is included in the Core Strategy to support growth in jobs and homes. Physical transport infrastructure is complemented by a range of initiatives to increase walking and cycling and other public transport initiatives, such as substantial Underground line capacity improvements (see CS11 *Promoting sustainable and efficient travel* and Appendix 1 *Key infrastructure programmes and projects* items 39-56). These, coupled with existing high levels of public transport accessibility, mean that no one element of transport infrastructure is critical to the delivery of the overall strategy, and that even if any individual scheme does not come forward, sufficient provision will be made to support growth.
- 19.38 In addition, individual policies in this Core Strategy, and in Camden Development Policies, include an element of flexibility where appropriate, in particular in relation to the consideration of the viability of development schemes, the feasibility of particular measures, and site specific issues.
- 19.39 Regular monitoring will be a key tool in providing flexibility. This will measure progress in delivering the Core Strategy, and identify any aspects that are not being achieved as planned and any changing circumstances that may affect implementation. This will allow us to adjust the application of policies where appropriate and, if necessary, bring forward alternative approaches or policies. (See below for more on monitoring.)

19.40 We will also work closely with our partners in the delivery of the Core Strategy (see the section *Working with our partners* above). This will help us to identify, as early as possible, matters and situations that may effect delivery. This, in turn, will allow us to explore appropriate alternative or amended approaches to deal with emerging issues and changing circumstances to ensure the Core Strategy's successful implementation. This will include working with the Local Strategic Partnership to work towards delivering the key infrastructure programmes and projects identified in Appendix 1 and, through our Annual Monitoring Report, reviewing what is required to deal with changing circumstances, such changes to service provision.

Monitoring

- 19.41 The Council will monitor the effectiveness of the Core Strategy in delivering its objectives by regularly assessing its performance against a series of indicators. These are set out in Camden's Core Strategy Monitoring Indicators document, and include core indicators, set by the government, and local, Camden-specific indicators.
- 19.42 Each year we will publish an Annual Monitoring Report, which will:
 - assess the performance of the Core Strategy and other Local Development Framework documents by considering progress against the indicators in Camden's Core Strategy Monitoring Indicators document;
 - set out the Council's updated housing trajectory (see policy CS6);
 - identify the need to reassess or review any policies or approaches;
 - make sure the context and assumptions behind our strategy and policies are still relevant; and
 - identify trends in the wider social, economic and environmental issues facing Camden.

- Camden Infrastructure Study 2009
- Central London Infrastructure Study 2009
- Camden/Westminster Affordable Housing Viability Study 2009
- Camden Annual Monitoring Report 2007/08
- Camden Core Strategy Monitoring Indicators
- Camden Statement of Community Involvement 2009



Appendix 1

Key Infrastructure Programmes and Projects

The table below sets out the key infrastructure programmes and projects identified to support Camden's growth and development over the period of this Core Strategy (see also policy CS19 - *Delivering and monitoring the Core Strategy*).

The last column identifies the policies that a particular item of infrastructure contributes towards implementing. It should be noted that, due to the relatively small size of the borough and the tight boundaries around many of our growth areas and town centres, there is often not a direct correlation between the location of a piece of infrastructure and the population it is intended to support. Therefore, growth areas and other locations will not only be supported by infrastructure provided within those areas but by facilities provided in neighbouring locations and across the borough.

ltem no	l Infrastructure item/programme name	Project/programme description	Location/ Growth area where relevant	Delivery lead	Delivery period	Funding arrangements/comments	Relevant Core Strategy policies*
	Children and Ed	Children and Education Services					
-	Early Years	Provision of additional two year old places to meet identified need – c.125 places.	Borough wide	Voluntary/ Private Sector	2010-2026	No funding identified. LBC – Children, Schools and Families Directorate through its management of the 'marketplace' will support voluntary and private sector partners in identifying solutions.	CS10
N		Provision of additional three and four year old places to meet identified need – c.210 old places for three year olds and c.247 places for four year olds.	Borough wide	LBC – Children, Schools and Families Directorate	2010-2026	Some initial funding identified through Primary Strategy for Change and agreed Section 106 arrangements (where need is confirmed). Other sources of funding for additional necessary expansion have yet to be identified.	CS10
ო	Primary Schools	Expansion of provision (0.5 FoE expansion)	Emmanuel School - West Hampstead/ Fortune Green (North West sub- area)	LBC – Children, Schools and Families Directorate	By 2013	Primary Capital Programme (PCP), S. 106, Basic Need, and Local Authority Coordinated Voluntary Aided Programme (LCVAP)	CS3; CS10
4		New resource base for 14 children with autistic spectrum disorder (ASD) and associated improvements to Kentish Town School	Kentish Town (North West sub- area)		By September 2010	Prudential borrowing, PCP, LCVAP	CS3; CS10

ltem no	ltem Infrastructure no item/ programme name	Project/programme description	Location/ Growth area where relevant	Delivery Iead	Delivery period	Funding arrangements/comments	Relevant Core Strategy policies*
	Children and Ed	Children and Education Services					
2J	Primary Schools	Expansion of provision (1 school / 2 FoE)	King's Cross	LBC – Children, Cabaala and	2012/13 earliest	S. 106 and Camden Council capital funds	CS2; CS9; CS10
ω		Estimated provision of up to 3 to 5 additional forms of entry over the planning period. (NB. estimate will need to be kept under review to reflect various factors including impact of school expansions already planned under Primary Strategy for Change programme.)	Demand generated in various locations – further detailed investigation required closer to time	Scrools and Families Directorate	From 2011/12 to 2026	Funding not yet identified as further work needs to take place to identify how primary school infrastructure should be provided for beyond the Primary Capital Programme.	
7	Secondary Schools	Expansion of provision (one new school / 6 FoE) plus 250 place Sixth Form	Adelaide Road (UCL Academy) (North West Camden)	LBC – Children, Schools and Families	By 2014	Proposed and agreed in the BSF Outline Business Case	CS3; CS10
ω		Expansion of provision at Swiss Cottage Special School from 150 pupils to 230 pupils	Adelaide Road (Swiss Cottage Special School) (North West Camden)	Directorate			
၈		Expanded provision - 2 FoE 11-16 plus 100 new sixth form places	South Camden Community School (South sub-area)				CS2; CS3; CS4; CS9; CS10

Cocondani	Estimated provision	Boroliah wida -		c 2017_	Eunding not vist identified as	000.000
	requirement to meet demand for up to 4 additional forms of entry. (NB. estimate will need to be kept under review to reflect various factors including impact of BSF programme, linked to joint Camden / DCSF place planning analysis about need in central London area beyond 2016).	site procurement investigation required. A site on Wren Street in the Central London area has been identified as a possible school site.	Children, Schools and Families Directorate	2026	the timescales involved mean that further work needs to take place to assess the impact of the BSF programme, detailed place planning analysis beyond 2016 and the availability of Central Government funding for that period.	
	Expanded provision require to meet estimated demand for 160 additional places.	Could be provided in Camden or elsewhere in Greater London, from 2016 to 2026.	LBC/ Children Schools and Families Directorate (in liaison with neighbouring LAs).	2010-2026	Funding not yet identified. as work is being carried out with neighbouring boroughs and FE colleges to assess how to meet the demand for FE places in the future – further provision may well take place in other parts of London rather than at colleges located in Camden.	CS10
Adult Learning	Expanded provision for 271 FTE Adult learner places Local provision required for the expanding residential population	Borough wide (and within other London Boroughs)	Learning and Skills Council/ Skills Funding Agency	2011-2026	Funding not yet identified. Some provision likely to be made in existing community centres and schools.	CS10

ltem no	Infrastructure item/ programme name	Project/programme description	Location/ Growth area where relevant	Delivery lead	Delivery period	Funding arrangements/comments	Relevant Core Strategy policies*
	Healthcare services	ices					
13	Primary Health Care - GP Clinics	1 GP Clinic	South (King's Cross)	Developer/in association with PCT/NHS	2016	To be provided as part of the King's Cross Development.	CS2; CS9; CS10; CS16
4		2 GP Clinics (3 GPs)	South Camden	NHS Camden	1 clinic – 2011-2016 1 clinic – 2016 -2026	NHS Camden's Polyclinic programme will provide for existing and some of the newly arising demand for PCT services: a) Kentish Town b) (completion 2009) c) South Camden (completion 2009 – 2013) d) Royal Free Hampstead (completion 2009 – 2013) further funding and facilities	CS2; CS3; CS9; CS10; CS16
15		1 GP Clinic (3 GPs)	North East Camden		2006-2011	on the extent to which programme meets demand	
16		1 GP Clinic (3 GPs)	North West Camden		2021-2026	generated. Further discussion with NHS Camden required.	
17	Primary Health Care – Dental	Potential need for up to 3 Dentist Surgeries	South Camden	NHS Camden and	2011-2026	Funding not determined – to be kept under review, given	CS9; CS10; CS16
18	ourgeries	Potential need for up to 1 Dentist Surgery	North East Camden	sector	2011-2026	underpin demand for dentist services. and range of	CS10; CS16
19		1 Dentist Surgery	North West Camden		2011-2026	providers including both the public and private sector.	CS10; CS16

٥ O	Secondary Health Care	Demand led potential requirement for: (i) 89 acute beds (ii) 18 intermediate beds (iii) 18 intermediat	Borough wide	NHS Camden and NHS Hospital Trusts	2011-2026	Funding not yet identified due to complexity of secondary healthcare provision and likelihood that some services will be transferred to polyclinics and larger primary health care centres or reoriented to be provided in different ways. NHS Camden will have to take this and a number of other factors into account in determining whether the demand translated to new infrastructure needs.	
Ā	Adult care facilities	ties					
В й К	Maitland Park Road	Redevelopment of existing Alexandra House hostel (surplus to future requirements) into new care home, incorporating extra care sheltered housing.	N/a	LB Camden	2009-11	LB Camden To be funded through disposals of existing assets.	CS4; CS6; CS10
Š	Wellesley Road	Redevelopment of the existing Wellesley Road Care Home to provide a new care home and extra care sheltered housing, if feasible.	N/a	LB Camden	2012-13		CS4; CS6; CS10
<u>:</u> : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : : :	Charlie Ratchford Centre replacement, Crogsland Road.	Development of new resource centre with extra care sheltered accommodation provided above.	N/a	LB Camden	Not finalised	LB Camden To be funded through disposals of existing assets.	CS4; CS6; CS10
H ar Ki	King's Cross redevelopment area - Extra Care Home	Development of new extra care sheltered accommodation above multi- use building.	King's Cross	One HG	2009-11	Housing Corporation/One HG/King's Cross Central Limited Partnership	CS2; CS6; CS9; CS10

no Item	Item Infrastructure no item/ programme name	Project/programme description	Location/ Growth area where relevant	Delivery lead	Delivery period	Funding arrangements/comments	Relevant Core Strategy policies*
	Leisure & Community facilities	unity facilities					
25	Sport & Leisure – Swimming Pool	Swimming pool: 25m long, 5 lane pool, in addition to a learner pool of 15m in length.	King's Cross	LB Camden Sports	2011-2016	To be provided as part of the King's Cross Development.	CS2; CS9; CS10
26	Sports & Leisure - Sports Halls	6 Sports halls (ca.4 badminton courts per sports hall + some additional facilities)	Various locations	LB Camden (Culture and Environment Directorate)	2010-2017	Proposed in BSF Business Plan.	CS10
27		1 Sports hall (4 courts)	King's Cross	Private developers	2011-2016	To be provided as part of the King's Cross Development	CS2; CS9; CS10
28	Child Play Spaces	28 play spaces/MUGAs (out of total identified requirement for 50)	In areas currently deficient in access	Developers (via s106 /CIL) and LBC (via a DfCSF grant)	2010	28 play areas are planned for and funded.	CS10; CS15
29	Outdoor Play Spaces.	22 play spaces/MUGAs	Proximate to areas of deficiency and significant new development	Developers (via s106 / CIL) and LBC.	2011-2026	Funding not secured. Will include developer contributions (via s106 and CIL) along with any future central government funding streams which emerge.	CS10; CS15
8	Community Centres	Refurbishment and some expansion of 8 existing community centres.	Various locations	LBC and Voluntary and	By 2012	LBC and Voluntary Sector Grants/fundraising.	CS10
31	Community Centres	Additional community centre space provision is likely to be required to meet demands from increased population.	South and North West of the Borough	Sector	2012-2026.	As yet undetermined – potential provision from development (via s106 /CIL) and LBC.	CS10

0	15		CS10; CS17	CS3; CS7; CS10; CS17	CS2; CS9; CS10; CS17	CS3; CS4; CS9; CS10; CS17
CS10	CS15 evy		ਰ ਦੋ	d lan	C C C	ਰ ਹੋ
Voluntary and Community Sector (Camden's Muslim Community) – Majority of funding not yet in place.	Developer contributions through Section 106/ Community Infrastructure Levy		Identified in Metropolitan Police's Asset Management Plan (For Camden) part of which involves the modernisation and consolidation of MPA's estate and relocation of facilities if required. GLA funding.	Identified in Metropolitan Police's Asset Management Plan (For Camden) part of which involves the modernisation and consolidation of MPA's estate and relocation of facilities if required.	Part of King's Cross Development.	Identified in Metropolitan Police's Asset Management Plan (For Camden) part of which involves the modernisation and consolidation of MPA's estate and relocation of facilities if required.
Unknown	2010-2025		By 2017. Р Р	By 2017.	By 2017 P	By 2017
Voluntary & Community Sector (Camden's Muslim Community)	Developers and LB Camden		Metropolitan Police.	Metropolitan Police	Metropolitan Police	Metropolitan Police
Site yet to be identified.	Borough wide with focus on areas identified in Policy CS15		Various locations	Undetermined	King's Cross	Borough wide
1 Mosque to serve both existing need and need from new population growth which is likely to drive demand.	To provide additional and improved open space in line with the provisions set out in Policy CS 15	vices	New Safer Neighbourhood Bases – to provide accommodation for each Safer Neighbourhood team currently housed in temporary accommodation.	New Custody Centre/Patrol Base.	New Police control/IT room and public help desk.	Deliver the police 'citizen focused' approach, by locating small front office type facilities in accessible locations, including shopping frontages and main community facilities as appropriate.
Faith Facilities	Open Space	Emergency Services	Police			
32	ŝ		34	35	36	37

ltem no	ltem Infrastructure no item/ programme name	Project/programme description	Location/ Growth area where relevant	Delivery lead	Delivery period	Funding arrangements/comments	Relevant Core Strategy policies*
	Emergency Services	rices					
œ	London Fire Brigade accommodation needs	LFB do not envisage any restructuring of Camden's existing provision as a result of population growth. Fire stations will therefore remain in place at Euston; Belsize Park; Kentish Town; and West Hampstead.	Borough wide	LFEPA	2008 - Plan extends over 5 years	N/A	CS10
00 10	Ambulance	London Ambulance Services NHS Trust	Borough wide	London Ambulance Services NHS Trust	Extends over 5 years	London Ambulance Services Strategic Plan 2006/07- 2012/13 does not set out specific facility requirements for ambulance services in Camden; infrastructure needs are not clearly related to development growth.	CS10; CS16
	Strategic Transport	oort					
64	Crossrail	Crossrail is the proposed new railway link running through London (west-east) from Maidenhead and Heathrow via Paddington, Liverpool Street and Stratford to Shenfield, and via Whitechapel to Isle of Dogs (Canary Wharf), Woolwich ending at Abbey Wood.	Tottenham Court Road/Farringdon	TfL/Network Rail	By 2017	Committed scheme in TFL Business Plan. Government allocated £5billion in 2007 Comprehensive Spending Review. Remaining £11billion to be obtained from other sources, including private investment. Crossrail Bill received Royal Assent July 2008. Mayor's Crossrail Levy.	CS2; CS9; CS11

	Crossrail (continued)					Developer contributions from new developments through the Crossrail Levy as defined in the London Plan and Supplementary Planning Guidance: Use of planning obligations in the funding of Crossrail.	
41	First Capital Connect (formerly Thameslink)	New track, platforms (new and extended), and signalling are being built, resulting in new direct services. To provide additional capacity (increase capacity by 90% with expected completion by 2015)	King's Cross - St Pancras, Camden Road, Kentish Town, West Hampstead	Network Rail	2011-2015	Under construction Government approved funding for £5.5 billion in 2007 Track and Station upgrades to 12 car operation and 24 trains per hour in central section.	CS2; CS3; CS9; CS11
42	East Coast Mainline	To provide additional capacity Additional 12 car services on outer suburban commuter services. New station concourse at King's Cross station.	King's Cross	Network Rail	by 2014	Committed Network Rail Scheme.	CS2; CS9; CS11
43	CTRL Domestic Services	To provide high speed rail link. High speed trains on selected routes from Kent & Medway	King's Cross - St Pancras	Network Rail	2009	Completed	CS2; CS9; CS11

ltem no	ltem Infrastructure no item/ programme name	Project/programme description	Location/ Growth area where relevant	Delivery lead	Delivery period	Funding arrangements/comments	Relevant Core Strategy policies*
	Strategic Transport	ort					
4	London Underground capacity improvements	 Improvements in signalling, new train stock and higher frequency services to improve overall system capacity. Jubilee line (25% capacity increase) Victoria Line (19% capacity increase) Northern Line (20% capacity increase) Piccadilly Line (25% capacity increase) Piccadilly Line (25% capacity increase) Metropolitan Line (49% capacity increase) Circle & Hammersmith and City Lines (49% capacity increase) 	Boroughwide	Ę	2009-2022	Committed schemes in TFL Business Plan.	CS2; CS3; CS9; CS11
45	London Overground station capacity improvements	 Improve reliability and 50% more capacity overall Refurbishment works, renewal of all systems and equipment (covering at least 90% of all publicly accessible space in the stations) 	West Hampstead Finchley Road/ Swiss Cottage Hampstead Kilburn High Road Kentish Town Road Camden Town	ΤfL	2009-2018	Committed scheme Funding available from London Over-ground funding to 2018	CS2; CS3; CS11

CS2; CS9; CS11	CS2; CS9; CS11
Committed scheme. Funding allocated in the London Underground Investment Programme to 2010.	Committed scheme. Funding allocated in the London Underground Investment Programme to 2010.
2010-2017	2008-2010
ΤŤ	1 ¹
Tottenham Court Road.	King's Cross
Enlargement of the Tottenham Court Road Underground Station ticket hall. Implementation of the proposed Crossrail 1 scheme and capacity for the Crossrail 2 schemes which is planned to intersect with Crossrail 1 at a new Tottenham Court Road Station. The new station is likely to be constructed immediately to the south of the underground station to which it will be linked.	The redevelopment of King's Cross St. Pancras Tube station to provide a modern station with additional capacity and improved facilities, including: • Increased capacity to meet passenger demand and ease congestion. • Step free access to all platforms. • Three new ticketing offices and automated ticketing facilities. • Seamless interchange between the underground lines and direct access to the high speed international rail link at St. Pancras and the new concourse at King's Cross mainline station.
Tottenham Court Road Station	King's Cross Station. Pancras Station.
46	47

ltem no	ltem Infrastructure no item/ programme name	Project/programme description	Location/ Growth area where relevant	Delivery lead	Delivery period	Funding arrangements/comments	Relevant Core Strategy policies*
	Strategic Transport	oort					
48	Camden Town Station	Identified need for capacity, safety and access improvements.	Camden Town	TfL	2018-2021	Transport for London – funding not yet identified. to be kept under review as part of future TFL business planning.	CS3; CS11
49	Euston Station	New rail and underground station/station improvements. Improved interchange/access and capacity. Planning brief adopted by LB Camden in 2008.	Euston	Transport for London/Net work Rail.	2008-2016.	Network Rail/TFL. Funding from development opportunities on the site.	CS2; CS9; CS11
20	West Hampstead Interchange	West Hampstead is potentially a major interchange in northwest Camden with three stations providing five railway services – all within 200 metres of each other. Investment is needed to improve the existing stations and improve the connections at street level between the stations. Provision of an integrated interchange with associated development also remains an aspiration.	West Hampstead.	Transport for London/ Silverlink Metro/ Chiltern Railways.	2016-2025	LB Camden funding in place for street level public realm improvements. No funding/scheme design have been identified for more ambitious interchange proposals.	CS2; CS3; CS11

51 Ot							
s <u>a</u> st	Other rail and underground station improvement schemes	Station congestion improvement schemes; improved interchange and accessibility (including step free access).	Holborn; Camden Rd; Hampstead Heath; Gospel Oak; Warren Street.	TfL	2016-2026	Subject to scheme design and funding not yet identified. TFL liaising with LBC in relation to ongoing business planning exercise for these schemes. Decision in relation to Gospel Oak scheme expected 2011/12.	CS2; CS3; CS9; CS11
52 Bu	Bus	Bus Service Enhancement – Bus Priority Lanes; Bus Stop Accessibility; Bus Service Enhancement;	New services to King's Cross; Borough wide.	TFL	2010-2026	TFL Business Plan. Some priorities not yet funded – e.g. proposals to replace Cross River Tram with enhanced bus services or similar have not yet emerged from TFL.	CS2; CS11
53 Ro	Road Network	Road Links and Junction Improvements To improve traffic flows and reduce severance effect of roads, including introduction of two-way traffic along parts of Tottenham Court Road/ Grafton Way. Principal Road renewal to improve road conditions. Local Road Safety Schemes	Boroughwide	TfL/Camden	2015-2026	TFL Business Plan/Camden LIP	CS7; CS11
54 Cy Sc	Cycle Hire Scheme	71 Cycle hire stations	Central London.	TfL	By 2011	TFL Business Plan.	CS2; CS3; CS9; CS11
55 Cy Cy	Cycle Parking/Secure Cycle Stations	Cycle Parking – To increase and improve cycle facilities	Borough wide	Camden	2010-2026	Funding not yet in place – Developer contributions will form an important source of funding.	CS11

ltem no	ltem Infrastructure no item/ programme name	Project/programme description	Location/ Growth area where relevant	Delivery Iead	Delivery period	Funding arrangements/comments	Relevant Core Strategy policies*
	Strategic Transport	oort					
20	Public Realm improvements.	Improvements to public realm at to facilitate pedestrian movement and connectivity.	Borough wide – initial focus on Camden Town and Bloomsbury. Other schemes to include: Euston Road crossings. Improved crossings. Improved crossings include: Euston and King's Cross. St Giles Circus. Kilburn High Road. Chalk Farm.	TfL/Network Rail/Camden	2010-2026	LB Camden/TFL/Developer Contributions.	CS2; CS3; CS7; CS9; CS11; CS14 CS14
57	Legible London	Through signage, improve legibility and accessibility for pedestrians and encourage people to walk. Scheme to be rolled out throughout the Borough in appropriate locations within the Plan period	Central London, Camden Town and West Hampstead.	TfL	Central London: rolled out by 2012 Rest of borough: 2012-2026	TFL/Developer contributions.	CS2; CS3; CS7; CS9; CS11; CS14 CS14

	ies and Phy	Utilities and Physical Infrastructure		-			
Electricity Development of new deep tunnel through the south of Camden	t of nnel south	National Grid's transmission network cross the borough from St John's Wood substation to City Road Substation, from St John's Wood Substation to Tottenham Substation and from St John's Wood to Mill Hill. National Grid is in discussions with LB Camden regarding future infrastructure improvements, including, potentially, a new grid supply point.	South of Camden, with a new vent located at St Pancras.	National Grid	Currently unknown	Identified by National Grid as part of current investment programme.	CS2; CS3
Electricity		Estimated provision of additional 77,152 KVA to 2026 and related local and strategic infrastructure. LBC unable to verify whether electricity providers have existing capacity/plans in place to provide required electricity. Based on limited information available required infrastructure is likely to include new primary and secondary substations.	Borough wide	ЕD	Unknown.	Unknown – the current rules set by the industry regulator OFGEM encourage reactive management for responding to demand for electricity. Requirements likely to be charged to developers.	CS2; CS3; CS7; CS9; CS11; CS14 CS14

no ltem	ltem Infrastructure no item/ programme name	Project/programme description	Location/ Growth area where relevant	Delivery lead	Delivery period	Funding arrangements/comments	Relevant Core Strategy policies*
	Utilities and Phys	Utilities and Physical Infrastructure					
09	Gas	Provision of additional 14,273 m3/hr and related local infrastructure. LBC unable to verify whether electricity providers have existing capacity/plans in place to provide required electricity. Based on limited information available, infrastructure is likely to limited to extension of mains to new developments and on-site works.	Borough wide	National Grid	Unknown	Unknown – the current rules set by the industry regulator OFGEM encourage reactive management for responding to demand for gas. Requirements likely to be charged to developers.	
61	Water and wastewater infrastructure in the Opportunity Areas and Areas of Intensification	Local infrastructure improvements are likely to be required for the Opportunity Areas and Areas of Intensification, specifically King's Cross and Euston. Additional water supply of 9,931,350 l/day likely to be required by 2026. Thames Water propose a range of measures: • education and metering to reduce consumption; • Victorian Mains Replacement of 400km per year of water mains from 2010 to 2015;	Borough wide	Thames Water	Unknown.	Unknown.	CS2; CS13, CS19

Borough wide.	CS13
ay Water provide arter for hould be arch arch es tion to of supply of supply inte es from age, the quired. on armes are in area from area from area from area from area from area from area from area from area from area from area from area from area from area from area from area from area from area from from from from from from from from	Developer contributions
ay Water ary Water provide aret for hould be arch es of supply of supply for es of arch es of arch age, the on area of arch area of arch arch arch arch arch arch arch arch	2010-2026.
ay Water provide rater for hould be arch es of supply of supply of supply of supply age, the age, the d quired. on sal with erflows r er	LBC/ Developers
The Thames Gateway Water Treatment Plant will provide additional potable water for London. The plant should be completed by 31 March 2010.; The proposed Upper Thames Reservoir in Oxfordshire is Thames Water's preferred option to maintain a security of supply in London and in its Swindon & Oxfordshire Water Resource Zones from 2026 onwards. In London and in its Swindon & Oxfordshire Water Resource Zones from 2026 onwards. In London and in its Swindon & Oxfordshire water secures are quired: Local infrastructure improvements in growth areas to cope with increased sewerage/waste water. New and refurbished pumping stations required. The proposed London Tideway Tunnels (Thames Tunnel and Lee Tunnel), each of which will deal with combined sewer overflows that discharge storm sewage into the River Thames and Lee.	Borough wide. Problem hotspots mainly in North West of Borough.
• • <u>6</u> <u>6</u> <u>6</u> .	Implementation of Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDs) and promotion of flood resistant architecture and on- site retention features.
Water and wastewater infrastructure in the Opportunity Areas and Areas of Intensification (continued) 62 Flood risk	



UDP saved policies replaced

UDP Policy	Policy Name	Policies superseded by Camden Core Strategy	Policies superseded by Camden Development Policies
Sustainable	e Development		
SD1	Quality of life	CS15, CS16, CS17	DP29
SD2	Planning obligations	CS19	
SD3	Mixed Use Development		DP1
SD5	Location of Development with Significant Travel Demand	CS1	
SD6	Amenity for Occupiers and Neighbours	CS1, CS5	DP26
SD7	Light, Noise and Vibration Pollution		DP26, DP28
SD8	Disturbance		DP26, DP28
SD9	Resources and Energy	CS13, CS16	DP22, DP23 DP32
SD11	Waste Management Facilities	CS18	
SD12	Development and Construction Waste	CS18	
SD13	Aggregate facilities	Policy not replaced	
Strategic P	olicies		
S4	Housing	CS6	
S14	Economic activities	CS8 and CS9	
SKC1	King's Cross Opportunity Area	CS2	
SKC2	King's Cross Opportunity Area	CS2	
SKC3	King's Cross Opportunity Area	CS2	
SKC4	King's Cross Opportunity Area	CS14	
SRC1	Regent's Canal	CS15	
Housing			
H1	New Housing	CS6	DP2
H2	Affordable Housing	CS6	DP3
НЗ	Protecting Existing Housing	CS6	DP2
H4	Protecting Affordable Housing	CS6	DP4
H5	Conversion to Short Stay Accommodation		DP2
H6	Protection of Housing in Multiple Occupation		DP9
H7	Lifetime Homes and Wheelchair Housing	CS6	DP6
H8	Mix of Units	CS6	DP5
H9	Hostels		DP8
H10	Accommodation Providing an Element of Care		DP7 DP8
H11	Gypsies and Travellers	CS12	

UDP Policy	Policy Name	Policies superseded by Camden Core Strategy	Policies superseded by Camden Development Policies
Built Enviro	nment		
B1	General Design Principles	CS14	DP24
B3	Alterations and Extensions		DP24
B4	Shopfronts, Advertisements and Signs		DP30
B6	Listed Buildings	CS14	DP25
B7	Conservation Areas	CS14	DP25
B8	Archaeological Sites and Monuments	CS14	DP25
Natural Env	ironment		
N1	Metropolitan Open Land	CS15	
N2	Protecting Open Space	CS15	DP31
N3	Protecting Open Space Designations	CS15	
N4	Providing Public Open Space	CS15	
N5	Biodiversity	CS15	
N6	Nature Conservation Sites	CS15	
N7	Protecting Species and their Habitats	CS15	
N8	Ancient Woodlands and Trees	CS15	
Transport			
T1	Sustainable Transport Space	CS11	DP17
T2	Capacity of Transport Provision		DP16
Т3	Pedestrian and Cycling	CS11	DP17
Т4	Public Transport		DP17
Т5	Transport Interchanges		DP17
Τ7	Off-street parking, city car clubs and city bike schemes	CS11	
Т8	Car-free housing and car capped housing	CS11	DP18 DP19
Т9	Impact of Parking		DP19
T10	Public Off-Street and Contract Parking		DP19
T12	Works Affecting Highways		DP21
T13	Adoption of Highways and Other Access Routes		DP21
T16	Movement of goods	CS11	DP16

UDP Policy	Policy Name	Policies superseded by Camden Core Strategy	Policies superseded by Camden Development Policies
Town Cent	res, Retail and Entertainment		
R1	Location of New Retail and Entertainment Uses	CS7	DP12
R2	General Impact of Retail and Entertainment Uses	CS7	
R3	Assessment of Food and Drink uses and Licensed Entertainment		DP12
R4	Markets	CS7	DP11
R6	Other Town Centre Uses		DP12
R7	Protection of Shopping Frontages and Local Shops		DP30
R8	Upper Floors and Shopfronts		DP30
Economic	Activity		
E1	Location of Business Uses	CS8	
E2	Retention of Existing Business Uses	CS8	DP13
E3	Specific Business Uses and Areas	CS8	
E4	Live/work Units		DP13
Community	y Leisure and Tourism		
C1	New Community Uses	CS10	DP15
C2	Protecting Community Uses	CS10	
C3	New Leisure Uses		DP15
C4	Protecting Existing Provision	CS10	DP15
C5	Tourism Uses	CS8	DP14

UDP Policy	Policy Name	Policies superseded by Camden Core Strategy	Policies superseded by Camden Development Policies
King's Cros	ss Opportunity Area		
KC1	Mixed use development	CS1	
KC2	Prioritisation	CS1	DP1
KC3	Economic activities	CS8	
KC4	Housing	CS6	
KC5	Transport	CS11	
KC6	Transport accessibility and safety	CS11	
KC7	Parking		DP18 DP19
KC9	Design of transport services and features	CS14	
KC12	Integration, regeneration and community development	CS5 CS10	
Regent's ca	anal		
RC1	Character and vitality of Regent's Canal	CS5 CS15	
RC2	Building use along Regent's Canal	CS8 CS15	
RC3	Permanent mooring of boats	Policy not replaced	
Land use p	roposals		l
LU1	Schedule of land use proposals	This policy will be replaced Allocations Local Develop document.	-
Transport p	proposals		
TP1	Schedule of transport proposals	Appendix 1. Key Infrastructure Programmes and Projects	



If you would like this document in large print or Braille, or in another language, please contact 020 7974 5615

Find out more about this document and the LDF by visiting camden.gov.uk/ldf or by calling the LDF hotline 020 7974 5615/2043.

Forward Planning London Borough of Camden Town Hall Extension Argyle Street London WC1H 8EQ

Published November 2010. Camden's Local Development Framework. Core Strategy 2010.

